10.

HEICRITS

—~———— Come Grow With Us!

CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO
City Council Meeting
Regular Session
August 28, 2023
6:00 P.M.
City Hall - Council Chambers - 6131 Taylorsville Road - Huber Heights, Ohio

Call The Meeting To Order - Mayor Jeff Gore

Invocation - Pastor Vanetta Bellows Of The Wright-Patterson Air Force Base Chapel

Pledge Of Allegiance

Roll Call

Approval Of Minutes

. City Council Meeting Minutes - August 21, 2023

Special Presentations/Announcements

Citizens Comments

Citizens Registered To Speak On Agenda Items

City Manager Report

Pending Business



11.

. An Ordinance To Approve Vacating Thorngate Drive, North Of Waynegate Road, To

Transfer The Remnants Of The Public Right Of Way To The Adjacent Property Owners,
And To Accept The Recommendation Of The Planning Commission (Case RP 23-18).
(second reading)

New Business

CITY COUNCIL
Anthony Rodgers, Clerk Of Council

. A Motion To Appoint Stella Hyre To The Arts And Beautification Commission For A Term

Ending June 30, 2025.

. A Public Hearing Scheduled For August 28, 2023 By The Huber Heights City Council For

Case TA 23-14A To Amend Part Eleven - Planning And Zoning Code, Chapter 1181 -
General Provisions, Section 1181.20 - Building Materials For Dwellings Of The City Code
Of Huber Heights.

ADMINISTRATION
Bryan Chodkowski, Interim City Manager

. An Ordinance Amending Certain Sections Of Part Eleven, Planning And Zoning Code,

Of The City Code Of Huber Heights (Case TA 23-14A).
(first reading)

. A Resolution Approving The Collective Bargaining Agreement With The Fraternal Order

Of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. Representing Sergeants In The Police Division For
The Time Period January 1, 2023 Through December 31, 2025.
(first reading)

. A Resolution Approving The Collective Bargaining Agreement With The Fraternal Order

Of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. Representing Lieutenants In The Police Division For
The Time Period January 1, 2023 Through December 31, 2025.
(first reading)

An Ordinance To Approve An Economic Development Plan And To State That The City
May Hereafter Proceed With Approval Of A Tax Increment Financing Incentive District.
(first reading)

. A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Enter Into A Community Reinvestment

Area Agreement With Simms The Gables Of HH, Ltd. Under Certain Terms And
Conditions.
(first reading)



12.

13.

14.

. An Ordinance Approving Individual Assessments Amounts And Directing The Director Of

Finance Or His/Her Designee To Certify The Amounts To The Applicable County Auditor
For Collection, And Declaring An Emergency.
(first reading)

An Ordinance Providing For The Issuance And Sale Of Notes In The Maximum Principal
Amount Of $1,662,000 In Anticipation Of The Issuance Of Bonds, For The Purpose Of
Paying The Costs Of Acquiring Approximately 51 Acres Of Real Property Near The
Intersection Of Brandt Pike And Executive Boulevard And Providing For The Site
Preparation Thereof, All In Support Of Economic Development And Job Creation Within
The City.

(first reading)

City Official Reports And Comments

Executive Session

Adjournment



Al-9449 Minutes
City Council Meeting

Meeting Date: 08/28/2023
Approval Of Minutes - 08/21/2023

Submitted By: Anthony Rodgers
Department: City Council

Council Committee Review?: None
Date(s) of Committee Review: N/A
Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/ N/A
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title
City Council Meeting Minutes - August 21, 2023

Purpose and Background
Approval of the minutes from the August 21, 2023 City Council Meeting.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A

Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:
There are no financial implications to this agenda item.

Attachments
Minutes




Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers August 21, 2023
6131 Taylorsville Road

Call The Meeting To Order - Mayor Jeff Gore

The Huber Heights City Council met in a Regular Session on August 21, 2023.
Mayor Jeff Gore called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.

Pledge Of Allegiance

Roll Call

Present: Richard Shaw, Kathleen Baker, Mark Campbell, Nancy Byrge, Glenn Otto,
Ed Lyons, Anita Kitchen, Don Webb, Jeff Gore

Approval Of Minutes

City Council Meeting Minutes - July 24, 2023

The minutes for the August 21, 2023 City Council Meeting were approved by the
Huber Heights City Council as submitted.

Special Presentations/Announcements

There were no Special Presentations or Announcements.

Citizens Comments

There were no Citizens Comments.

Citizens Registered To Speak On Agenda Items

There were no citizens registered to speak on agenda items.

City Manager Report

Interim City Manager Bryan Chodkowski said he and City Planner Aaron Sorrell
met with representatives of LWC regarding the future City Governance and Senior
Center. He said City Staff hope to have a final siting layout and elevation drawing
to show Council in another three weeks. He said City Staff released the Request
For Proposals (RFP) for the property the City acquired at the intersection of
Carriage Trails and Brandt Pike which is approximately 25 acres. He said the RFP
is open from now until September 13, 2023. He said City Staff continue to work
on the Carriage Trails Boulevard and Brandt Pike traffic signal issue. He said the
City now needs an updated legal description for the land that would become the
new right-of-way for the intersection, and City Staff have begun drafting that
language to keep the process moving forward. He said the next step would be to
meet with the affected property owners. He said this week, City Staff will be
finishing up interviews for the Parks Manger position. He said the exterior of the
Huber Heights Community Center has been painted, new basketball court surfaces
have been laid down; and the painting of those surfaces will happen in a few
weeks. He said regarding the inside of the Community Center, the contractor will
begin staging within the building later in September, 2023 with renovations to



Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers August 21, 2023
6131 Taylorsville Road

begin in October, 2023. He said final siting for the new Public Works Division
building is complete, and that project will go to bid later in September, 2023.

Pending Business

An Ordinance Approving Individual Assessments Amounts And Directing The
Director Of Finance Or His/Her Designee To Certify The Amounts To The
Applicable County Auditor For Collection, And Declaring An Emergency.
(second reading)

Mr. Chodkowski said this item is recurring legislation and empowers the City to
assess for outstanding fees associated with property maintenance and various other
functions of the government that are levied on behalf of property owners to be
placed on the tax roll.

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this
item.

Mr. Otto moved to adopt; Mrs. Byrge seconded the motion. On a call of the vote,
Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mrs. Byrge, Mr. Otto, Mr. Lyons, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr.
Webb, and Mr. Shaw voted yea; none voted nay. The motion passes 8-0.

New Business

ADMINISTRATION
Bryan Chodkowski, Interim City Manager

A Resolution Providing For Title Sponsorship Of The Big Hoopla’s Hometown
Heroes Military Appreciation Night At The Rose Music Center.
(first reading)

Mr. Chodkowski said this year the City will be hosting the Dayton Development
Coalition's (DDC) Military Appreciation Night at the Rose Music Center. He
asked that Council consider providing for a Title Sponsorship so that as the
owners and operators of that facility, the City would be able to provide military
members of the community and the Miami Valley with tickets to this event to
come and enjoy the facility. He said it was the Council Work Session
recommendation that this item be adopted.

Ms. Baker moved to adopt; Mrs. Kitchen seconded the motion. On a call of the
vote, Mr. Campbell, Mrs. Byrge, Mr. Otto, Mr. Lyons, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb,
Mr. Shaw, and Ms. Baker voted yea; none voted nay. The motion passes 8-0.

An Ordinance To Approve Vacating Thorngate Drive, North Of Waynegate Road,
To Transfer The Remnants Of The Public Right Of Way To The Adjacent Property
Owners, And To Accept The Recommendation Of The Planning Commission (Case
RP 23-18).

(first reading)

Mr. Chodkowski said this item would vacate a stub of Thorngate Drive which was
intended to be extended, but never was and through the course of time turned into
a large, open stormwater collection location. He asked that Council adopt this
item as was the recommendation at the Council Work Session.

Mr. Rodgers said the recommendation was to pass this item to a second reading.
He said if Council wanted to approve this item tonight, the second reading could

be waived.

Mr. Chodkowski apologized for misreading the recommendation.



Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers August 21, 2023
6131 Taylorsville Road

Mr. Webb asked if there was any hurry on this item.
Mr. Chodkowski replied there is not.

Mayor Gore said this item will be passed to a second reading.

A Resolution Authorizing The Execution Of A Development Agreement With
Metro Rose, LLC.
(first reading)

Mr. Chodkowski said this legislation gives approval of a development agreement
between the City and Metro Rose, LLC. He said the project includes 300 market
rate apartments across the street from the Rose Music Center and also includes a
four acre parcel for a restaurant/pub development. He said the City is actively
marketing that parcel and there is a pending proposal on that item now.

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this
item.

Mrs. Byrge moved to adopt; Mr. Webb seconded the motion.

Mr. Campbell said he would like to discuss Metro Rose, LLC as it related to any
other items Council had talked about and agreed to. He said Council discussed
signage at Dial Park, and he asked Mr. Shaw to confirm that he had hoped that the
signage would have been completed before the passage of this legislation.

Mr. Shaw confirmed that signage was discussed back in March, 2023 and in
several conversations since then.

Mr. Campbell asked for an update on the signage at Dial Park.

Mr. Chodkowski said the sign had been ordered and delivered. He said he reported
at a previous City Council Meeting that he personally went out and marked the
location for that sign to be placed at Dial Park. He said the sign company was
called to have the sign installed, and that is the last information he had. He said
Fast Signs is the vendor that is installing the sign. He said Fast Signs is the same
company the City has ordered all of the park signs from in the past.

Mr. Campbell confirmed with Mr. Shaw that the agreement was to have that
signage in place before the passage of this legislation along with a few other items
discussed by Mr. Campbell, Mrs. Kitchen, and Mr. Shaw.

Mr. Shaw requested this item be passed to an additional reading or voted on
tonight as he was good either way. He said he expects that the negotiation and
compromise items will get taken care of.

Mr. Chodkowski said he would follow up with the Public Works Manager who is
coordinating that signage. He said City Staff continue to advance the items that
were asked to be advanced. He said some timetables are not as quick as City Staff
would like them to be, and several items that he reported on in the City Manager's
Report were also part of that list. He said City Staff are very conscientious and
thoughtful of the conversation that happened in April, 2023 and will continue to
try to advance the items as best as possible.

Mr. Otto said he appreciated Mr. Campbell bringing that issue up, but a park is
more than just a sign and he thinks the agreement was for a lot more than just a
sign. He said he had seen no movement on that park, and he gets razzed by Mr.
Shaw all the time, asking if he had seen the new stuff at Dial Park. He said he
personally expects more than a sign.

On a call of the vote, Mrs. Byrge, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, and Mr.
Campbell voted yea; Mr. Otto, Mr. Lyons, and Mr. Shaw voted nay. The motion
passes 5-3.



Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers August 21, 2023
6131 Taylorsville Road

A Resolution Authorizing An Amendment To A Lease For CR Dayton Unit #9
Addressed As 6061 Brandt Pike.
(first reading)

Mr. Chodkowski said this legislation authorizes an amendment to an existing lease
for Posh Salon at the CR Dayton property and allows City Staff to enter into
discussions with the owner to relocate the business from the north building, which
is scheduled to be razed, to the south building. He said this item is one of the
components necessary to complete the task of renovating the south building and
razing the north building.

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this
item.

Mr. Webb moved to adopt; Ms. Baker seconded the motion.

Mr. Webb asked Mr. Chodkowski, what is the timeline for the movement of the
tenant?

Mr. Chodkowski said City Staff had a conference call on Friday morning about the
status of what to do and how to go about doing it. He said the hangup is being able
to execute the amendment, and once the amendment is executed, City Staff can sit
down with the owner and talk about the various components of what the relocation
and new space would look like. He said the business is moving from a larger space
to a smaller space, so concessions need to be made with regard to the initial lease.
He said City Staff are not authorized to have those discussions because this
legislation has not been passed. He said permitting is in process with Montgomery
County, and the contractor is beginning to order supplies and products needed to
begin work onsite the first week of September, 2023.

On a call of the vote, Mr. Otto, Mr. Lyons, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker,
Mr. Campbell, and Mrs. Byrge voted yea; Mr. Shaw voted nay. The motion
passes 7-1.

A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Solicit, Advertise, And Receive
Bids From Qualified Firms For The Construction Of The Fishburg Road
Improvement Project.

(first reading)

Mr. Chodkowski said this legislation is to widen the south side of Fishburg Road
between Tomberg Street and Old Troy Pike. He said it is the last remaining
section to be widened. He asked Council to authorize the legislation so that City
Staff may proceed with the project in a timely manner as it is funded through Issue
II grant funds.

Mrs. Byrge moved to adopt; Ms. Baker seconded the motion. On a call of the
vote, Mr. Lyons, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Mr. Shaw, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell,
Mrs. Byrge, and Mr. Otto voted yea; none voted nay. The motion passes 8-0.

A Resolution Declaring The Necessity Of Repairing Sidewalks, Curbs, Gutters,
Driveway Approaches And Appurtenances Thereto On Portions Or All Of Certain
Streets In The 2024 Sidewalk Program, Providing That Abutting Owners Repair The
Same.

(first reading)



Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers August 21, 2023
6131 Taylorsville Road

Mr. Chodkowski said this item is recurring legislation in support of the 2024
Sidewalk Program. He asked that this item be adopted so that the program can be
completed on schedule.

Mayor Gore said the Council Work Session recommendation was to adopt this
item.

Mr. Otto moved to adopt; Ms. Baker seconded the motion.

Mrs. Kitchen asked for a copy of the letter that went out to residents. She said she
remembers when her sidewalk was replaced, the letter gave such a short
timeframe to try to find another contractor to do the replacement work.

Mr. Chodkowski said a portion of the season is during the winter months when a
resident may not be able to get contractors to respond in a timely manner before
the City initiates the process. He said he will have a conversation with the City
Engineer and confirm what the notice letters are, the requirements, as well as what
the advanced timelines are, to be sure the City is being as thoughtful and as
mindful of the timelines for both City Staff and citizens, so in the future, City Staff
can make sure all of those concerns were thought of in giving the residents the best
option on how to address this matter.

Mr. Webb confirmed that four months is the notification that is given. He asked
Mrs. Kitchen to comment.

Mrs. Kitchen said when she received her notification, it was September and she
was not going to be able to find a contractor in time based on the City's deadlines.

Mr. Chodkowski said he recognizes that if you are a resident who only has one or
two panels to be replaced, that may not be enough to entice a contractor to come
out and perform that work, and finding a bidder to respond may be more difficult.
He said he will talk with the City Engineer and look at those timelines and report
back on whether what City Staff are doing is the best way or if there is a better
way to do it.

On a call of the vote, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Mr. Shaw, Ms. Baker, Mr.
Campbell, Mrs. Byrge, Mr. Otto, and Mr. Lyons voted yea; none voted nay. The
motion passes 8-0.

A Resolution Amending Resolution No. 2021-R-7055 To Increase The Not To
Exceed Amount For The Design Of The East Sanitary Sewer Extension Project.
(first reading)

Mr. Chodkowski said this measure is being asked for to provide additional funds
for the engineering of pump stations associated with this project to make sure that
they are appropriately designed to carry the necessary capacity and flow of this
project. He said it was the recommendation that this item be adopted.

Ms. Baker moved to adopt; Mr. Webb seconded the motion. On a call of the vote,
Mr. Webb, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, and Mrs. Byrge voted yea; Mr. Shaw, Mr.
Otto, Mr. Lyons, and Mrs. Kitchen voted nay. Mayor Gore voted yea, breaking
the tie vote. The motion passes 5-4.

A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Enter Into A Contract For The
Design Of The Powell Road S Curve Realignment Project And Waiving The
Competitive Bidding Requirements.

(first reading)



Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers August 21, 2023
6131 Taylorsville Road

Mr. Chodkowski said this legislation allows City Staff to enter into a design
contract for the S curve realignment on Powell Road. He said this project has
future grant funding abilities, and he asked Council to adopt this measure so that
the City is in a place to apply for the grant funds in the future.

Mrs. Byrge moved to adopt; Mr. Otto seconded the motion.

Mrs. Kitchen asked if competitive bidding has to be waived in order to get this
funding?

Mr. Chodkowski said this measure is about being able to have the material
available at the time of the grant cycle. He said it is not that City Staff is choosing
to waive,because they do not want to, but it is that the City is under timelines and
time constraints. He said if this project is bid, and the City misses the cycle this
time around, then the City will miss the application cycle this time around.

On a call of the vote, Mr. Shaw, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mrs. Byrge, Mr. Otto,
Mr. Lyons, and Mr. Webb voted yea; Mrs. Kitchen voted nay. The motion passes
7-1.

A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Award A Bid For Services Related
To The Replacement And Repair Of City Property Located At Thomas Cloud Park
At Shelter #1 Located At 4707 Brandt Pike For The City Of Huber Heights Parks
And Recreation Division.

(first reading)

Mr. Chodkowski said this legislation is to authorize the City to move forward with
the replacement of the Shelter #1 roof at Thomas Cloud Park. he said it was the
recommendation that this item be adopted.

Mr. Shaw moved to adopt; Ms. Baker seconded the motion.

Mr. Otto said he noticed on the proposal for Maxim that page one listed a total
price, with labor and materials, of $35,350, which falls into the $39,000 that
Council is looking to approve tonight. He said in the notes it mentions prevailing
wages are excluded. He asked if this project needed to include prevailing wages
for the project and, if so, would it increase the total?

Mr. Chodkowski said that the project does not meet the threshold for prevailing
wages.

Mrs. Byrge asked what is the threshold for prevailing wages?

Mr. Chodkowski said it depends on the particular measure. He said he will look
up the statute and follow up with Mrs. Byrge tomorrow.

On a call of the vote, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mrs. Byrge, Mr. Otto, Mr. Lyons,
Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, and Mr. Shaw voted yea; none voted nay. The motion
passes 8-0.

A Resolution Amending The Contract Between The City Of Huber Heights And
Total Tennis, Inc. For Services Related To Providing For The Repair And
Refurbishment Of The City’s Pickleball Courts.

(first reading)

Mr. Chodkowski said this item provides for an amendment to the current project
with Total Tennis, Inc. to allow for the additional four feet to make the entire
playing area compliant with the Pickleball Association rules and regulations rather
than just the metrics of the court itself. He said it was the recommendation at the
Council Work Session that this item be adopted.

Mr. Shaw moved to adopt; Ms. Baker seconded the motion.



Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers August 21, 2023
6131 Taylorsville Road

Mr. Otto said he hopes it will be soon that residents can see the pickleball courts
ready to host tournaments and bring lots of people in to play on the courts.

On a call of the vote, Mr. Campbell, Mrs. Byrge, Mr. Otto, Mr. Lyons, Mrs.
Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Mr. Shaw, and Ms. Baker voted yea; none voted nay. The
motion passes 8-0.

City Official Reports And Comments

Mr. Lyons asked regarding the Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) contracts, if the
adjustment had been added to all the unions and employees in the City?

Mr. Chodkowski said City Staff had not moved forward with any particular
measures because the conciliator's report is not back, and it is due this week. He
said because the City and the FOP agreed to proceed with conciliation with both
parties filing the fact finder's report as the last best offer, by statute the conciliator
needs to write and submit a report. He said that report becomes the contract and
there is no vote by the City Council, there is no ratification by the union, and it
becomes the contract. He said, based on the conciliation hearing earlier in the
month, the conciliator committed to have the report to City Staff this week. He
said once the report is received, that becomes the contract, and City Staff will be
able to move forward with the Sergeants' and Lieutenants' contracts which are
derivatives of the Patrol Officers' contract as a percentage of wages. He said that
is a matter that will be discussed with Council tomorrow at the Council Work
Session as it has been reviewed previously with Council in Executive Session at
the last Council Work Session.

Mr. Lyons asked Mr. Montgomery if he was following that conversation.

Mr. Montgomery said he was following along. He said to refresh everyone's
memory, the City has separate labor counsel outside of his firm, so he is on the
fringes of this issue so to speak. He said he understood everything Mr.
Chodkowski said and concurs with everything he said.

Mrs. Kitchen thanked the City of Huber Heights Schools. She said she went to the
convocation last week and received a warm welcome, and she is so glad she could
attend.

Mayor Gore said there has been some email traffic about how many people are
going to not be at the Council Work Session tomorrow based on the development
meeting happening at the Huber Heights Athletic Foundation; and if there is not
going to be a quorum for the meeting, it will have to be canceled and moved to
some other evening. He discussed other options. He said there are items on the
agenda that should be discussed, like the FOP contract.

Mr. Shaw said in order to have a quorum, he would rescind his absence
notification, as Mrs. Kitchen and Mr. Otto will be at the Huber Heights Athletic
Foundation as representatives of that area.

Mr. Campbell said he would not be able to attend the Council Work Session.
After a count, it was decided there would be enough Councilmembers for a
quorum.

Executive Session

Mayor Gore said there is a need for an Executive Session, and Mr. Rodgers read
the motion.

Ms. Baker made the motion to enter into Executive Session to consider the
appointment and employment of candidates and applicants for the City Manager
position; Mrs. Byrge seconded the motion. On a call of the vote, Mrs. Byrge, Mr.
Otto, Mr. Lyons, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Mr. Shaw, Ms. Baker, and Mr.
Campbell voted yea; none voted nay. The motion passes 8-0.

7



Huber Heights City Council

In Council Chambers August 21, 2023
6131 Taylorsville Road

Council entered into Executive Session at 6:32 p.m.
Council returned from Executive Session at 8:16 p.m.
Mayor Gore said there would be action taken by Council.

Mr. Rodgers said the first motion needed is to amend the agenda to add Item 10-K
which is an ordinance to appoint the City Manager of Huber Heights.

Mr. Otto moved to amend the agenda to add Item 10-K, an ordinance to appoint
the City Manager of Huber Heights; Mr. Webb seconded the motion. On a call of
the vote, Mr. Otto, Mr. Lyons, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Mr. Shaw, Ms. Baker,
Mr. Campbell, and Mrs. Byrge voted yea; none voted nay. The motion passes 8-0.

10-K.  An Ordinance To Appoint Richard S. Dzik To The Position Of City Manager Of
The City Of Huber Heights, And Declaring An Emergency.
(first reading)

Mr. Rodgers said Item 10-K was added to the agenda and he read the title of the
ordinance - An Ordinance To Appoint Richard S. Dzik To The Position Of City
Manager Of The City Of Huber Heights, And Declaring An Emergency (first
reading). He said a motion to waive the second reading of the ordinance is needed
first.

Ms. Baker moved to waive the second reading; Mrs. Kitchen seconded the
motion. On a call of the vote, Mr. Lyons, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Mr. Shaw,
Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mrs. Byrge, and Mr. Otto voted yea; none voted nay.
The motion passes 8-0.

Mrs. Kitchen moved to adopt; Mr. Webb seconded the motion. On a call of the
vote, Mrs. Kitchen, Mr. Webb, Mr. Shaw, Ms. Baker, Mr. Campbell, Mrs. Byrge,
and Mr. Otto voted yea; Mr. Lyons voted nay. The motion passes 7-1.

Mayor Gore congratulated Mr. Richard Dzik and said Council will lay out a time

frame for a Meet and Greet with the new City Manager. He said Mr. Dzik wants
to engage with the community.

14. Adjournment

Mayor Gore adjourned the Regular Session City Council Meeting at 8:20 p.m.

Clerk of Council Date

Mayor Date



Al-9450 Pending Business  A.

City Council Meeting City Manager
Meeting Date: 08/28/2023
Case RP 23-18 - City Of Huber Heights - Vacate Thorngate Drive
Submitted By: Geri Hoskins
Department: Planning Division: Planning
Council Committee Review?: Council Work Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/08/2023
Session
Audio-Visual Needs: SmartBoard Emergency Legislation?: No
Motion/Ordinance/ Passed to a
Resolution No.: Second Reading

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title

An Ordinance To Approve Vacating Thorngate Drive, North Of Waynegate Road, To Transfer The Remnants Of
The Public Right Of Way To The Adjacent Property Owners, And To Accept The Recommendation Of The
Planning Commission (Case RP 23-18).

(second reading)

Purpose and Background

The applicant, the City of Huber Heights, is requesting approval to vacate Thorngate Drive, north of Waynegate
Road (Case RP 23-18). The remnants of the public right of way will be transferred to the adjacent property
owners.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A

Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Staff Report
Decision Record
Drawing
Fire Assessment
Minutes
Presentation
Ordinance




Memorandum
Staff Report for Meeting of July 11, 2023

To: Huber Heights City Planning Commission
From: Aaron K. Sorrell, City Planner
Date: July 5, 2023

Subject: Vacation of Public Right of Way
RP 23-18 (Thorngate Dr. north of Waynegate Rd.)

Department of Planning and Zoning

APPLICANT/OWNER:

DEVELOPMENT NAME:

ADDRESS/LOCATION:
ZONING/ACREAGE:
EXISTING LAND USE:

ZONING
ADJACENT LAND:

REQUEST:

ORIGINAL APPROVAL.:

APPLICABLE HHCC:

CORRESPONDENCE:

City of Huber Heights
City of Huber Heights — Applicant
N/A
Thorngate Drive, north of Waynegate Road.
Planned Residential (PR) / 0.14 Acres
Right of Way stub
North: PR
East: PR
West: PR
South: PR
The City of Huber Heights requests approval to
vacate Thorngate Drive, north of Waynegate Rd. The
remnants of the public right of way will be transferred
to the adjacent property owners.

N/A

Chapter 1107, Ohio Revised Code 711.39

In Favor — None Received
In Opposition — None Received.



Overview

The city is requesting approval to vacate Thorngate Drive, north of Waynegate Road.
This is a stub street intended to connect to the subdivision to the north. The connection
was never approved or completed, nor will it ever be constructed. As a result, this stub
serves no municipal purpose, and has created drainage problems for the adjacent
property owners.

Once the right of way is officially vacated and the road bed removed, the two parcels
will be transferred to the adjacent property owners.

Applicable Subdivision Requlations

The applicable subdivision regulations for the plat are found in Chapter 1107 - Final
Plat. The vacation of public right of way is governed by ORC 711.39 - Vacating Plat by
Legislative Authority.

Vacating the public right of way requires approval by the platting commission (Planning
Commission) and the Huber Heights City Council.

Staff Analysis

The vacation is being initiated by the City at the request of the adjacent property owners
who have consistent flooding issues due to this stub. The stub serves no municipal
function since the connection to the northern subdivision was never completed. The City
is removing the road bed for the adjacent property owners.

Additional Comments:
Fire: The Fire Department has approved vacation and replat.
City Engineer: The engineer has approved vacation and replat.

Recommendation
Staff recommends approval of the Thornburg Drive Vacation as submitted.

Planning Commission Action

Planning Commission may take the following actions with a motion to:
1) Recommend approval of the vacation and replat, with or without conditions.
2) Recommend denial vacation and replat.
3) Table the application to gather additional information.




RP 23-18 — Decision Record

=

1

n

R
HEIGHTS

Come Grow With Us!

Planning Commission Decision Record

WHEREAS, on June 22, 2023, the applicant, The City of Huber Heights,
requested approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of Waynegate Road
(Case RP 23-18), and;

WHEREAS, on July 11, 2023, the Planning Commission did meet and fully
discuss the details of the request.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission
hereby recommended approval of the request.

Mr. Jeffries moved to approve the request by the applicant, The City of
Huber Heights, for approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of
Waynegate Road (Case RP 23-18) in accordance with the
recommendation of Staff's Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, with the
following conditions:

1. Approve as submitted.
Seconded by Mr. Cassity. Roll call showed: YEAS: Ms. Thomas, Mr.

Cassity, Ms. Thomas, Mr. Jeffries, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None.
Motion to recommend approval carried 5-0.

Terry Walton, Chair Date
Planning Commission



PREPARED

EXHIBIT

THORNGATE ROAD VACATION

BEING A VACATION OF THORNGATE DRIVE
OF THE HERBERT C. HUBER PLAT NO. 58, SECTION 8 BY P.B. 103, PG. 2
LOCATED IN SECTION 30, TOWN 2, RANGE 8 M.Rs.
CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, MONTGOMERY COUNTY, OHIO

0.1400 ACRES
APRIL 28, 2023

BY:

% //C

VANATTAENGINEERINGINC
570 Congress Park Dr « Dayton, OH 45459

Phone: 937,438.5650 ” ,
Fot 637438 5645 1"=30
T T ——__N8626'30°W 50,00
B0 200 | T T — — |
HERBERT C. HUBER PLAT NO.58
SECTION 8
PB. 103 PG. 2
LOT 13358 "8 ‘i
0.2358 ACRES * LOT 13357
w | 0.0700 0.0700 | S 0.2358 ACRES
HERBERT C'SE"(';%FOES BP LATNO.58 = ACRES ACRES e HERBERT C. HUBER PLAT N0.58 I
PB. 103 PG. 2 = = SECTION 8
MIAMI VALLEY IN-OVATIONS, INC. g L P.B. 103 F6. 2 I
R, DEED 10-074175 I S STEVEN M & TAMARA L JORGENSEN
P70 00510 0012 or] I ! DMF 89-294D04
' g ot P70 00510 0011 ’
74 Qls or)
0 E g =
R=15.00 el [
1=23.56' % =B R=15.00'
Lch=NA§'33'30'E x(B L=23.56' |
Lch Dist=21.21' =S Lch=54126"30"E
A=900000" Leh Dist=21.21" ’
A=90'00'00" I
EX R/W ! )
N8626°30"w |
EXR/W
| _WAYNEGATE ROAD
(PuBLC 50 RAW) _
EX R/W DE@EUWEH
! Il JuN 32 2023
JOB No. 8088 1 . air —=
By 22 T




Huber Heights Fire Division

Inspections require two business days advance notice! (OAC)1301:7-7-09(A)(5)

Occupancy Name: Replat

Occupancy Address: | Thorngate Road

Type of Permit: HHP&D Site Plan

Additional Permits: Choose an item.

Additional Permits: Choose an item.

MCBR BLD: N/A HH P&D:

MCBR MEC: HHFD Plan: 23-197
MCBR ELE: HHFD Box:

REVIEWER: Susong DATE: 7/5/2023

Fire Department Comments:

The Huber Heights City Code Part 15 Refers to Fire Code Requirements and has adopted by reference OFC and IFC Appendices

Plan submittal is approved as shown on drawing, dead end road vacation. Parcel
to be split between adjoining homeowners.

Please reference contact information below for questions or concerns with this document.

Plans reviewed by the Huber Heights Fire Division are reviewed with the intent they comply in ALL respects to this code,
as prescribed in SECTION (D) 104.1 of the 2017 Ohio Fire Code. Any omissions or errors on the plans or in this review
do not relieve the applicant of complying with ALL applicable requirements of this code. These plans have been reviewed
for compliance with the Ohio Fire Code adopted by this jurisdiction. There may be other regulations applicable under
local, state, or federal statues and codes, which this department has no authority to enforce and therefore have not been
evaluated as part of this plan review.

Administrative Office: 7008 Brandt Pike Huber Heights, Ohio 45424
Telephone: (937) 233 - 1564 Fax Number: (937) 233 - 4520



VL.

Planning Commission
July 11, 2023, Meeting
City of Huber Heights

Chair Terry Walton called the meeting to order at approximately 6:02 p.m.

Present at the meeting: Mr. Cassity, Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Thomas, Ms. Vargo, and
Mr. Walton.

Members absent: None.

Staff Present: Aaron K. Sorrell, Interim City Planner, and Geri Hoskins, Planning
& Zoning Administrative Secretary.

Opening Remarks by the Chairman and Commissioners

None.

Citizens Comments

None.

Swearing of Witnesses Mr. Walton explained the proceedings of tonight’s
meeting and administered the sworn oath to all persons wishing to speak or give
testimony regarding items on the agenda. All persons present responded in the

affirmative.

Pending Business

. TEXT AMENDMENT - The applicant, THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, is

requesting approval of a text amendment pertaining to Chapter 1181.20
Building Materials for Dwellings (TA 23-14A).

Mr. Sorrell stated that over the years, building materials have improved and
builders utilize a range of materials to provide a mixture of building facades along
a street, convey different design aesthetics, and control construction costs as
prices of materials can vary depending on local and regional demand. This text
amendment seeks to codify community expectations and provide reasonable
flexibility for contemporary designs and modern material utilization.

Based on feedback from the Planning Commission this version has been revised
for clarity and ease of administration.

Staff Analysis

Currently, there is a significant schism with exterior building material
requirements between building in a straight zoned area (A, R-1, R-2, etc.) versus
building on a lot in a Planned Residential areas. If a buyer seeks to construct a
new single-story home or build a single-story addition in any district other than a
PUD, they must fully wrap their single-story home in brick or masonry material.
New two-story homes must have the first floor wrapped in brick or masonry
material. The floors above can be any other material.




Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
Recent Planning Commission decisions have established a minimum masonry
limit at approximately 25% of the front fagcade for single-family homes. Multi-
family structures have ranged from 10% to 20% in recent years.

Staff is proposing the following standards:

Non-PUD Zoning:
e One-Story dwellings: 25% of the front facade
e Multi-Story dwellings: 25% of the first-floor front fagade.

PUD Zoning:
e 1 & 2-family buildings: 25% of the front facades
e Multi-family and mixed-use buildings: 10% of the aggregate building wall
surface.

These standards encourage the Planning Commission to consider the types,
location and layouts of the buildings. Every development is different, and the
Planning Commission should include those details. Specifically, the Planning
Commission is encouraged to:

When establishing the requirements, the Planning Commission shall consider the
types, location, and layout of the buildings to:

(1) Encourage a mix of building facades and material usage and discourage
monotonous building repetition.

(2) Encourage higher percentages of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, cultured
stone, or other approved masonry product along the frontage of major public
streets and thoroughfares.

Additional Comments:

Staff feels that these revised materials requirements for dwellings reflect the
recent decisions of the Planning Commission and City Council and are a bridge
from the previous masonry requirements to a constituent that desires a diverse
architectural palate within the community.

Fire: No comments.
City Engineer: No comments.

Discussion on building in phases, each section held to standard, eliminate
aggregated amount.

Action

Ms. Thomas moved to approve the request by the applicant THE CITY OF
HUBER HEIGHTS, for approval of a Text Amendment pertaining to Chapter
1181.20 Building Materials for Dwellings (TZ 23-14A) in accordance with the
recommendation of Staffs Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning
Commission Decision Record attached thereto.



Planning Commission Meeting
July 11, 2023

VIL.

Seconded by Mr. Jeffries. Roll call showed: YEAS: Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr.
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion to approve carried
5 -0.

New Business

MINOR CHANGE - The applicant, KELLEY KOONS, is requesting approval
of Minor Change to the Detailed Development Plan to construct a four-
season enclosed patio. Property is located at 5420 Brandt Pike (MC 23-16).

Mr. Sorrell stated that the applicant requests a minor change to the Detailed
Development Plan to construct a 300 SF four-season enclosure on the north side
of the existing building. The 30’ by 10’ structure will have overhead doors on
each end of the building, and windows along the northern wall. The addition will
be nearly 500’ from Brandt Pike and barely visible due to its relatively small size.

Applicable Zoning Requlations
The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1171 — General Provisions and
Chapter 1174 -Planned Public and Private Buildings and Grounds District (PP).

Staff Analysis

Detailed Development Plan Analysis:

The applicant requests a minor change to the Detailed Development Plan to
construct a 300 SF four-season enclosure on the north side of the existing
building. The exterior of the addition is mostly windows on the north side, and
one window and overhead door on each end.

Conformance With Planned Public and Private Buildings and Grounds District
Requirements:

Uses: Fraternal organizations are a permitted use.

Development Standards:
The addition meets all setback and yard requirements.
No additional parking is necessary.

No other changes are being proposed by the applicant. The existing structure is
just over 18,000 SF. This addition represents an enlargement of under 2% of the
existing floor area. No other improvements are required by the zoning code.
Fire: No comments received.

City Engineer: No comments received.

Action

Mr. Jeffries moved to approve the request by the applicant KELLY KOONS, for
approval of a Minor Change to the Detailed Development Plan (MC 23-16) in

accordance with the recommendation of Staff's Memorandum dated July 5, 2023,
and the Planning Commission Decision Record attached thereto.



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
Seconded by Mr. Cassity. Roll call showed: YEAS: Ms. Vargo, Mr. Cassity, Ms.
Thomas, Mr. Jeffries, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion to approve carried
5-0.

2. REPLAT - The applicant, THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, is requesting
approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of Waynegate Road (RP 23-18).

Mr. Sorrell stated that the city is requesting approval to vacate Thorngate Drive,
north of Waynegate Road. This is a stub street intended to connect to the
subdivision to the north. The connection was never approved or completed, nor
will it ever be constructed. As a result, this stub serves no municipal purpose,
and has created drainage problems for the adjacent property owners.

Once the right of way is officially vacated and the road bed removed, the two
parcels will be transferred to the adjacent property owners.

Applicable Subdivision Requlations

The applicable subdivision regulations for the plat are found in Chapter 1107 -
Final Plat. The vacation of public right of way is governed by ORC 711.39 -
Vacating Plat by Legislative Authority.

Vacating the public right of way requires approval by the platting commission
(Planning Commission) and the Huber Heights City Council.

Staff Analysis

The vacation is being initiated by the City at the request of the adjacent property
owners who have consistent flooding issues due to this stub. The stub serves no
municipal function since the connection to the northern subdivision was never
completed. The City is removing the road bed for the adjacent property owners.

Additional Comments:

Fire: The Fire Department has approved vacation and replat.

City Engineer: The engineer has approved vacation and replat.

Discussion on changing the deeds, fully restored.

Action

Mr. Jeffries moved to approve the request by the applicant THE CITY OF
HUBER HEIGHTS, for approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of Waynegate
Road (RP 23-18) in accordance with the recommendation of Staff's
Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning Commission Decision
Record attached thereto.

Seconded by Mr. Cassity. Roll call showed: YEAS: Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr.

Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion to approve carried
5 -0.



Planning Commission Meeting
July 11, 2023

3. DETAILED DEVELOPMENT PLAN - The applicant, METROPOLITAN

HOLDINGS LTD, is requesting approval of a Detailed Development Plan for
an apartment project. Property is located at Executive Boulevard across
the street from the Rose Music Center (DDP 23-19).

Mr. Sorrell stated the applicant requests Detailed Development Plan approval to
facilitate the construction of 312 residential units (1- and 2-bedroom apartments)
on approximately 21.3 acres.

The Planning Commission recommended approval of a rezoning and basic
development plan on February 14, 2023. The Huber Heights City Council
approved the rezoning and basic development plan on April 11, 2023.

Applicable Zoning Regulations

The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1130 — Amendments, Chapter
1171 — General Provisions, Chapter 1179 — Planned Mixed Use, Chapter 1181 —

General Provisions.

The staff analysis addresses the elements of the Detailed Development Plan and

standards for approval.

Staff Analysis

The approved rezoning and Basic Development Plan ordinance has the following

relevant conditions:

1. The Basic Development and Zoning Regulations shall be those submitted with
the application dated January 30, 2023.
2. The northern property buffering requirements shall be determined during the
Detailed Development Plan review.

Conformance with the approved conditions of the BDP:
1. The Basic Development and Zoning Regulations shall be those submitted
with the application dated January 30, 2023.

The development regulations that were submitted with the Basic Development
Plan will be recorded as part of the detailed development plan approval. The
Project Zoning and Design Standards are attached for reference.

The submitted detailed development plan substantially conforms to these

requirements.

Setbacks
Minimum Requirements As indicated on the DDP Conforming (Y/N)
Front yard: 20 feet 25 feet Y
Rear yard: 25 feet 25 feet Y
East Side yard: 25 feet 25 feet Y
West Side yard: 25 feet 20 feet N*

*The applicant has indicated that this is an error and will be sumitting corrected plans.




Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
Signage
The DDP indicates two (2) internal illuminated wall signs on the clubhouse
building. The two wall signs total 75 square feet.

Two non-illuminated entrance columns (monument signs) are proposed. The
columns are 6 feet high and just under 4 feet wide. The signage graphic affixed
to each column is approximately 3.5 square feet.

Staff feels the signs are appropriately located and well designed to showcase the
music branding of apartment complex.

Architecture and Site Standards

The detailed development plan appears to satisfy the building material
requirements outlined in the Project Zoning and Design Standards. The
residential buildings are mixture of stone, cement panels, and lap and batten
siding. The buildings facing Executive Boulevard including the clubhouse have
extensive stone and masonry elements.

Additionally, the applicant is proposing a significant amenity package for
residents including pool, outdoor kitchen and gathering areas.

Landscaping

The landscaping plan is substantially compliant to the standards outlined in the
Project Zoning and Design Standards. This includes street tree, perimeter and
interior landscaping, and open space requirements. Sheets L1 and L2 illustrate
the proposed landscaping plan.

Lighting

The lighting plan indicates pedestrian scale decorative poles and fixtures will be
used the parking areas and travel lanes. The decorative fixtures are mounted on
12-foot poles. The lighting standards limit light trespass to no more the 0.5 foot-
candle. However, the photometric plan indicates areas of illumination on the
north property line which exceeds this standard. As a condition of approval, the
applicant shall shield the perimeter fixtures adjacent to the north property line.

Street and Transportation Standards
The detailed development plan complies with the street and transportation
standards outlined in the Project Zoning and Design Standards.

The only significant change is the multi-use path along Executive Boulevard.
The basic development plan indicated a 10-foot path. After discussions between
the applicant and staff, the path has been reduced to eight (8) feet. This was
done to better accommodate decorative street lighting that is being planned for
Executive Boulevard. The width of the path matches the width of the path in front
of the Rose.

2. The northern property buffering requirements shall be determined during
the Detailed Development Plan review.

How the project is buffered from the northern neighborhood was a significant
discussion topic and particular concern to the adjacent neighbors. Staff
encouraged the development team to survey the treeline to determine which



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
mature trees are healthy and should remain, and to cluster landscaping between
the garages to further reduce visual and noise impacts. Additionally, specific
grading requirements and their impacts to the treeline was unknown at the point
of basic development plan approval.

Surprisingly, only eight trees within the 25-foot setback must be removed. They
are clustered in the areas where two retaining walls must be constructed to
achieve the grading required for the parking areas and garages. No trees along
the property line are indicated to be removed. Sheet C201 and C202 illustrate the
planned removals. Sheet C501 and C502 illustrate the grading limits and
location of the retaining walls.

To mitigate the loss of the trees and increase buffering, the applicant is
proposing substantial landscaping along the northern property line. Sheet L2
and L2.1 There is a dense mixture of evergreen and deciduous trees planned.
The evergreens will be 6 feet at planting, and the various deciduous trees will
have a 3-inch diameter. These are substantially larger than typically planted.

Staff feels the northern property line is adequately buffered between the existing
trees remaining and the substantial amount of new plantings.

Staff Analysis

The DDP application substantially conforms with the Basic Development Plan
ordinance approved by the City Council. Additionally, the DDP generally
conforms to all relevant zoning regulations, including landscaping, lighting,
parking, architectural standards and signs.

Additional Comments:
Fire: See Attached.
City Engineer: No comments received.

Discussion on parking compared to Parkview, fire issues, 9 ft. parking spaces,
another lane on south side of Executive, 8 ft sidewalks, font for sign, what name
means, tree survey, retaining walls, 1 phase.

Ryan Young, Jamie Oberschlake,

Pat Dyer, resident, asked about retaining wall, between buildings and garages,
dumpsters, maintenance, how long building will take.

Annamarie Norgrove, resident, asked about tree lines and when construction will
start.

Melissa Cleary, resident, said the name was really cool and it’s a great idea.

Action

Ms. Vargo moved to approve the request by the applicant METROPOLITAN
HOLDINGS LTD, for approval of a Detailed Development Plan for a proposed
new 312 unit apartment project. Property is located across the street from the
Rose Music Center (DDP 23-19) in accordance with the recommendation of
Staff's Memorandum dated July 6, 2023, and the Planning Commission Decision
Record attached thereto.



Planning Commission Meeting
July 11, 2023

Seconded by Mr. Jeffries. Roll call showed: YEAS: Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr.
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion to approve carried
5-0.

4. BASIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN - The applicant, BP-OTP, LLC, is requesting
approval of a Rezoning from O1 to PC, and a Basic Development Plan for a
gas station convenience mart with fueling pumps. Property is located at
4949 Chambersburg Road (BDP 23-17).

Mr. Sorrell stated that the applicant seeks to construct a new 5,915 SF Wawa
convenience store with eight fueling pumps at the corner of Old Troy Pike and
Chambersburg Road. Wawa is entering the Dayton area market, and this will be
its first Huber Heights store.

The proposed store will sit on 5.41 acres, of which approximately three (3) acres
are zoned Planned Commercial and approximately 2.4 acres are zoned O-1.
Convenience stores and fueling stations are permitted in the Planned
Commercial District but not the O-1. Thus, a replat and rezoning are included in
the Basic Development Plan application.

Nearby commercial and retail uses at this intersection include Walgreens on the
southwest corner; KeyBank on the northeast corner; and Speedway at the
southeast corner.

Site Characteristics

Approximately half the site is currently developed as a single-family house in a
densely wooded and landscaped lot. The other half is wooded, undeveloped
land. There is a steep grade change with the plateau of the site approximately 30
feet above the Chambersburg / OTP intersection. The grade change between the
road and the site becomes less dramatic as one travels east on Chambersburg
and north on Old Troy Pike.

While the proposed store is located in the general clearing of the lot, grading will
be required to develop the building pad, parking area, fueling bays and access
drives. However, it does appear that grading will end approximately 80 feet from
the east property line and have no impact on the home north of the site.

The site has access to all necessary utilities. Additionally, the applicant will
dedicate the required right-of-way for the planned Chambersburg widening and
multi-use path.

Applicable Zoning Requlations

The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1171 — General Provisions,
Chapter 1176 — Planned Commercial, Chapter 1181 — General Provisions,
Chapter 1182 — Landscaping, and Chapter 1185 — Parking and Loading.

Chapter 1171.05 - Contents of basic development plan, states:
(a) The basic development plan shall consist of at least the following information
together with such other data and materials as may be required by the City:




Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
(1) Site plan showing the actual shape and dimensions of the lot to be built upon or
to be changed in its use together with the location of the existing and proposed
structures with approximate square footages, number of stories including heights of
structures;

(2) Typical elevation views of the front and side of each type of building;

(3) Planning location and dimensions of all proposed drives, service access road,
sidewalks and curb openings;

(4) Parking lot areas (show dimensions of a typical parking space), unloading areas,
fire lanes and handicapped parking;

(5) Landscaping plan, walls and fences;
6) Storm water detention and surface drainage;
7) Exterior lighting plan;

(

(

(8) Vehicular circulation pattern;

(9) Location and square footage of signs;
(

10) Topographic survey; and

(11) Listing of proposed uses taken from the list of permitted and special uses of the
PUD zoning district to which rezoning is being sought.

(b) The Planning Commission shall schedule both the proposed rezoning and the
issue of approval of the basic development plan for a combined public hearing,
following which it shall make its recommendation indicating approval, approval with
modification or disapproval.

Chapter 1171.06 - General standards for approval, states:

The Planning Commission shall review the application, prepared development plan
and the facts presented at the hearing. The applicant shall have the burden of proof.
No approval shall be given unless the Commission shall find by a preponderance of
the evidence that such PUD on the proposed locations:

(a) Is consistent with official thoroughfare plan, comprehensive development plan and
other applicable plans and policies;

(b) Could be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the schedule
of development submitted by the developer;

(c) Is accessible from public roads that are adequate to carry the traffic that shall be
imposed upon them by the proposed development. Further, the streets and driveways
on the site of the proposed development shall be adequate to serve the residents or
occupants of the proposed development;

(d) Shall not impose an undue burden on public services such as utilities, fire and police
protection, and schools;

(e) Contains such proposed covenants, easements and other provisions relating to the
proposed development standards as may reasonably be required for the public health,
safety and welfare;

(f) Shall be landscaped or otherwise improved and the location and arrangement of
structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and appurtenant facilities shall be compatible



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023

with the existing intended uses, and any part of a PUD not used for structures, parking
and loading areas, or accessways;

(g) Shall preserve natural features such as water courses, trees and rock outcrops, to
the degree possible, so that they can enhance the overall design of the PUD;

(h) Is designed to take advantage of the existing land contours in order to provide
satisfactory road gradients and suitable building lots and to facilitate the provision of
proposed services;

(i) Shall place underground all electric and telephone facilities, street light wiring and
other wiring conduits and similar facilities in any development which is primarily
designed for or occupied by dwellings, unless waived by the Commission because of
technical reasons;

(i) Shall not create excessive additional requirements at public cost of public facilities
and services and shall not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community;

(k) Shall not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions of
operation that shall be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare by
reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors; and

() Rezoning of the land to the PUD District and approval of the development plan shall
not adversely affect the public peace, health, morals, safety or welfare.

Staff Analysis
The staff analysis addresses the rezoning request and elements of the Basic
Development Plan and standards for approval.

Rezoning Analysis:
The applicant requests the rezoning of approximately 2.44 acres from O-1
General Office to Planned Commercial (PC).

Conformance with Comprehensive Plan

The City's comprehensive plan indicates the site is within the Estates pattern
area adjacent to the Southtown pattern area. The Estates development pattern
area recognizes that is area is where large-scale development is unlikely to occur
and where large-lot residential development is appropriate. This is particularly
true on the west side of the pattern area where environmental constraints, such
as flooding, limit the development potential.

However, that is not to say the area is determined to be exclusively residential.
One of the key elements within the Estates development pattern area is to "allow
for incremental, contextually relevant non-residential uses and amenities." This
site is on the east edge of the pattern district, not subject to flooding and at the
intersection of two major roadways. Additionally, all necessary utilities are
available.

Given the location of this site and its context within the Estate pattern district,

staff feels the rezoning from O-1 to PC is consistent with the comprehensive
plan.

10



Planning Commission Meeting
July 11, 2023

(@)

Basic Development Plan Analysis:

The applicant proposes constructing a 5,915 SF convenience store and four-
island fueling center. The applicant has submitted all necessary plans and
studies for the Basic Development Plan review.

Conformance With Planned Commercial District Requirements:

Uses: Retail uses and filling stations are principally permitted in the district.

Development Standards:
o The site plan meets all parking and building setback and yard requirements.

¢ Nineteen street trees are required. The preliminary landscaping plan shows 19
street trees. However, due to grading issues and Chambersburg Road's planned
widening, most of them are not near the sidewalk. During the Detailed
Development plan review, staff will work with the applicant to place the required
trees appropriately.

e The lighting plan submitted with the application meets all requirements. The
proposed fixture height is 20 feet, and the fixture types meet the code. The
photometric analysis indicates no light trespasses across the property lines.

e The building design substantially meets the exterior material recommendation.
Not including glazing, the building's entire exterior is 68% masonry. The front
facade is 78% masonry and glazing. Approximately 28% of the exterior is a wood
composite accent siding.

o All utilities are below ground.

Parking and Loading:
e The applicant proposes 53 parking spaces, more than the code requires. Parking
stall dimensions are 10' x 20', as required.

Landscaping:
o The plans appear to meet the landscaping requirements but will be verified when
the detailed development plan is submitted.

Signs:

e A sign package was not submitted with the application and will be reviewed when
the detailed development plan is submitted. The elevations indicate three wall
signs, and the site plan indicates two monument signs.

Conformance with General Standards of Approval:
Below is the staff analysis of conformance with the general standards of approval.

Is consistent with official thoroughfare plan, comprehensive development plan and
other applicable plans and policies;

It is the staff's opinion that the proposal is consistent with the comprehensive plan

and thoroughfare plan. The site is located at the intersection of arterial and collector
streets.

11



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023

(b) Could be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the schedule
of development submitted by the developer;

While no development schedule has been submitted, the applicant has stated to staff
that they will initiate construction shortly after all plans are approved by the City and
County. There are no concerns on the part of staff that the applicant would have
difficulty financing and constructing the project in a reasonable time.

(c) Is accessible from public roads that are adequate to carry the traffic that shall be
imposed upon them by the proposed development. Further, the streets and
driveways on the site of the proposed development shall be adequate to serve the
residents or occupants of the proposed development;

It is important to note that the traffic counts were taken when school was in session,
and they represent an accurate assessment of the existing peak traffic volume. The
traffic study estimates there will be 541 AM and 467 PM weekday peak hour trips.

This store's net new peak hour trips are estimated at 129 AM and 1179 PM. It's
important to note that the study estimates that 76% of those trips are pass-by,
meaning those vehicles are on the road regardless of whether the Wawa
development is constructed.

The traffic study indicates that no drop-down lanes are necessary. The applicant is
required to dedicate additional ROW along Chambersburg Road to facilitate the
construction of a future roadway widening.

(d) Shall not impose an undue burden on public services such as utilities, fire and
police protection, and schools;

Staff does not anticipate any undue burden on public services. The area has
adequate utility and street capacity. We are unaware of any policing concerns, and
the development will comply will all building and fire code requirements.

(e) Contains such proposed covenants, easements and other provisions relating to
the proposed development standards as may reasonably be required for the public
health, safety and welfare;

Any conditions imposed by the Planning Commission or City Council will be
memorialized in the PUD legislation and remain in effect unless modified by the
Planning Commission or City Council.

(f) Shall be landscaped or otherwise improved and the location and arrangement of
structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and appurtenant facilities shall be
compatible with the existing intended uses, and any part of a PUD not used for
structures, parking and loading areas, or accessways;

The staff believes the site plan is generally well arranged, and internal circulation is
efficient and compatible with the intended use. Pedestrian connections between the
streets and the store are provided. The landscaping requirements will be reviewed
with the Detailed Development application.

12



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
(g) Shall preserve natural features such as water courses, trees and rock outcrops,
to the degree possible, so that they can enhance the overall design of the PUD;

The site will retain a significant amount of wooded area to the west and north.
Additionally, the existing decorative retaining wall will remain.

(h) Is designed to take advantage of the existing land contours in order to provide
satisfactory road gradients and suitable building lots and to facilitate the provision of
proposed services;

As discussed, the site has significant topographic features. The grading plan
illustrates significant grading on the site's west, south and northeast edges. The
grading should not impact the properties west or north of the site since there is an
adequate buffer between the property lines and the extent of the grading activities.
The applicant is grading to a 3:1 slope and providing vegetative ground cover, which
will limit erosion.

(i) Shall place underground all electric and telephone facilities, street light wiring and
other wiring conduits and similar facilities in any development which is primarily
designed for or occupied by dwellings, unless waived by the Commission because of
technical reasons;

All utilities will be placed underground.

(i) Shall not create excessive additional requirements at public cost of public facilities
and services and shall not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community;

Staff does not anticipate any additional public services required to support this
development.

(k) Shall not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions
of operation that shall be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare
by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors; and
All proposed uses are consistent with the Planned Commercial district zoning being
requested as part of this application. The traffic study does not indicate that this
development will generate excessive traffic.

() Rezoning of the land to the PUD District and approval of the development plan
shall not adversely affect the public peace, health, morals, safety or welfare.

The staff believes the rezoning is consistent with the comprehensive plan and will not
adversely affect surrounding properties.

Additional Comments:

Fire: See attached.

13



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
City Engineer: The engineer has reviewed the site plan and requested
additional right of way along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road. The
applicant has indicated that they will revise their plans accordingly.

Recommendation

Staff supports the partial rezoning from General Office (O-1) to Planned
Commercial. It is the staff's opinion that the requirements of Section 1171.06 can
be met, and recommends approval of the rezoning and Basic Development Plan
with the following conditions:

e The applicant shall assess the health of the existing trees along the site's
perimeter that will be incorporated into the landscaping plan. Healthy trees shall
be identified and incorporated into the landscaping plan as appropriate, subject
to approval as part of the Detailed Development Plan. The applicant shall also
develop a plan to protect key trees during construction, subject to staff approval.

e The applicant shall work with staff to determine the final street tree placement
during the Detailed Development Plan phase.

e Signs shall conform with Chapter 1189, unless otherwise approved in the
Detailed Development Plan by the Planning Commission.

e Permitted uses shall be those listed as permitted uses in Section 1176.01, except
the following are prohibited:

o0 Vehicle sales, rental or service

Sweepstakes Cafes

Short-term lenders (pay-day lenders, loans against auto titles, etc.)

Dry cleaners

Outdoor sales and storage, unless approved by the Planning Commission

©Oo0o0oOo

e The applicant shall submit a revised Basic Development Plan indicating the
corrected ROW dedication along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road, as the
City engineer requires.

Discussion on sidewalk width, undeveloped half of site, left turn onto Troy, traffic
coming south, Chambersburg design timeline, 3-1 slope, full shielding on West
side, traffic lane on Troy Pike, retaining wall, 19 ft. drop, bike racks, lower the
crest on Chambersburg.

Patrick O’Leary, Eric Williams, Patrick Warnemont, Adam Malonjao, Jason
Waite, Ryan Vickers.

Action

Ms. Thomas moved to approve the request by the applicant BP-OPT, LLC, for
approval of a Rezoning from O1 to PC, and a Basic Development Plan for a gas
station convenience mart with fueling pumps (BDP 23-17) in accordance with the
recommendation of Staffs Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning
Commission Decision Record attached thereto.

Seconded by Ms. Vargo. Roll call showed: YEAS: Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr.

Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion to approve carried
5-0.

14



Planning Commission Meeting
July 11, 2023

VIIl. Additional Business
None.

IX.  Approval of the Minutes
Without objection, the minutes of the June 13, 2023, Planning Commission
meeting are approved.

X. Reports and Calendar Review

Mr. Sorrell stated Flying Ace, Huber Health Center, and Technology and Artz
Road.

Xl Upcoming Meetings

August 15, 2023
September 12, 2023

Xll.  Adjournment

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting
was adjourned at approximately 8:40 p.m.

Terry Walton, Chair Date

Geri Hoskins, Administrative Secretary Date

15



RP 23-18
Thorngate Drive Replat

Vacation of Public Right of Way
August 8, 2023



Application:

 The City of Huber Heights requests approval to vacate Thorngate
Drive, north of Waynegate Rd. The remnants of the public right of
way will be transferred to the adjacent property owners.

Applicable Regulations:

* Vacating the public right of way requires approval by the platting
commission (Planning Commission) and the Huber Heights City
Council.










LOT 13358
0.2358 ACRES
HERBERT C. HUBER PLAT NO.58
SECTION B
P.B. 103 PG. 2
MIAMI VALLEY IN-OVATIONS, INC.
LR. DEED 10-074175
P70 00510 0Mm2

S0333'30°W  105.00°

R=15.00'

|=23.56'

Lch=N48"33'30"E

Lch Dist=21.21"

A=9000'00"
e

EX R/W

| _WAYNEGATE ROAD

(PUBLC 50' R/W)

Fax: 937 438 5645

NB6°26'30°W 50,00"

NB626"30"w

25.00'

25,00

HERBERT C. HUBER FLAT NO.58
SECTION 8
P.B. 103 PG. 2

0.0700
ACRES

THORNGATE DR.

0.0700
ACRES

N03'33'30°E 120.00"

NO333'30° 105, 00"

LOT 13357
02358 ACRES

HERBERT C. HUBER PLAT NO.58
SECTION 8
P.B. 103 PG. 2

STEVEN M & TAMARA L JORGENSEN
DMF 89-2940D04
P70 00510 0011

R=15.00'
L=23.56"
Lch=541'26"30"E
Leh Dist=21.21"
4=80'00'00"

EX R7W




Staff Analysis and Recommendation:

 The vacation is being initiated by the City at the request

of the adjacent property owners who have consistent
flooding issues. The stub serves no municipal function

since the connection to the northern subdivision was
never completed.

Planning Commission voted 5-0 to recommend approval.



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-0-

TO APPROVE VACATING THORNGATE DRIVE, NORTH OF WAYNEGATE ROAD, TO
TRANSFER THE REMNANTS OF THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY TO THE ADJACENT
PROPERTY OWNERS, AND TO ACCEPT THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE PLANNING
COMMISSION (CASE RP 23-18).

WHEREAS, the citizens of Huber Heights require the efficient and orderly planning of land uses
within the City; and

WHEREAS, the City Planning Commission has reviewed Case RP 23-18 and on July 11, 2023,
recommended approval by a vote of 5-0 of the Replat; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the issue.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that:

Section 1. The application requesting approval of vacating Thorngate Drive, north of Waynegate
Road, (Case RP 23-18) is hereby approved in accordance with the Planning Commission’s
recommendation.

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning
and relating to the passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this Council, and
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action

were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 3. This Ordinance shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the
Charter of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the day of ,2023;
_ Yeas;____ Nays.

Effective Date:

AUTHENTICATION:

Clerk of Council Mayor

Date Date



Al-9457 New Business A.

City Council Meeting City Council
Meeting Date: 08/28/2023

Arts And Beautification Commission Appointment - S. Hyre

Submitted By: Anthony Rodgers

Department: City Council

Council Committee Review?: Council Work Session
Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/22/2023
Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title

A Motion To Appoint Stella Hyre To The Arts And Beautification Commission For A Term Ending June
30, 2025.

Purpose and Background

The City's interview panel recommends the appointment of Stella Hyre to the Arts and Beautification
Commission for a term ending June 30, 2025. A background check on Ms. Hyre was processed
through Human Resources.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A

Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Application - S. Hyre




RECEIVED ON
JUL 26 2023

Appllcatlon For

6131 Taylorsville Road
Huber Heights, Ohio 45424
Phone: (937) 233-1423
Fax: (937) 233-1272
wwaw.hhoh.org
An Equal Opportunity Employer ||

PLEASE COMPLETE ALL SECTIONS AND EACH QUESTION
COMPLETELY AND ACCURATELY

Board or Commission Applied For: Date Apphed

Ads  ond et Sic TN 125 /}?

/H\m_, Sl a ol

Lbst Nam First Name Middle Name
7015 PRele Deial):_sbedtits OH 4524

ress ity tate ip Code
157 SHEYSTD Sl 10lagral
Home Phone Number Daytime Phone Number E-mail Address

EDUCATION

SCHOOL COURSE OF STUDY
OR DEGREE EARNED

HIGH SCHOOL NHH\F dg o I:—\§ S GED
COLLEGE Ul\h \J o (R\’k\l ag‘\%ﬂm %L_Kl/\ eSS

GRADUATE SCHOOL

—

OTHER (Specify)

[

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

Please list all civic, community, or non-profit organizations to which you have belonged or
currently do belong, and your dates of service.
Organization Dates of Service

Tt Cheaten Chaeh  HH \ AOIS = New
Masion  Commtlee om0 ’f\’ew




"EMPLOYMENT HISTORY

Name of Employer Position(s) Held | Dates of Employment
T Stys Mosr el Yica M) 2602 Mo

Q%\(M\nm/ggm O q57. /. 191 /

Name Address Telephone Number
C \ ohan \}\\ e C 937“_@7 5" 5%7 )
Name J Address Telephone Number
s T — (| _ . O
Shec. LIS 93)-L57-£.45Y
Name Address Telephone Number

STATEMENT OF INTEREST

Please tell us why you are interested in serving on this board or commission

| § kﬁ@\l 59@-\}“\\\\(3 N M\l o | also
%\)\G\\ M KO —\\(\\noﬁ ’_bre%-\\l v aw inc\
-&KC\*\K\(}) | u‘;(\u\\(\\ \(’\g‘@ ‘-1q(‘> \C)\r\ +he_
E})rm_@ and Acnolde m\‘l -—Lm@ +6

fo‘)\(‘M\(\\(\g o\ <of\<\\c\3 ene s, \ \f\m\\%ﬂ,
] KAS ol —1\‘\(\1‘\\1[ X \(‘d\;l e{\\\(\\l

sochncy  uodn e, | | n(BL ((-:\fu\ v
Yo —hwo 6@0«%@&&4.




REQUIREMENTS AND APPLICANT STAT EMENT

Are you at least 18 years of age? M\Yes 0 No

Do you currently reside in the City of Huber Heights? EQ&@S O No

Have you resided # the City of Huber Heights for at least one year prior to making this
application? s 0ONo

Are you a registered voter? Mes O No

Are you willing to sign a rglease/to allow the City of Huber Heights to perform a background screening and
criminal records check? es 0O No

I certify that all of the information furnished in this application and its addenda are true and complete to the best of my knowledge.
T understand that the City of Huber Heights may investigate the information I have furnished and I realize that any omissions,
misrepresentation or false information in this application and/or its addenda may lead to revocation of any volunteer appointment.

1 hereby acknowledge that I, voluntarily and of my own free will, have applied for a volunteer position with the City of Huber
Heights with the understanding that the City may use a variety of screening procedures to evaluate my qualifications and
suitability for appointment. I have been advised that these screening procedures might include, but are not limited to, interviews,
criminal record checks, driving records checks and reference checks. 1also acknowledge that any such screening procedures, as
reasonably required by the City of Huber Heights, are prerequisites to my appointment to a volunteer position with the City of
Huber Heights.

In addition, I also hereby understand that the City of Huber Heights cannot guarantee the confidentiality of the results of, or
information obtained through the aforementioned screening procedures. Decisions of the Ohio Supreme Court regarding the
Ohio Public Records Act indicate that, with certain enumerated exceptions, records maintained by a governmental entity are a
matter of public record and, should a proper request be made by a member of the public for such records, the governmental entity
would be required to make such records available to that member of the public within a reasonable time. Additionally, all
information furnished in this application is subject to disclosure under the Ohio Public Records Act.

Therefore, in consideration of my application being reviewed by the City of Huber Heights, under no legal disability, and on behalf
of my heirs and assigns, hereby release and agree to hold harmless the City of Huber Heights and any of its agents, employees, or
related officials from any and all liability, whatever the type and nature resulting from the administration of any such screening
procedures and/or release of the results thergfrom.

Signature Date




Al-9384 New Business B.
City Council Meeting City Council
Meeting Date: 08/28/2023

Case TA 23-14A - City Of Huber Heights - Text Amendments - Chapter 1181.20 - Building Materials -
Public Hearing

Submitted By: Geri Hoskins
Department: Planning Division: Planning
Council Committee Review?: Council Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/22/2023
Work
Session
Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title

A Public Hearing Scheduled For August 28, 2023 By The Huber Heights City Council For Case TA
23-14A To Amend Part Eleven - Planning And Zoning Code, Chapter 1181 - General Provisions,
Section 1181.20 - Building Materials For Dwellings Of The City Code Of Huber Heights.

Purpose and Background

The applicant, the City of Huber Heights, for revisions to Part Eleven - Planning and Zoning Code,
Chapter 1181 - General Provisions, Section 1181.20 - Building Materials For Dwellings of the City
Code of Huber Heights (Case TA 23-14A).

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A

Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
No file(s) attached.




Al-9456 New Business C.
City Council Meeting City Manager
Meeting Date: 08/28/2023

Case TA 23-14A - City of Huber Heights - Text Amendments - Chapter 1181.20 - Building Materials
Submitted By: Geri Hoskins

Department: Planning Division: Planning
Council Committee Review?: Council Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/22/2023
Work
Session
Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title

An Ordinance Amending Certain Sections Of Part Eleven, Planning And Zoning Code, Of The City
Code Of Huber Heights (Case TA 23-14A).
(first reading)

Purpose and Background

This ordinance contains revisions to Part Eleven - Planning and Zoning Code - Chapter 1181 - General
Provisions, Section 1181.20 - Building Materials For Dwellings of the City Code of Huber Heights (Case
TA 23-14A).

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A

Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Staff Report
Decision Record
Exhibit
Minutes
Presentation
Ordinance




Memorandum
Staff Report for Meeting of July 11, 2023

To: Huber Heights City Planning Commission
From: Aaron K. Sorrell, City Planner
Date: July 5, 2023

Subject: TA 23-14A - Building Materials for Dwellings Text Amendment (Amended)

Department of Planning and Zoning

APPLICANT/OWNER:

DEVELOPMENT NAME:

ADDRESS/LOCATION:
ZONING/ACREAGE:
EXISTING LAND USE:

ZONING
ADJACENT LAND:

REQUEST:

ORIGINAL APPROVAL.:

APPLICABLE HHCC:

CORRESPONDENCE:

City of Huber Heights

City of Huber Heights

6131 Taylorsville Rd.
N/A

N/A

N/A
This proposed text amendment clarifies what exterior
materials are considered masonry, and updates the

facade coverage requirements based on recent
practices.

N/A
Chapter 1189.20 Building materials for dwellings

In Favor — None Received
In Opposition — None Received



STAFF ANALYSIS AND RECOMMENDATION:

Overview

Over the years, building materials have improved and builders utilize a range of
materials to provide a mixture of building facades along a street, convey different design
aesthetics, and control construction costs as prices of materials can vary depending on
local and regional demand. This text amendment seeks to codify community
expectations and provide reasonable flexibility for contemporary designs and modern
material utilization.

Based on feedback from the Planning Commission this version has been revised for
clarity and ease of administration.

Staff Analysis

Currently, there is a significant schism with exterior building material requirements
between building in a straight zoned area (A, R-1, R-2, etc.) versus buildingon alotin a
Planned Residential areas. If a buyer seeks to construct a new single-story home or
build a single-story addition in any district other than a PUD, they must fully wrap their
single-story home in brick or masonry material. New two-story homes must have the
first floor wrapped in brick or masonry material. The floors above can be any other
material.

Recent Planning Commission decisions have established a minimum masonry limit at
approximately 25% of the front fagade for single-family homes. Multi-family structures
have ranged from 10% to 20% in recent years.

Staff is proposing the following standards:

Non-PUD Zoning:
e One-Story dwellings: 25% of the front facade
e Multi-Story dwellings: 25% of the first-floor front facade.

PUD Zoning:
e 1 & 2-family buildings: 25% of the front facades
e Multi-family and mixed-use buildings: 10% of the aggregate building wall
surface.

These standards encourage the Planning Commission to consider the types, location
and layouts of the buildings. Every development is different, and the Planning
Commission should include those details. Specifically, the Planning Commission is
encouraged to:

When establishing the requirements, the Planning Commission shall consider the types,
location, and layout of the buildings to:

(1) Encourage a mix of building facades and material usage and discourage
monotonous building repetition.



(2) Encourage higher percentages of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, cultured
stone, or other approved masonry product along the frontage of major public
streets and thoroughfares.

Additional Comments:
Staff feels that these revised materials requirements for dwellings reflect the recent
decisions of the Planning Commission and City Council, and are a bridge from the

previous masonry requirements to a constituent that desires a diverse architectural palate
within the community.

Fire: No comments.
City Engineer: No comments.

Recommendation
Staff recommends approval of the text amendments as drafted.

Planning Commission Action

Planning Commission may take the following actions with a motion to:
1) Recommend approval of the text amendments as drafted;
2) Recommend approval of the text amendments with changes;
3) Recommend denial of the text amendments;



TZ 23-14A — Decision Record

=

1

n

R
HEIGHTS

Come Grow With Us!

Planning Commission Decision Record

WHEREAS, on May 2, 2023, the applicant, The City of Huber Heights,
requested approval of a Text Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance of The
City of Huber Heights pertaining to Chapter 1181.20 Building Materials for
Dwellings (TA 23-14A), and;

WHEREAS, on July 11, 2023, the Planning Commission did meet and fully
discuss the details of the request.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission
hereby recommended approval of the request.

Ms. Thomas moved to approve the request by the applicant, The city of
Huber Heights, for approval of a Text Amendment to the Zoning
Ordinance of the City of Huber Heights (TA 23-14A) in accordance with
the recommendation of Staff's Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, with the
following conditions:

1. Approve as submitted.
Seconded by Mr. Jeffries. Roll call showed: YEAS: Mr. Cassity, Ms.

Vargo, Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion
to recommend approval carried 5-0.

Terry Walton, Chair Date
Planning Commission



1181.20 Building materials for dwellings. (Amended July 5, 2023)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(d)

lof1l

One-Story Dwellings. 25% of the front facade of one-story dwellings shall be constructed of full depth brick,
cultured brick, stone, or cultured stone. Other exterior wall areas may be constructed of full depth brick,
cultured brick, stone, cultured stone, EFIS, poured concrete, split-faced concrete block, stucco, or masonry or
vinyl siding. All vinyl siding shall have a thickness of not less than 0.44mm or be insulated.

Dwellings Over One Story. The first-floor front fagcade shall be constructed of 25% of full depth brick, cultured
brick, stone, or cultured stone. Other exterior wall areas may be constructed of full depth brick, cultured
brick, stone, cultured stone, EFIS, poured concrete, split-faced concrete block, stucco, or masonry or vinyl
siding. All vinyl siding shall have a thickness of not less than 0.44mm or be insulated.

Dwellings in Planned Unit Developments. Exterior building wall material requirements for all residential and
mixed-use residential buildings shall be established through the Basic Development Plan or Detail
Development Plan approval. At least 10% of the aggregate multi-family or mixed-use building wall surface,
within the development, should be full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, or cultured stone. Single-family
and two-family development front fagades shall be constructed of not less than 25% full depth brick,
cultured brick, stone, or cultured stone. When establishing the requirements, the Planning Commission shall
consider the types, location, and layout of the buildings to:

(1) Encourage a mix of building facades and material usage and discourage monotonous building repetition.

(2) Encourage higher percentages of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, cultured stone, or other
approved masonry product along the frontage of major public streets and thoroughfares.

Exceptions. The requirement for certain exterior walls of dwellings to be constructed of brick or other
approved masonry type of material shall not apply to:

(1)  Exterior wall areas of the dwelling where federal, state and/or local building codes prohibit the use of
brick or other masonry materials such as gas fireplace inserts, cantilevers, gables, overhangs, soffits,
downspouts and gutters, kitchen and other bays and other type of protrusion for which it is not
reasonably practical to use the material stated above.

(2) Room additions, remodeling, or reconstruction, to or of, dwellings that do not comply with subsections
(a) and (b) above when such dwellings were constructed prior to enactment of this Ordinance. Material
that is used for additions or remodeling must be similar to the existing structure and maintain the
integral look of the dwelling.

Definitions. For purposes of this section, the following terms shall have the following definitions:

(1) "Dwelling" means any building or portion thereof occupied or intended to be occupied exclusively for
residential purposes, but not including a tent, cabin, trailer or trailer coach or other temporary or
transient structure or facility.

(2)  "First floor" means the highest point at the finish grade of the proposed ground surface.

(3) "Front Fagade" means the side of the building facing the lot front as defined by Section 1123.69 (Lot,
Front).



VL.

Planning Commission
July 11, 2023, Meeting
City of Huber Heights

Chair Terry Walton called the meeting to order at approximately 6:02 p.m.

Present at the meeting: Mr. Cassity, Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Thomas, Ms. Vargo, and
Mr. Walton.

Members absent: None.

Staff Present: Aaron K. Sorrell, Interim City Planner, and Geri Hoskins, Planning
& Zoning Administrative Secretary.

Opening Remarks by the Chairman and Commissioners

None.

Citizens Comments

None.

Swearing of Witnesses Mr. Walton explained the proceedings of tonight’s
meeting and administered the sworn oath to all persons wishing to speak or give
testimony regarding items on the agenda. All persons present responded in the

affirmative.

Pending Business

. TEXT AMENDMENT - The applicant, THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, is

requesting approval of a text amendment pertaining to Chapter 1181.20
Building Materials for Dwellings (TA 23-14A).

Mr. Sorrell stated that over the years, building materials have improved and
builders utilize a range of materials to provide a mixture of building facades along
a street, convey different design aesthetics, and control construction costs as
prices of materials can vary depending on local and regional demand. This text
amendment seeks to codify community expectations and provide reasonable
flexibility for contemporary designs and modern material utilization.

Based on feedback from the Planning Commission this version has been revised
for clarity and ease of administration.

Staff Analysis

Currently, there is a significant schism with exterior building material
requirements between building in a straight zoned area (A, R-1, R-2, etc.) versus
building on a lot in a Planned Residential areas. If a buyer seeks to construct a
new single-story home or build a single-story addition in any district other than a
PUD, they must fully wrap their single-story home in brick or masonry material.
New two-story homes must have the first floor wrapped in brick or masonry
material. The floors above can be any other material.




Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
Recent Planning Commission decisions have established a minimum masonry
limit at approximately 25% of the front fagcade for single-family homes. Multi-
family structures have ranged from 10% to 20% in recent years.

Staff is proposing the following standards:

Non-PUD Zoning:
e One-Story dwellings: 25% of the front facade
e Multi-Story dwellings: 25% of the first-floor front fagade.

PUD Zoning:
e 1 & 2-family buildings: 25% of the front facades
e Multi-family and mixed-use buildings: 10% of the aggregate building wall
surface.

These standards encourage the Planning Commission to consider the types,
location and layouts of the buildings. Every development is different, and the
Planning Commission should include those details. Specifically, the Planning
Commission is encouraged to:

When establishing the requirements, the Planning Commission shall consider the
types, location, and layout of the buildings to:

(1) Encourage a mix of building facades and material usage and discourage
monotonous building repetition.

(2) Encourage higher percentages of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, cultured
stone, or other approved masonry product along the frontage of major public
streets and thoroughfares.

Additional Comments:

Staff feels that these revised materials requirements for dwellings reflect the
recent decisions of the Planning Commission and City Council and are a bridge
from the previous masonry requirements to a constituent that desires a diverse
architectural palate within the community.

Fire: No comments.
City Engineer: No comments.

Discussion on building in phases, each section held to standard, eliminate
aggregated amount.

Action

Ms. Thomas moved to approve the request by the applicant THE CITY OF
HUBER HEIGHTS, for approval of a Text Amendment pertaining to Chapter
1181.20 Building Materials for Dwellings (TZ 23-14A) in accordance with the
recommendation of Staffs Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning
Commission Decision Record attached thereto.



Planning Commission Meeting
July 11, 2023

VIL.

Seconded by Mr. Jeffries. Roll call showed: YEAS: Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr.
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion to approve carried
5 -0.

New Business

MINOR CHANGE - The applicant, KELLEY KOONS, is requesting approval
of Minor Change to the Detailed Development Plan to construct a four-
season enclosed patio. Property is located at 5420 Brandt Pike (MC 23-16).

Mr. Sorrell stated that the applicant requests a minor change to the Detailed
Development Plan to construct a 300 SF four-season enclosure on the north side
of the existing building. The 30’ by 10’ structure will have overhead doors on
each end of the building, and windows along the northern wall. The addition will
be nearly 500’ from Brandt Pike and barely visible due to its relatively small size.

Applicable Zoning Requlations
The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1171 — General Provisions and
Chapter 1174 -Planned Public and Private Buildings and Grounds District (PP).

Staff Analysis

Detailed Development Plan Analysis:

The applicant requests a minor change to the Detailed Development Plan to
construct a 300 SF four-season enclosure on the north side of the existing
building. The exterior of the addition is mostly windows on the north side, and
one window and overhead door on each end.

Conformance With Planned Public and Private Buildings and Grounds District
Requirements:

Uses: Fraternal organizations are a permitted use.

Development Standards:
The addition meets all setback and yard requirements.
No additional parking is necessary.

No other changes are being proposed by the applicant. The existing structure is
just over 18,000 SF. This addition represents an enlargement of under 2% of the
existing floor area. No other improvements are required by the zoning code.
Fire: No comments received.

City Engineer: No comments received.

Action

Mr. Jeffries moved to approve the request by the applicant KELLY KOONS, for
approval of a Minor Change to the Detailed Development Plan (MC 23-16) in

accordance with the recommendation of Staff's Memorandum dated July 5, 2023,
and the Planning Commission Decision Record attached thereto.



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
Seconded by Mr. Cassity. Roll call showed: YEAS: Ms. Vargo, Mr. Cassity, Ms.
Thomas, Mr. Jeffries, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion to approve carried
5-0.

2. REPLAT - The applicant, THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS, is requesting
approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of Waynegate Road (RP 23-18).

Mr. Sorrell stated that the city is requesting approval to vacate Thorngate Drive,
north of Waynegate Road. This is a stub street intended to connect to the
subdivision to the north. The connection was never approved or completed, nor
will it ever be constructed. As a result, this stub serves no municipal purpose,
and has created drainage problems for the adjacent property owners.

Once the right of way is officially vacated and the road bed removed, the two
parcels will be transferred to the adjacent property owners.

Applicable Subdivision Requlations

The applicable subdivision regulations for the plat are found in Chapter 1107 -
Final Plat. The vacation of public right of way is governed by ORC 711.39 -
Vacating Plat by Legislative Authority.

Vacating the public right of way requires approval by the platting commission
(Planning Commission) and the Huber Heights City Council.

Staff Analysis

The vacation is being initiated by the City at the request of the adjacent property
owners who have consistent flooding issues due to this stub. The stub serves no
municipal function since the connection to the northern subdivision was never
completed. The City is removing the road bed for the adjacent property owners.

Additional Comments:

Fire: The Fire Department has approved vacation and replat.

City Engineer: The engineer has approved vacation and replat.

Discussion on changing the deeds, fully restored.

Action

Mr. Jeffries moved to approve the request by the applicant THE CITY OF
HUBER HEIGHTS, for approval to vacate Thorngate Road north of Waynegate
Road (RP 23-18) in accordance with the recommendation of Staff's
Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning Commission Decision
Record attached thereto.

Seconded by Mr. Cassity. Roll call showed: YEAS: Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr.

Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion to approve carried
5 -0.



Planning Commission Meeting
July 11, 2023

3. DETAILED DEVELOPMENT PLAN - The applicant, METROPOLITAN

HOLDINGS LTD, is requesting approval of a Detailed Development Plan for
an apartment project. Property is located at Executive Boulevard across
the street from the Rose Music Center (DDP 23-19).

Mr. Sorrell stated the applicant requests Detailed Development Plan approval to
facilitate the construction of 312 residential units (1- and 2-bedroom apartments)
on approximately 21.3 acres.

The Planning Commission recommended approval of a rezoning and basic
development plan on February 14, 2023. The Huber Heights City Council
approved the rezoning and basic development plan on April 11, 2023.

Applicable Zoning Regulations

The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1130 — Amendments, Chapter
1171 — General Provisions, Chapter 1179 — Planned Mixed Use, Chapter 1181 —

General Provisions.

The staff analysis addresses the elements of the Detailed Development Plan and

standards for approval.

Staff Analysis

The approved rezoning and Basic Development Plan ordinance has the following

relevant conditions:

1. The Basic Development and Zoning Regulations shall be those submitted with
the application dated January 30, 2023.
2. The northern property buffering requirements shall be determined during the
Detailed Development Plan review.

Conformance with the approved conditions of the BDP:
1. The Basic Development and Zoning Regulations shall be those submitted
with the application dated January 30, 2023.

The development regulations that were submitted with the Basic Development
Plan will be recorded as part of the detailed development plan approval. The
Project Zoning and Design Standards are attached for reference.

The submitted detailed development plan substantially conforms to these

requirements.

Setbacks
Minimum Requirements As indicated on the DDP Conforming (Y/N)
Front yard: 20 feet 25 feet Y
Rear yard: 25 feet 25 feet Y
East Side yard: 25 feet 25 feet Y
West Side yard: 25 feet 20 feet N*

*The applicant has indicated that this is an error and will be sumitting corrected plans.




Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
Signage
The DDP indicates two (2) internal illuminated wall signs on the clubhouse
building. The two wall signs total 75 square feet.

Two non-illuminated entrance columns (monument signs) are proposed. The
columns are 6 feet high and just under 4 feet wide. The signage graphic affixed
to each column is approximately 3.5 square feet.

Staff feels the signs are appropriately located and well designed to showcase the
music branding of apartment complex.

Architecture and Site Standards

The detailed development plan appears to satisfy the building material
requirements outlined in the Project Zoning and Design Standards. The
residential buildings are mixture of stone, cement panels, and lap and batten
siding. The buildings facing Executive Boulevard including the clubhouse have
extensive stone and masonry elements.

Additionally, the applicant is proposing a significant amenity package for
residents including pool, outdoor kitchen and gathering areas.

Landscaping

The landscaping plan is substantially compliant to the standards outlined in the
Project Zoning and Design Standards. This includes street tree, perimeter and
interior landscaping, and open space requirements. Sheets L1 and L2 illustrate
the proposed landscaping plan.

Lighting

The lighting plan indicates pedestrian scale decorative poles and fixtures will be
used the parking areas and travel lanes. The decorative fixtures are mounted on
12-foot poles. The lighting standards limit light trespass to no more the 0.5 foot-
candle. However, the photometric plan indicates areas of illumination on the
north property line which exceeds this standard. As a condition of approval, the
applicant shall shield the perimeter fixtures adjacent to the north property line.

Street and Transportation Standards
The detailed development plan complies with the street and transportation
standards outlined in the Project Zoning and Design Standards.

The only significant change is the multi-use path along Executive Boulevard.
The basic development plan indicated a 10-foot path. After discussions between
the applicant and staff, the path has been reduced to eight (8) feet. This was
done to better accommodate decorative street lighting that is being planned for
Executive Boulevard. The width of the path matches the width of the path in front
of the Rose.

2. The northern property buffering requirements shall be determined during
the Detailed Development Plan review.

How the project is buffered from the northern neighborhood was a significant
discussion topic and particular concern to the adjacent neighbors. Staff
encouraged the development team to survey the treeline to determine which



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
mature trees are healthy and should remain, and to cluster landscaping between
the garages to further reduce visual and noise impacts. Additionally, specific
grading requirements and their impacts to the treeline was unknown at the point
of basic development plan approval.

Surprisingly, only eight trees within the 25-foot setback must be removed. They
are clustered in the areas where two retaining walls must be constructed to
achieve the grading required for the parking areas and garages. No trees along
the property line are indicated to be removed. Sheet C201 and C202 illustrate the
planned removals. Sheet C501 and C502 illustrate the grading limits and
location of the retaining walls.

To mitigate the loss of the trees and increase buffering, the applicant is
proposing substantial landscaping along the northern property line. Sheet L2
and L2.1 There is a dense mixture of evergreen and deciduous trees planned.
The evergreens will be 6 feet at planting, and the various deciduous trees will
have a 3-inch diameter. These are substantially larger than typically planted.

Staff feels the northern property line is adequately buffered between the existing
trees remaining and the substantial amount of new plantings.

Staff Analysis

The DDP application substantially conforms with the Basic Development Plan
ordinance approved by the City Council. Additionally, the DDP generally
conforms to all relevant zoning regulations, including landscaping, lighting,
parking, architectural standards and signs.

Additional Comments:
Fire: See Attached.
City Engineer: No comments received.

Discussion on parking compared to Parkview, fire issues, 9 ft. parking spaces,
another lane on south side of Executive, 8 ft sidewalks, font for sign, what name
means, tree survey, retaining walls, 1 phase.

Ryan Young, Jamie Oberschlake,

Pat Dyer, resident, asked about retaining wall, between buildings and garages,
dumpsters, maintenance, how long building will take.

Annamarie Norgrove, resident, asked about tree lines and when construction will
start.

Melissa Cleary, resident, said the name was really cool and it’s a great idea.

Action

Ms. Vargo moved to approve the request by the applicant METROPOLITAN
HOLDINGS LTD, for approval of a Detailed Development Plan for a proposed
new 312 unit apartment project. Property is located across the street from the
Rose Music Center (DDP 23-19) in accordance with the recommendation of
Staff's Memorandum dated July 6, 2023, and the Planning Commission Decision
Record attached thereto.



Planning Commission Meeting
July 11, 2023

Seconded by Mr. Jeffries. Roll call showed: YEAS: Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr.
Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion to approve carried
5-0.

4. BASIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN - The applicant, BP-OTP, LLC, is requesting
approval of a Rezoning from O1 to PC, and a Basic Development Plan for a
gas station convenience mart with fueling pumps. Property is located at
4949 Chambersburg Road (BDP 23-17).

Mr. Sorrell stated that the applicant seeks to construct a new 5,915 SF Wawa
convenience store with eight fueling pumps at the corner of Old Troy Pike and
Chambersburg Road. Wawa is entering the Dayton area market, and this will be
its first Huber Heights store.

The proposed store will sit on 5.41 acres, of which approximately three (3) acres
are zoned Planned Commercial and approximately 2.4 acres are zoned O-1.
Convenience stores and fueling stations are permitted in the Planned
Commercial District but not the O-1. Thus, a replat and rezoning are included in
the Basic Development Plan application.

Nearby commercial and retail uses at this intersection include Walgreens on the
southwest corner; KeyBank on the northeast corner; and Speedway at the
southeast corner.

Site Characteristics

Approximately half the site is currently developed as a single-family house in a
densely wooded and landscaped lot. The other half is wooded, undeveloped
land. There is a steep grade change with the plateau of the site approximately 30
feet above the Chambersburg / OTP intersection. The grade change between the
road and the site becomes less dramatic as one travels east on Chambersburg
and north on Old Troy Pike.

While the proposed store is located in the general clearing of the lot, grading will
be required to develop the building pad, parking area, fueling bays and access
drives. However, it does appear that grading will end approximately 80 feet from
the east property line and have no impact on the home north of the site.

The site has access to all necessary utilities. Additionally, the applicant will
dedicate the required right-of-way for the planned Chambersburg widening and
multi-use path.

Applicable Zoning Requlations

The applicable zoning regulations are Chapter 1171 — General Provisions,
Chapter 1176 — Planned Commercial, Chapter 1181 — General Provisions,
Chapter 1182 — Landscaping, and Chapter 1185 — Parking and Loading.

Chapter 1171.05 - Contents of basic development plan, states:
(a) The basic development plan shall consist of at least the following information
together with such other data and materials as may be required by the City:




Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
(1) Site plan showing the actual shape and dimensions of the lot to be built upon or
to be changed in its use together with the location of the existing and proposed
structures with approximate square footages, number of stories including heights of
structures;

(2) Typical elevation views of the front and side of each type of building;

(3) Planning location and dimensions of all proposed drives, service access road,
sidewalks and curb openings;

(4) Parking lot areas (show dimensions of a typical parking space), unloading areas,
fire lanes and handicapped parking;

(5) Landscaping plan, walls and fences;
6) Storm water detention and surface drainage;
7) Exterior lighting plan;

(

(

(8) Vehicular circulation pattern;

(9) Location and square footage of signs;
(

10) Topographic survey; and

(11) Listing of proposed uses taken from the list of permitted and special uses of the
PUD zoning district to which rezoning is being sought.

(b) The Planning Commission shall schedule both the proposed rezoning and the
issue of approval of the basic development plan for a combined public hearing,
following which it shall make its recommendation indicating approval, approval with
modification or disapproval.

Chapter 1171.06 - General standards for approval, states:

The Planning Commission shall review the application, prepared development plan
and the facts presented at the hearing. The applicant shall have the burden of proof.
No approval shall be given unless the Commission shall find by a preponderance of
the evidence that such PUD on the proposed locations:

(a) Is consistent with official thoroughfare plan, comprehensive development plan and
other applicable plans and policies;

(b) Could be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the schedule
of development submitted by the developer;

(c) Is accessible from public roads that are adequate to carry the traffic that shall be
imposed upon them by the proposed development. Further, the streets and driveways
on the site of the proposed development shall be adequate to serve the residents or
occupants of the proposed development;

(d) Shall not impose an undue burden on public services such as utilities, fire and police
protection, and schools;

(e) Contains such proposed covenants, easements and other provisions relating to the
proposed development standards as may reasonably be required for the public health,
safety and welfare;

(f) Shall be landscaped or otherwise improved and the location and arrangement of
structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and appurtenant facilities shall be compatible



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023

with the existing intended uses, and any part of a PUD not used for structures, parking
and loading areas, or accessways;

(g) Shall preserve natural features such as water courses, trees and rock outcrops, to
the degree possible, so that they can enhance the overall design of the PUD;

(h) Is designed to take advantage of the existing land contours in order to provide
satisfactory road gradients and suitable building lots and to facilitate the provision of
proposed services;

(i) Shall place underground all electric and telephone facilities, street light wiring and
other wiring conduits and similar facilities in any development which is primarily
designed for or occupied by dwellings, unless waived by the Commission because of
technical reasons;

(i) Shall not create excessive additional requirements at public cost of public facilities
and services and shall not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community;

(k) Shall not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions of
operation that shall be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare by
reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors; and

() Rezoning of the land to the PUD District and approval of the development plan shall
not adversely affect the public peace, health, morals, safety or welfare.

Staff Analysis
The staff analysis addresses the rezoning request and elements of the Basic
Development Plan and standards for approval.

Rezoning Analysis:
The applicant requests the rezoning of approximately 2.44 acres from O-1
General Office to Planned Commercial (PC).

Conformance with Comprehensive Plan

The City's comprehensive plan indicates the site is within the Estates pattern
area adjacent to the Southtown pattern area. The Estates development pattern
area recognizes that is area is where large-scale development is unlikely to occur
and where large-lot residential development is appropriate. This is particularly
true on the west side of the pattern area where environmental constraints, such
as flooding, limit the development potential.

However, that is not to say the area is determined to be exclusively residential.
One of the key elements within the Estates development pattern area is to "allow
for incremental, contextually relevant non-residential uses and amenities." This
site is on the east edge of the pattern district, not subject to flooding and at the
intersection of two major roadways. Additionally, all necessary utilities are
available.

Given the location of this site and its context within the Estate pattern district,

staff feels the rezoning from O-1 to PC is consistent with the comprehensive
plan.

10



Planning Commission Meeting
July 11, 2023

(@)

Basic Development Plan Analysis:

The applicant proposes constructing a 5,915 SF convenience store and four-
island fueling center. The applicant has submitted all necessary plans and
studies for the Basic Development Plan review.

Conformance With Planned Commercial District Requirements:

Uses: Retail uses and filling stations are principally permitted in the district.

Development Standards:
o The site plan meets all parking and building setback and yard requirements.

¢ Nineteen street trees are required. The preliminary landscaping plan shows 19
street trees. However, due to grading issues and Chambersburg Road's planned
widening, most of them are not near the sidewalk. During the Detailed
Development plan review, staff will work with the applicant to place the required
trees appropriately.

e The lighting plan submitted with the application meets all requirements. The
proposed fixture height is 20 feet, and the fixture types meet the code. The
photometric analysis indicates no light trespasses across the property lines.

e The building design substantially meets the exterior material recommendation.
Not including glazing, the building's entire exterior is 68% masonry. The front
facade is 78% masonry and glazing. Approximately 28% of the exterior is a wood
composite accent siding.

o All utilities are below ground.

Parking and Loading:
e The applicant proposes 53 parking spaces, more than the code requires. Parking
stall dimensions are 10' x 20', as required.

Landscaping:
o The plans appear to meet the landscaping requirements but will be verified when
the detailed development plan is submitted.

Signs:

e A sign package was not submitted with the application and will be reviewed when
the detailed development plan is submitted. The elevations indicate three wall
signs, and the site plan indicates two monument signs.

Conformance with General Standards of Approval:
Below is the staff analysis of conformance with the general standards of approval.

Is consistent with official thoroughfare plan, comprehensive development plan and
other applicable plans and policies;

It is the staff's opinion that the proposal is consistent with the comprehensive plan

and thoroughfare plan. The site is located at the intersection of arterial and collector
streets.

11



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023

(b) Could be substantially completed within the period of time specified in the schedule
of development submitted by the developer;

While no development schedule has been submitted, the applicant has stated to staff
that they will initiate construction shortly after all plans are approved by the City and
County. There are no concerns on the part of staff that the applicant would have
difficulty financing and constructing the project in a reasonable time.

(c) Is accessible from public roads that are adequate to carry the traffic that shall be
imposed upon them by the proposed development. Further, the streets and
driveways on the site of the proposed development shall be adequate to serve the
residents or occupants of the proposed development;

It is important to note that the traffic counts were taken when school was in session,
and they represent an accurate assessment of the existing peak traffic volume. The
traffic study estimates there will be 541 AM and 467 PM weekday peak hour trips.

This store's net new peak hour trips are estimated at 129 AM and 1179 PM. It's
important to note that the study estimates that 76% of those trips are pass-by,
meaning those vehicles are on the road regardless of whether the Wawa
development is constructed.

The traffic study indicates that no drop-down lanes are necessary. The applicant is
required to dedicate additional ROW along Chambersburg Road to facilitate the
construction of a future roadway widening.

(d) Shall not impose an undue burden on public services such as utilities, fire and
police protection, and schools;

Staff does not anticipate any undue burden on public services. The area has
adequate utility and street capacity. We are unaware of any policing concerns, and
the development will comply will all building and fire code requirements.

(e) Contains such proposed covenants, easements and other provisions relating to
the proposed development standards as may reasonably be required for the public
health, safety and welfare;

Any conditions imposed by the Planning Commission or City Council will be
memorialized in the PUD legislation and remain in effect unless modified by the
Planning Commission or City Council.

(f) Shall be landscaped or otherwise improved and the location and arrangement of
structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and appurtenant facilities shall be
compatible with the existing intended uses, and any part of a PUD not used for
structures, parking and loading areas, or accessways;

The staff believes the site plan is generally well arranged, and internal circulation is
efficient and compatible with the intended use. Pedestrian connections between the
streets and the store are provided. The landscaping requirements will be reviewed
with the Detailed Development application.

12



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
(g) Shall preserve natural features such as water courses, trees and rock outcrops,
to the degree possible, so that they can enhance the overall design of the PUD;

The site will retain a significant amount of wooded area to the west and north.
Additionally, the existing decorative retaining wall will remain.

(h) Is designed to take advantage of the existing land contours in order to provide
satisfactory road gradients and suitable building lots and to facilitate the provision of
proposed services;

As discussed, the site has significant topographic features. The grading plan
illustrates significant grading on the site's west, south and northeast edges. The
grading should not impact the properties west or north of the site since there is an
adequate buffer between the property lines and the extent of the grading activities.
The applicant is grading to a 3:1 slope and providing vegetative ground cover, which
will limit erosion.

(i) Shall place underground all electric and telephone facilities, street light wiring and
other wiring conduits and similar facilities in any development which is primarily
designed for or occupied by dwellings, unless waived by the Commission because of
technical reasons;

All utilities will be placed underground.

(i) Shall not create excessive additional requirements at public cost of public facilities
and services and shall not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community;

Staff does not anticipate any additional public services required to support this
development.

(k) Shall not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment and conditions
of operation that shall be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare
by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors; and
All proposed uses are consistent with the Planned Commercial district zoning being
requested as part of this application. The traffic study does not indicate that this
development will generate excessive traffic.

() Rezoning of the land to the PUD District and approval of the development plan
shall not adversely affect the public peace, health, morals, safety or welfare.

The staff believes the rezoning is consistent with the comprehensive plan and will not
adversely affect surrounding properties.

Additional Comments:

Fire: See attached.

13



Planning Commission Meeting

July 11, 2023
City Engineer: The engineer has reviewed the site plan and requested
additional right of way along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road. The
applicant has indicated that they will revise their plans accordingly.

Recommendation

Staff supports the partial rezoning from General Office (O-1) to Planned
Commercial. It is the staff's opinion that the requirements of Section 1171.06 can
be met, and recommends approval of the rezoning and Basic Development Plan
with the following conditions:

e The applicant shall assess the health of the existing trees along the site's
perimeter that will be incorporated into the landscaping plan. Healthy trees shall
be identified and incorporated into the landscaping plan as appropriate, subject
to approval as part of the Detailed Development Plan. The applicant shall also
develop a plan to protect key trees during construction, subject to staff approval.

e The applicant shall work with staff to determine the final street tree placement
during the Detailed Development Plan phase.

e Signs shall conform with Chapter 1189, unless otherwise approved in the
Detailed Development Plan by the Planning Commission.

e Permitted uses shall be those listed as permitted uses in Section 1176.01, except
the following are prohibited:

o0 Vehicle sales, rental or service

Sweepstakes Cafes

Short-term lenders (pay-day lenders, loans against auto titles, etc.)

Dry cleaners

Outdoor sales and storage, unless approved by the Planning Commission

©Oo0o0oOo

e The applicant shall submit a revised Basic Development Plan indicating the
corrected ROW dedication along Old Troy Pike and Chambersburg Road, as the
City engineer requires.

Discussion on sidewalk width, undeveloped half of site, left turn onto Troy, traffic
coming south, Chambersburg design timeline, 3-1 slope, full shielding on West
side, traffic lane on Troy Pike, retaining wall, 19 ft. drop, bike racks, lower the
crest on Chambersburg.

Patrick O’Leary, Eric Williams, Patrick Warnemont, Adam Malonjao, Jason
Waite, Ryan Vickers.

Action

Ms. Thomas moved to approve the request by the applicant BP-OPT, LLC, for
approval of a Rezoning from O1 to PC, and a Basic Development Plan for a gas
station convenience mart with fueling pumps (BDP 23-17) in accordance with the
recommendation of Staffs Memorandum dated July 5, 2023, and the Planning
Commission Decision Record attached thereto.

Seconded by Ms. Vargo. Roll call showed: YEAS: Mr. Jeffries, Ms. Vargo, Mr.

Cassity, Ms. Thomas, and Mr. Walton. NAYS: None. Motion to approve carried
5-0.

14



Planning Commission Meeting
July 11, 2023

VIIl. Additional Business
None.

IX.  Approval of the Minutes
Without objection, the minutes of the June 13, 2023, Planning Commission
meeting are approved.

X. Reports and Calendar Review

Mr. Sorrell stated Flying Ace, Huber Health Center, and Technology and Artz
Road.

Xl Upcoming Meetings

August 15, 2023
September 12, 2023

Xll.  Adjournment

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting
was adjourned at approximately 8:40 p.m.

Terry Walton, Chair Date

Geri Hoskins, Administrative Secretary Date

15



TA 23-14A
ZONING TEXT AMENDMENTS

August 22, 2023



TA 23-14A BUILDING MATERIALS FOR DWELLINGS

Proposed amendment attempts to align the code with recent
Planning Commission & City Council policy decisions.

Current masonry requirements:

« Straight zones: One-story home — 100% brick
1+ story dwellings — 100% brick first floor

* PUD: Discretion of Planning Commission / Council



TA 23-14A BUILDING MATERIALS FOR DWELLINGS

Proposed standards:

Materials

* Masonry defined as “full depth” or cultured brick or stone.
* Other materials may be used on non-masonry wall surfaces.
Sets a .44mm standard for vinyl thickness unless insulated.



Cultured brick
and Stone

Insulated Vinyl Siding




TA 23-14A BUILDING MATERIALS FOR DWELLINGS

Proposed Coverage Standards:

Straight zoned areas: 25% first floor front facade.

PUD areas:

« 1 & 2 family structures: 25% front facade

* Multi-family / mixed use: At least 10% of aggregate wall
surface.



TA 23-14A BUILDING MATERIALS FOR DWELLINGS

PUD areas:

When establishing the requirements, the Planning Commission
shall consider the types, location, and layout of the buildings to:

(1) Encourage a mix of building facades and material usage and
discourage monotonous building repetition.

(2) Encourage higher percentages of full depth brick, cultured
brick, stone, cultured stone, or other approved masonry product
along the frontage of major public streets and thoroughfares.



TA 23-14A BUILDING MATERIALS FOR DWELLINGS

Planning Commission recommended approval 5-0.



CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-0-

AMENDING CERTAIN SECTIONS OF PART ELEVEN, PLANNING AND ZONING
CODE, OF THE CITY CODE OF HUBER HEIGHTS (CASE TA 23-14A).

WHEREAS, the citizens of Huber Heights require City codified ordinances that are
current, up to date, and reflect the current practices and processes of the City; and

WHEREAS, the Huber Heights Planning Commission has reviewed Case TA 23-14A
and on July 11, 2023 recommended approval by a vote of 5-0 to update the building
material requirements for residential buildings; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that revisions in Chapter 1181 are
necessary to enhance and protect the general welfare of the City.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio
that:

Section 1. Part Eleven, Planning and Zoning, Chapter 1181 — General Provisions,
Section 1181.20 — Building Materials For Dwellings is hereby amended to read as
follows:

(a) One-Story Dwellings. 25% of the front fagade of one-story dwellings shall be
constructed of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, or cultured stone. Other
exterior wall areas may be constructed of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone,
cultured stone, EFIS, poured concrete, split-faced concrete block, stucco, masonry or
vinyl siding. All vinyl siding shall have a thickness of not less than 0.44mm or be
insulated.

(b) Dwellings Over One Story. The first-floor front fagade shall be constructed of 25%
of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, or cultured stone. Other exterior wall areas
may be constructed of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, cultured stone, EFIS,
poured concrete, split-faced concrete block, stucco, masonry or vinyl siding. All
vinyl siding shall have a thickness of not less than 0.44mm or be insulated.

(c) Dwellings in Planned Unit Developments. Exterior building wall material
requirements for all residential and mixed-use residential buildings shall be
established through the Basic Development Plan or Detailed Development Plan
approval. At least 10% of the aggregate multi-family or mixed-use building wall
surface, within the development, should be full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, or
cultured stone. Single-family and two-family development front fagades shall be
constructed of not less than 25% full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, or cultured
stone. When establishing the requirements, the Planning Commission shall consider
the types, location, and layout of the buildings to:

(1) Encourage a mix of building facades and material usage and discourage
monotonous building repetition.

(2) Encourage higher percentages of full depth brick, cultured brick, stone, cultured
stone, or other approved masonry product along the frontage of major public
streets and thoroughfares.

(d) Exceptions. The requirement for certain exterior walls of dwellings to be
constructed of brick or other approved masonry type of material shall not apply to:

(1) Exterior wall areas of the dwelling where federal, state and/or local building
codes prohibit the use of brick or other masonry materials such as gas fireplace
inserts, cantilevers, gables, overhangs, soffits, downspouts and gutters, kitchen
and other bays and other type of protrusion for which it is not reasonably
practical to use the material stated above.



(2) Room additions or remodeling to or of dwellings that do not comply with
subsections (a) and (b) above when such dwellings were constructed prior to
enactment of this Ordinance. Material that is used for additions or remodeling
must be similar to the existing structure and maintain the integral look of the
dwelling.

(d) Definitions. For purposes of this section, the following terms shall have the
following definitions:

(1) "Dwelling" means any building or portion thereof occupied or intended to be
occupied exclusively for residential purposes, but not including a tent, cabin,
trailer or trailer coach or other temporary or transient structure or facility.

(2) "First floor" means the highest point at the finish grade of the proposed ground
surface.

(3) "Front Fagade" means the side of the building facing the lot front as defined by
Section 1123.69 (Lot, Front).

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council
concerning and relating to the passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting
of this Council and that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that
resulted in such formal action were in meetings open to the public and in compliance
with all legal requirements including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 3. This Ordinance shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law
and the Charter of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the day of ,2023;
Yeas; Nays.

Effective Date:

AUTHENTICATION:

Clerk of Council Mayor

Date Date



Al-9451 New Business D.

City Council Meeting City Manager
Meeting Date: 08/28/2023
Collective Bargaining Agreements - FOP, OLC, Inc. - Sergeants - Police Division
Submitted By: Katie Knisley
Department: Human Resources
Council Committee Review?: Council Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/22/2023
Work
Session
Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title

A Resolution Approving The Collective Bargaining Agreement With The Fraternal Order Of Police, Ohio
Labor Council, Inc. Representing Sergeants In The Police Division For The Time Period January 1,
2023 Through December 31, 2025.

(first reading)

Purpose and Background

The City and the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. have been in negotiations and
have agreed upon a new three-year contract. This legislation will approve the contract as negotiated
and authorize the City Manager to sign the Collective Bargaining Agreement with the FOP, OLC, Inc.
representing the Sergeants in the Police Division.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A

Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Resolution
Exhibit A




CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R-

APPROVING THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT WITH THE FRATERNAL
ORDER OF POLICE, OHIO LABOR COUNCIL, INC. REPRESENTING SERGEANTS IN THE
POLICE DIVISION FOR THE TIME PERIOD JANUARY 1, 2023 THROUGH DECEMBER 31,
2025.

WHEREAS, representatives of the City of Huber Heights and the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio
Labor Council, Inc. representing Sergeants in the Police Division, have been involved in active
collective bargaining; and

WHEREAS, those negotiations have resulted in a new Collective Bargaining Agreement with this
bargaining unit, which agreement commences on January 1, 2023 and expires on December 31,
2025.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that:

Section 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute on behalf of the City of Huber
Heights the collective bargaining agreement between the City of Huber Heights and the Fraternal
Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc, referred to above and is appended hereto as Exhibit A and
made a part hereof.

Section 2. The wages as set forth in the respective Collective Bargaining Agreement shall be
effective retroactively in accordance with Article 20 of the attached agreement.

Section 3. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning
and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action
were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 4. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the
Charter of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the day of ,2023;
Yeas; Nays.

Effective Date:

AUTHENTICATION:

Clerk of Council Mayor

Date Date



Exhibit A
AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

HUBER HEIGHTS

AND

OHIO LABOR COUNCIL

THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE,
OHIO LABOR COUNCIL, INC.

SERGEANTS

January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2025

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 AGREEMENT ...
ARTICLE 2 RECOGNITION ...
ARTICLE 3 LODGE/LABOR COUNCIL SECURITY .....ccovviiiiiiiiinininen.
ARTICLE 4 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS ...
ARTICLE 5 NON-DISCRIMINATION ..o,
ARTICLE 6 LODGE/LABOR COUNCIL BUSINESS ........cccoiiiiii
ARTICLE 7 NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT ..ot
ARTICLE 8 LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE .........c..coooiiiiiiniii.
ARTICLE 9 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ........c.cooiiiiiiii
ARTICLE 10 INVESTIGATIONS, INTERVIEWS AND DISCIPLINE ............
ARTICLE 11 PERSONNEL RECORDS ...,
ARTICLE 12 SENIORITY ..ot
ARTICLE 13 PROBATIONARY PERIOD .....ccciiiiiiiiiiieee
ARTICLE 14 SUBSTANCE TESTING ..ottt
ARTICLE 15 LAYOFF AND RECALL ...
ARTICLE 16 RULES AND REGULATIONS ...
ARTICLE 17 PROMOTIONS ..
ARTICLE 18 HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME ...,
ARTICLE 19 TIME OFF RULES. ...
ARTICLE 20 COMPENSATION ...
ARTICLE 21 HOLIDAYS AND PERSONAL LEAVE DAYS ...t
ARTICLE 22 VACATION ..o
ARTICLE 23 MEDICAL INSURANCE COVERAGE ........c..cooiiiiiiiin,
ARTICLE 24 UNIFORMS ...
ARTICLE 25 SICK LEAVE ..
ARTICLE 26 WAGE CONTINUATION ..o
ARTICLE 27 OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE ...
ARTICLE 28 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT ... e
ARTICLE 29 FITNESS FOR DUTY ..utiiiii e
ARTICLE 30 MISCELLANEOUS ...,
ARTICLE 31 DURATION OF AGREEMENT ..o,
SIGNATURE PAGE ...
AP PEN DD X A L
APPENDIX B ..
2

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



ARTICLE 1
AGREEMENT

Section 1.1. Agreement. This Agreement, is by and between the City of Huber Heights,
Ohio, hereinafter referred to as the "City" or "Employer" and the Fraternal Order of Police, Gary
Sherman Lodge 161, The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc., hereinafter
referred to as the "Lodge" or "Labor Council".

This Agreement shall replace any existing Collective Bargaining Agreement between the parties.
Section 1.2. Purpose. The purpose of this Agreement is:

A. To comply with the requirements of Chapter 4117 of the Ohio Revised Code and to set
forth the full and complete understandings and agreements between the parties.

B. To prevent interruptions of work and delivery of service to the citizens of Huber Heights.
C. To establish a procedure for the resolution of grievances.

Section 1.3. Modification of Agreement. The express provisions of this Agreement may be
changed only by mutual agreement between the parties, reduced to writing, dated, and signed by
the parties to this Agreement.

Section 1.4. Savings Clause. This Agreement supersedes and replaces all pertinent statutes,
ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations over which it has authority to supersede and
replace. Where this Agreement is silent, the provisions of applicable law shall prevail. Should
any portion of this Agreement contained herein be declared invalid by operation of law or by a
court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidation of said part or provision shall not invalidate the
remaining portions hereof and they shall remain in full force and effect. In addition, within thirty
(30) calendar days following the effective date of such declaration of invalidity, the parties shall
meet in good faith negotiations to attempt to modify such provision to comply with applicable
law.

Section 1.5. Waiver in Case of Emergency. In cases of emergency declared by the President
of the United States, the Governor of the state of Ohio, the Montgomery County Sheriff, the City
Manager of Huber Heights, or any other authorized governmental official, for acts of God or
civil disorder, the following conditions of this Agreement may be temporarily suspended by the
Employer

A. Time limits for the processing of grievances; and

B. Selected work rules and/or agreements and practices relating to the assignment of
employees.

Section 1.6. Waiver of Bargaining.  The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations
which resulted in this agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands
3

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective
bargaining, and that the understanding and agreement arrived at by the parties after the exercise of
that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the parties agree that for the
life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and agrees that the
other shall not be obliged, to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to
or covered in this Agreement. With respect to any subject or matter not referred to or covered in
this Agreement, the provisions of applicable law shall apply.

ARTICLE 2
RECOGNITION

Section 2.1. Recognition. The City recognizes the Labor Council, as identified in Section 1.1
of this agreement, as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative with respect to wages,
hours, and other terms and conditions of employment for all full-time employees that were
certified by the State Employment Relations Board in Case Number 84-RC-07-1635, as amended
on October 9, 1985 in case numbers 85-AC-06-3881 and 85-AC-06-3882 and on May 1, 2014 in
Case No. 2014-REP-04-0050 , in the following unit:

Included: All Full-time Sergeants employed by the Police Division, City of
Huber Heights, Ohio.

Excluded: Chief of Police, Lieutenants, Patrol Officers, Detectives, Corporals,
Dispatchers, Clerks/Secretaries, Chiefs Secretary, and all other
employees.

Section 2.2. Other Positions. Any new, full-time sworn positions within the division shall be
subject to challenge by the Labor Council to the State Employment Relations Board, for
inclusion or exclusion as bargaining unit members, pursuant to Chapter 4117 of the Ohio
Revised Code and the SERB Rules and Regulations.

ARTICLE 3
LODGE/LLABOR COUNCIL SECURITY

Section 3.1. Dues Deductions. The Lodge and Labor Council will notify the City in writing
of the dues it charges and its current membership, and will update this information as needed to
be accurate. The Labor Council shall provide at least thirty (30) days written notice to the
Director of Finance of the amount of Labor Council dues and /or representation fee to be
deducted from the wage of employees in accordance with this section. Any change in the
amount determined will be provided to the Director of Finance at least thirty (30) days prior to
its implementation. Said change is to be made only by proper written notice from the Labor
Council and shall not be made more than twice a calendar year. Exceptions may be made upon
written requests from the Labor Council and the written approval by the City Manager.

The Lodge/Labor Council shall obtain from the employee a completed check-off authorization
form which shall conform to the respective state and federal laws concerning that subject, or any
interpretation made thereof. The City’s Director of Finance may return an incomplete or
incorrectly completed form to the Labor Council and no check-off shall be made until such
deficiency is corrected.

4

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



The Director of Finance will withhold the Labor Council membership dues of any Labor Council
member from the available wages earned by such Labor Council member bi-monthly, and
transmit the same to the Labor Council via ACH or USPS to 222 East Town Street, Columbus,
Ohio, 43215-4611, within thirty (30) days after the last deduction for the month, upon
presentation of written authorization from the Labor Council member (Appendix "A" is a current
example).

The Director of Finance will withhold the Lodge membership dues of any Lodge member from
the available wages earned by such Lodge member bi-monthly, and transmit the same to the
designated lodge official within thirty (30) days after the last deduction for the month, upon
presentation of written authorization from the lodge member.

The City shall check off only obligations which become due at the time of check-off and will
make check-off deductions only if the employee has enough pay due to cover such obligation,
and will not be responsible to the employee if the employee has duplicated a check-off deduction
by direct payment to the Labor Council.

The City's remittance will be deemed correct if the Lodge/Labor Council does not give notice, in
writing, to the Director of Finance within four (4) weeks after a remittance is sent, with reasons
stated therefore, that the remittance is incorrect.

No other employee organization's dues shall be deducted from the pay of any bargaining unit
member during the life of this Agreement.

Section 3.2. Indemnification. The Lodge and Labor Council shall indemnify and save the
City harmless against any and all claims that shall arise out of or by reason of action taken by the
City in reliance upon the Authorization for Dues Deduction. The Lodge/Labor Council assumes
full responsibility for the disposition of the deductions so made, once they have been sent to the
Lodge/Labor Council.

Section 3.3. Lodge/L.abor Council Membership. It shall not be a condition of employment
for any employee to either acquire or maintain membership in the Lodge or the Labor Council.
Any employee who is a member of the Lodge or Labor Council may withdraw authorization for
dues deduction by the City by directing a request thirty (30) days in advance, in writing to the
City Finance Director with a copy to the Lodge or Labor Council.

During the first pay period in January and July of each year, the employer shall provide the
FOP/OLC aroster of all bargaining unit members. Should the Employer receive notice from a
bargaining unit member of the revocation of the dues deduction authorization and withdrawal
from FOP/OLC membership, the Employer shall notify the FOP/OLC, in writing, within seven
(7) days of the notice of revocation. Additionally, the Employer shall notify the FOP/OLC of
any new hires within the bargaining unit. Such notification shall be in writing to the FOP/OLC
within 30 days of their hire date.

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



Dues deductions shall cease upon the happening of any of the following events:
A. Resignation or discharge of the employee;
B. Transfer of the employee from the bargaining unit; or
C. Revocation of the dues deduction authorization.

Section 3.4 . Bulletin Boards.

A. Bulletin boards as presently provided, and as may be installed in the future by the City,
may be used by the Lodge and Labor Council for posting notices of the following types:

Recreational and social events.

Elections and election results.

General membership meetings and other related business meetings.
General Lodge and Labor Council business of interest to members.

e

B. The Lodge and Labor Council agree that no notices will be placed on the bulletin boards
which contain:

Personal attacks upon any City employee.

Scandalous, scurrilous or derogatory attacks upon management;
Attacks on any other employee organizations;

Any obscene or ethnic material;

Any political material containing partisan or non-partisan issues.

Nk W=

C. Notices may be reviewed by the Chief of Police and any bulletins or notices considered
inflammatory, political or devoted to Labor Council organizing and pending grievances
will not be permitted on any City bulletin boards, nor will they be permitted to be
displayed in City offices, facilities, equipment, etc. If such inflammatory, political or
organizing notices appear on said bulletin boards, they shall be removed by management.

Section 3.5  Use of Divisional Mail System. The Lodge and Labor Council will be
permitted to utilize, at no cost or loss of time to the City (including no use of City materials and
equipment), the Divisional Mail System for the purpose of providing information pertaining to
Lodge and Labor Council business to bargaining unit employees. The Lodge and Labor
Council agree that the use of the mail system will be reasonable and limited to providing
information that is necessary for the normal conduct of Lodge and Labor Council business or
bargaining unit representation.

Section 3.6 Place for Meetings. Meetings of the Committees of the Lodge and Labor
Council will be permitted on City property when and where work is not interrupted by such
meetings, and when such meetings are not held during the regularly scheduled duty hours of the
participants on the day in question. The Lodge and Labor Council will work with the City to
identify space in the police division for such meetings.

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



ARTICLE 4
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 4.1. Management Rights. The Lodge and Labor Council recognize that except as
specifically limited or abrogated by the terms and provisions of this Agreement, all rights to
manage, direct or supervise the operations of the Huber Heights Police Division and its
employees are vested solely and exclusively in the Employer.

Nothing contained herein shall be considered to deny or restrict the City of its rights,
responsibilities, and authority under the laws of the State of Ohio or any other national, state
county, district, or local laws or regulations as they pertain to conducting the affairs of the City.
Those rights include, but are not limited to the following:

A.

™

G.
H

L.

To determine matters of inherent managerial policy which include but are not limited
to areas of discretion or policy such as functions and programs of the Employer,
standards of services, its overall budget, utilization of technology, and organizational
structure;

. To direct, supervise, evaluate, or hire employees;

To maintain and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of operations and
programs;

To determine the overall methods, process, means or personnel by which operations
are to be conducted;

To suspend, discipline, demote or discharge for just cause, or layoff, transfer, assign,
schedule, promote or retain employees;

To determine the adequacy of the work force;

To determine the mission of the Division as a unit of City government;

. To effectively manage the work force;

To take action to carry out the mission of the Employer as a governmental unit.

Except as expressly provided otherwise by the terms of this Agreement, the determination
and administration of City policy, the operation of the City and the direction of the
employees are vested ultimately in the City Manager and delegated exclusively to the Chief
of Police.

FOP/OLC Sergeants

January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



ARTICLE 5
NON-DISCRIMINATION

Section S5.1. Egqual Application. The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to
employees without discrimination, which would violate applicable laws because of age, sex,
race, color, national origin, religion, or disability. The Labor Council and the City shall share the
responsibility for implementing this section of the Agreement.

Section 5.2. Union Membership Non-Discrimination. There shall be no discrimination by
the City, the Lodge or the Labor Council against any employee on the basis of such employee's
membership or non-membership in, the Lodge or the Labor Council.

Section 5.3. Gender. All references to employees in this Agreement designate both sexes, and
wherever either gender is used, it shall be construed to include male and female employees.

ARTICLE 6
LODGE/LLABOR NCIL BUSINE

Section 6.1. Lodge/Labor Council Business. The Lodge/Labor Council agree that except as

specifically provided by the terms and provisions of this Agreement, employees shall not be
permitted to engage in union activity during working hours. The City, the Lodge and the Labor
Council agree to work toward the goal of scheduling meetings at a date and time which minimize
the loss of manpower to Division.

Section 6.2. Representation. The Labor Council may select one (1) Representative and
one (1) alternate Representative to act in the absence of the Representative, for this bargaining
unit. The Labor Council shall notify the City in writing of the names of the Representatives and
will promptly update such names as necessary to be accurate. Only those Representatives listed
by the Labor Council in writing will be permitted to conduct business on behalf of the Labor
Council.

Section 6.3. Grievance Investigations. A Labor Council Representative may investigate
grievances as defined herein and formal disciplinary action, once it has been issued by the City.
To the extent practicable, such investigation will be conducted so as not to interfere with normal
duty hours of the Labor Council Representative or any other Bargaining Unit Member. With the
prior permission of the Chief of Police or designee, the Labor Council Representative may be
allowed reasonable time without loss of pay for such investigation. Permission will not be
unreasonably denied.

Section 6.4. Labor Council Release Time. The City will make provisions for a total of
twenty-four (24) hours authorized leave annually for Labor Council Officials (or designees) and
twenty-four (24) hours authorized leave annually for Lodge officials (or designees) to attend
conventions or other major business meetings. An employee may use such leave in half-hour
(1/2) increments or more. Partial increments will be “rounded up” to the next complete half
hour. (For example, forty-five minutes will be “rounded” to one hour and twenty minutes will be
“rounded” to one-half hour.) The above time off for such officials (or designees) shall be time
off with full pay at no expense to the employee's accrued leave time.

8

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



Officials of the Lodge/Labor Council shall, at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of the
function submit notice to the Chief of Police identifying the function, certify the member
attending, and indicate the starting and ending date and applicable scheduled hours for each
employee. The Chief will approve the request within three working days after receipt, provided
Division Operations will not be unreasonably affected on the scheduled days in question.

Section 6.5. Negotiations. The Labor Council will identify the members of its negotiating
team at the time it provides the City with written notice of a desire to renegotiate terms of this
Agreement. No more than three (3) Officers shall be included on the Labor Council negotiating
team. The City will transfer any member working shifts other than day shifts to day shifts on the
days negotiations take place and allow members of the Labor Council negotiating team time
without loss of pay to participate in negotiation meetings with the City. If an agreement is not
reached through negotiations, including mediation, the City will allow time without loss of pay
for meetings called by the Fact Finder or Conciliator for only the Labor Council’s Chief
Negotiator (or designee) and the other members of the Labor Council’s negotiating team.

Section 6.6. Labor Council Staff Representative. The Business Staff Representative may

consult with employees before the start of or at the completion of the day's work. Such
representative shall be permitted in the assembly area at all reasonable times only for the purpose
of adjusting grievances, assisting in the settlement of disputes, and for the purpose of carrying
into effect the provisions and aims of this Agreement. However, the Representative must notify
management when such representative will be present in the assembly area. The staff
representative shall not disrupt the normal operation of the Police Division.

ARTICLE 7
NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT

Section 7.1. No Strike. During the life of this Agreement, the Labor Council shall not cause,
authorize, sanction or condone, nor shall any member of the Labor Council take part in any
strike, sit-down, stay-in, slow-down, work stoppage, curtailment of work, concerted use of paid
leave time, restriction of work, or interference with the operations of the Police Division or City
of any kind for any reason, including a labor dispute between the City and any other labor
organization.

The Labor Council agrees that it (and its officers) will take prompt affirmative action to prevent
or stop unauthorized strikes, sit-downs, slow-downs, work stoppages, curtailment of work,
concerted use of paid leave time, restrictions of work or interference with the operation of the
Police Division or City by notifying the Employees and the public in writing that it disavows
these acts. The Labor Council further agrees that the Chief of Police and the City have the right
to discipline (including discharge) any or all employees who violate this Article, except that the
Grievance Procedure shall be available to such employees only to contend that they had not
participated or engaged in such prohibited conduct.

Section 7.2. No Lockout. During the life of this Agreement, the Employer shall not cause,
permit, or engage in any lockout of the bargaining unit employees.

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



ARTICLE 8
LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Section 8.1.Committee. In the interest of sound Labor/Management relations, the City and the
Labor Council shall establish a Labor-Management Committee, which shall normally consist of
up to three (3) members from the bargaining unit and up to three (3) members appointed by the
City. Each member shall serve at the pleasure of the appointing party, and may be replaced from
time to time. The Committee shall establish its own rules of procedure and shall meet from time
to time to discuss and investigate issues of mutual concern. Additionally, one (1) non-employee
representative of the Labor Council and/or the City shall be permitted to attend such meetings
with prior notification to the other party.

Section 8.2.Agenda. The party requesting the meeting shall furnish an agenda with the request
for the meeting. The Labor Council will furnish the names of the employees who will be
attending.

Section 8.3.Meetings /Attendance. The time, date and location of meetings shall be mutually
agreed upon by the City and the Labor Council. Employee representatives attending
Labor/Management meetings shall not suffer a loss in pay for hours spent in such meetings, if
held during the employee's regular scheduled hours of work. Meetings may be rescheduled to
avoid shift coverage on an overtime basis.

ARTICLE 9
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Section 9.1. Grievance Defined.
A. A grievance is defined as being any dispute or controversy between an employee or the Labor
Council and the City involving:
1. The interpretation, application, or claimed violation of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

2. The discipline of any Bargaining Unit Member; or

3. The reasonableness of application of any work rule established and enforced by the City.
B. A group grievance is a grievance as defined in Paragraph A above, which uniformly affects a

group of employees. The group will be comprised of only those bargaining unit members who sign the
grievance when it is first presented in writing.

C. Grievances involving the equivalent of verbal and written reprimands may be grieved up to the
City Manager, but are not subject to the arbitration procedure.

D. Grievances involving lost time, lost pay or demotion shall be submitted directly to Step Three.

Section 9.2. Jurisdiction. Nothing in this section igjntended to deny a Bargaining Unit Member or the

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



Labor Council any rights available at law to achieve redress of their legal rights. However, suspensions,
reductions in rank, and discharges are subject to this Grievance and Arbitration Procedure and may not be
the subject of a civil service appeal. Once the bargaining unit member or the Labor Council elects a
remedy through some other official body (and that body takes jurisdiction), they are thereafter denied the
remedy of the Grievance Procedure provided herein. However, to the extent a grievable grievance matter
is or can be made the subject of a related SERB unfair labor practice charge, the parties agree that deferral
to arbitration will in all cases be the preferred remedy in that the resolution of the matter through
arbitration will serve as the sole exclusive remedy.

Section 9.3. Procedure. All employees will make an earnest and honest effort to settle differences and
disputes with their immediate supervisor without filing a grievance. In the event that an agreement cannot
be reached, then the following steps shall be taken with respect to any grievance. Grievances will be
settled at the earliest possible step of the procedure. Any grievance not initiated or taken to the next step
within the time limits specified herein will be considered to be resolved. Any answer to a grievance that
has not been timely filed shall permit the Labor Council to appeal the grievance to the next higher step in
the grievance process. Time limits for invoking the next higher step in the grievance procedure shall

commence on the date the grievance answer is due. The Bargaining Unit Member must proceed through
all steps of the grievance procedure in a proper order and within the prescribed time limits, except as
otherwise provided in this procedure. A grievant may have a Labor Council representative, or may waive
the right to have one present at any step of the procedure.

Step One: An employee having an individual grievance will first attempt to resolve it informally
with the supervisor whose actions gave rise to the incident. Such attempt at informal resolution shall be
made by the employee with or without Labor Council representation, within seven (7) business days
following the events or circumstances giving rise to the grievance having occurred, or within seven (7)
business days of when the events or circumstances should have become known to the employee. At this
step, there is no requirement that the grievance be submitted in writing. If a supervisor grants a grievance
at verbal levels, written acknowledgment of granting such grievance must be furnished. If the employee is
not satisfied with the oral response from the supervisor, which shall be given within seven (7) business
days of the submission of the grievance at this step.

The grievance may be referred to Step Two of the grievance procedure within seven (7) business days
after receipt of the decision rendered in Step One.

Step Two: The grievance shall be referred in writing to the Chief of Police, or the Chief's designee
who will hold a grievance hearing and reply in writing within seven (7) business days after the hearing. If
the Bargaining Unit Member is not satisfied with the written answer of the Chief of Police, the grievance
may be referred to Step Three of the grievance procedure within seven (7) business days after receipt of
the decision rendered in Step Two.

Step Three:  If the grievance is not resolved in Step Two, it may then be appealed by the employee to

the City Manager. Within seven (7) business days, a mutually agreeable date shall be scheduled for said

hearing. Each party may have a representative and any necessary witness present for the hearing. The City

Manager (or designated representative) will answer the grievance within seven (7) business days after the
11

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



hearing has concluded. If the City fails to reply within the above time limit, the grievance may be referred
to the next step by the Labor Council within seven (7) business days.

Step Four: If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step Three, the grievance may be
appealed by the Labor Council to arbitration pursuant to the terms of this Step Four.

A. Notice of the appeal to arbitration must be served on the City Manager in writing within twenty-
one (21) calendar days after the written answer was given at Step Three. Either party, within ten (10)
business days thereafter, may request a panel of nine (9) arbitrators from the Federal Mediation and
Conciliation Service (FMCS). The parties shall alternately strike the names of arbitrators until only one
(1) name remains. Each party has the right to reject one submitted panel and request another. The parties
may, by mutual agreement, select an arbitrator without requesting a panel from the FMCS or other similar
service. A date for arbitration shall be set in accordance with the wishes of the parties and the availability
of the arbitrator.

B. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, modify or amend any of the terms
of this Agreement or addendum to this Agreement. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to rule on
anything that happened before the effective date of this Agreement, or after the expiration of this
Agreement. The Arbitrator shall promptly hear the matter and shall issue a decision within sixty (60)
calendar days from the close of the hearing or the submission of post-hearing briefs; whichever is later,
unless the parties grant additional time.

C. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on the City, the Labor Council, and all
persons, subject to appeal as provided by law.

D. The City and the Labor Council shall each bear its own expenses in any arbitration. The expenses
of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the parties.

Section 9.4. Extensions of Time. Upon the mutual agreement of the parties expressed in writing, the
time limits set forth in this Article may be extended or the steps herein waived. All time periods cited in

this article shall be interpreted to exclude Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays. Except as otherwise
expressly provided "days" as listed in this procedure shall be working days for the moving person at each
step.

Section 9.5. Content of Grievances. All written grievances must contain the following information on a

Labor Council Grievance Form to be considered.

A. Aggrieved employee's name and signature.
B. Date grievance was first discussed and name of the supervisor with whom the grievance was
discussed.
C. Date grievance was filed in writing.
D. Date and time grievance occurred.
12
FOP/OLC Sergeants

January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



E. Location where the grievance occurred.
F. A brief description of the incident, giving rise to the grievance.

G. The specific sections of this Agreement which are alleged to have been violated, misinterpreted
or misapplied.

H. Desired remedy to resolve the grievance.

ARTICLE 10
INVESTIGATIONS. INTERVIEWS AND DISCIPLINE

Section 10.1. Purpese. The purpose of this procedure is to outline the process to be followed
in the handling of an investigation dealing with complaints or misconduct by employees of the
Police Division.

Section 10.2. Police Investigations Procedures. The City will use the existing chain of
command structure to clarify complaints or allegations regarding members of the Police

Division. In general, unless a special Grand Jury has been convened, the Police Division will be
used to investigate complaints or allegations against employees unless the Chief defers to other
qualified law enforcement agencies. Any criminal investigation will first be prefaced by a review
of the complaint or allegation by the Chief of Police.

Section 10.3.Internal Investigations.

A. Employees shall be notified in writing at the beginning of a formal internal investigation
unless such notification would jeopardize such investigation.

B. Employees will be paid for the time during which they are being interviewed. The interviews
will be held at the Police Division, or at a location designated by the Chief of Police. An
employee will be permitted to have a Labor Council representative and/or legal counsel
present during an interview, should the employee feel such interview could lead to discipline.

C. The employee shall be informed of the nature of the investigation prior to questioning and shall
be informed to the extent known at that time, whether the investigation is focused on the
member for potential disciplinary charges.

D. The Chief of Police shall be updated in writing every forty-five (45) days an investigation is
still open. The Chief shall report the status of such investigations to the Labor Council within
three (3) days.

E. When the City orders an employee to provide information in an investigation, such
information may not be used in any criminal proceedings against the employee. Such
information may be used by the City in taking action and in defending such action with
respect to discharge or discipline of the employee. Before an employee may be charged for
refusal to answer questions or participate in i investigation, the employee shall be advised

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



that refusal to answer such questions or participate in such investigation may be the basis of
such a charge, in itself.

An employee may be required, at City expense, to undergo alcohol and/or substance abuse
testing in accordance with Article 14 of this Agreement, and/or a fitness for duty evaluation,
which may include both physical and mental fitness.

The accused employee being interviewed shall not be subject to offensive language or
threatened with transfer, dismissal or disciplinary action. No promise or reward shall be made
as an inducement to answer any questions.

An employee may be given a polygraph examination or a voice stress examination if the
Chief has reason to believe the employee is a witness to an incident or occurrence being
investigated; at the employee’s written request directly to the Chief; or if the employee is a
focus of an investigation specifically related to the performance of the employee’s official
duties. An employee shall not be disciplined based solely on the results of such examination.

An employee, who has been under investigation, will be informed of the outcome of the case
within seven days following the conclusion of the investigation, culminating with the
concurrence of the Chief of Police.

Any employee who may be subject to disciplinary action the primary basis of which

was generated by a citizen complaint, shall be entitled to a copy of such complaint prior to the
implementation of disciplinary action. The City also shall provide a copy to the Union.
Unsigned and/or anonymous complaints shall not form the sole basis of disciplinary action.

All complaints filed in conformance with Section J will be investigated in a fair and
impartial manner.

. All complaints that are determined to be unfounded shall not be included in the

personnel file of the affected employee and may not be used in any subsequent disciplinary
procedure, although the City will maintain any documents related to such complaints in
accordance with the Ohio Public Records Law. Anonymous materials shall not be placed in an
employee's personnel file unless an investigation determines the complaint is sustained.

Section 10.4.Discipline.

A.

No employee shall be disciplined, reduced in pay or position, suspended, or discharged,
without just cause. The City agrees to begin the disciplinary process within ten (10) calendar
days of receipt of knowledge of any act requiring discipline or within ten (10) calendar days
of the conclusion of an investigation that results in discipline. The time limits for
commencing discipline shall be extended in cases of pre-approved vacation and leave days.
Documented warnings and reprimands that do not involve a reduction in pay or position,
suspension, or discharge are not appealable to binding arbitration.

The principles of progressive disciplinary action normally shall be followed with respect to

minor offenses. It shall be corrective in nature, and applied in a uniform manner. Normal
14

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



progressive discipline shall consist of, but not be limited to, a documented verbal warning,
written warning, written reprimand, short-term unpaid suspension [one (1) to ten (10) days], a
long-term unpaid suspension, (more than ten (10) days), reduction in rank and discharge. A letter of
counseling will be considered pre-disciplinary in nature, and will not be subject to the grievance
procedure.

The City may take disciplinary action deemed necessary by the circumstances on a case-by-
case basis.

The City agrees not to suspend without pay, demote or discharge an employee without first
conducting a hearing. The hearing will be held among the City, the employee, and a Labor

Council representative if the employee so desires. A copy of the charges will be sent to the
employee not less than three (3) working days prior to the date of the hearing.

In cases where a suspension of ten (10) days or less has been imposed on a bargaining unit
member, the City may offer the member the option to forfeit accrued compensatory time or
vacation leave. If such an offer is made and accepted, the forfeiture shall be one (1) hour of
accrued compensatory time or vacation leave, for each hour of proposed suspension. The forfeiture
of leave shall constitute disciplinary action of record the same as though the suspension had been
served and shall be placed in the employee's personnel file. The forfeiture of leave shall constitute the
final resolution of the divisional charges, and once accepted by the bargaining unit member, forfeiture
of accrued leave is not subject to further appeal through the grievance procedure or otherwise.

No public disclosure shall be initiated by the City of any disciplinary action taken or
proposed against a Bargaining Unit Employee unless and until criminal charges have also
been filed. Nothing in this section shall preempt and/or violate State or Federal law.

The Labor Council recognizes that the Employer may take disciplinary action for actions
occurring while the employee is working off-duty details, while wearing the uniform of the
Employer, or while off duty representing themselves as an employee of the Employer.

Section 10.5. Effect of Disciplinary Action.

1)

2)

3)

Oral Reprimands. Records of oral reprimands shall cease to have force and effect or be
considered in future discipline matters nine (9) months after their effective date, providing
there are no intervening disciplinary actions taken during that time period.

Written Reprimand. Records of written reprimands shall cease to have force and effect or be
considered in future disciplinary matters fifteen (15) months after their effective date,
providing there are no intervening disciplinary actions taken during that time period.

Suspensions/ Other Discipline. Records of suspension or any other discipline shall cease to
have force and effect or be considered in future discipline matters thirty-six (36) months after
their effective date, providing there are no intervening disciplinary actions taken during that
time period.

15

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



ARTICLE 11
PERSONNEL RECORDS

Section 11.1. Access to Personnel Records. Upon written request to the Chief of Police, an
employee shall have access to the employee's records during normal office hours of the records
custodian. Such access to personnel records shall be within a reasonable time of said request.
Such request shall not interfere with the employee's regularly scheduled working hours. Review
of the records shall be made in the presence of the Chief or the Chief's designated representative.

Section 11.2.Copies of Personnel Records. An employee may copy documents in that
employee's personnel records. The City may, at its discretion, charge reasonable copying cost to

the employee for requested copies furnished to the employee.

Section 11.3.Clarification/ Explanation of Material in Personnel Records. An employee
shall be permitted to insert written clarifications or explanatory memorandums of material found

in the employee's personnel file, within five (5) days of the employee's knowledge of such
material in the file.

Section 11.4.Requests for Release of Personnel Records. To the extent allowed by State or
Federal Law and by State or Federal Court Decisions, personnel records shall be considered as

public records. Whenever a request for disclosure of a personnel record is made by a member of
the public, notice of such request and the identity of the requestor, will be given to the affected
employee(s). The employee may request a meeting with the keeper of the records to discuss any
appropriate reason some records should not be released. In the event that the employee believes
that some of the records should not be released, it shall be the responsibility of the employee to
notify the Chief of Police or the City Manager of the concern. No personal family information
shall be released to anyone except as may be required by law or ordered by a court.

ARTICLE 12
SENIORITY

Section 12.1.Definition.

A. City Seniority. City seniority shall mean an employee's length of continuous service with
the City, based on the employee's most recent date of hire with the City. City seniority shall
be the basis for such benefits as accumulation of sick leave, vacation accrual, and/or other
cumulative monetary fringe benefits based on length of service.

B. Bargaining Unit Seniority. Bargaining Unit seniority shall mean an employee's length of
continuous service in the Bargaining Unit classification based on the original date of
appointment in the division or transfer into the division.

C. Rank Seniority. Rank seniority shall mean the length of continuous service in a rank
commencing form the date of the employee's service in each rank and shall include the period
of time occupying an equal or higher rank. Watch Commanders shall have rank seniority in
the classification of Sergeant.

16

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



Seniority shall not be broken by approved leaves of absence or suspensions. Employees who are
employed on the same date shall be placed on a seniority roster in alphabetical order of
surnames.

Section 12.2.Seniority List. The Employer will maintain an up-to-date seniority list. A copy of
the seniority list will be posted on the appropriate bulletin board each year or when updated
whichever is less. The names of all employees shall be listed on the seniority list in order of their
last hiring date, and the date of entry into the division, starting with the senior employee at the
top of the list. The City shall furnish a copy of the seniority list to the Labor Council when it is
published.

Section 12.3. Termination of Seniority. The following situations constitute breaks in
continuous service for which seniority is lost:
. Discharge;

. Resignation;
. Retirement;

. Layoff for more than twenty-four (24) months or the length of the employee's seniority,
whichever is less;

Failure to return to work at the expiration of a leave of absence;
Failure to return to work when recalled from layoff.

. Absent without leave for three (3) consecutive working days unless later excused by the Chief of
Police.

. New full-time employment elsewhere without written permission.

ARTICLE 13
PROBATIONARY PERIOD

Section 13.1.Probationary Period Newly promoted bargaining unit employees are required to
successfully complete a probationary period as follows:

A. The employee shall be on job probation in the promoted rank for a period of six (6) months.
The purpose of the job probation is to give the City an opportunity to observe the employee
at work in such classification and to form an opinion as to whether the employee has the
ability, knowledge and skills required to satisfactorily perform the job duties. During the
job probation, the employee may be demoted at any time the employee demonstrates the
inability to satisfactorily perform the requirements of the job, or at the employee’s request.
If so demoted, the employee shall be returned to the last previous rank the employee
permanently occupied. Such demotion is specifically excluded from the grievance
procedure.

17

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



B. Ifan employee is not in active pay status during any period of time during the probationary
period, then the time of such leave or inactive status is not counted as part of the
probationary period. For the purpose of extending the probationary period, any leave of less
than six (6) workdays will not be considered.

ARTICLE 14
SUBSTANCE TESTING

Section 14.1. Purpose of Policy. The purpose of this policy is to assure employees are fit for
duty and to protect our employees and the public from the risks posed by the use of drugs and
alcohol.

The presence of drugs and alcohol on the job, and the influence of these substances on
employees during working hours, are inconsistent with the objective to maintain a drug and
alcohol-free workplace. To further our commitment of maintaining a drug and alcohol-free
workplace in order to provide a safe work environment for employees and safe service delivery to
the public, it is our policy to:

A.  Ensure that employees are not impaired in their ability to perform their work in a safe,
productive manner,

B.  Conduct pre-employment, reasonable suspicion, and post-accident drug and alcohol testing,
and

C. Encourage employees to seek professional assistance any time alcohol or drug use
adversely affect their ability to perform their work assignments.

Section 14.2. Emplovees Covered. This policy applies to all employees covered by this
agreement.

Section 14.3. Prohibited Conduct.

A.  “Alcohol” means the intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl alcohol, or other low
molecular weight alcohols including methyl and isopropyl (rubbing) alcohol. Employees
must not consume alcohol:

1. On the job, during hours of work, during city meal periods (paid or unpaid), or during city
rest periods, or

2. Up to four (4) hours following an accident or until the employee undergoes a post-accident
test, whichever occurs first.

B. Alcoholic beverages may be served at City-organized and hosted functions only with the
express written consent of the City Manager or designee. Employees working at the
function are not to consume alcoholic beverages while on duty. Employees in approved
social attendance at functions where alcohol is served may consume alcoholic beverages so
long as this is done in proper moderation and with decorum.

18

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



C. “Controlled substance” means those substances identified as such in Schedules I through V
of Section 202 of the Controlled Substance Act (21 U.S.C. 812) and as further defined by
21 CFR 1300.11 through 1300.15. Employees must not consume any controlled substance
without a prescription from a licensed doctor of medicine or osteopathy. This includes:
marijuana, amphetamines, opiates, phencyclidine (PCP), and cocaine.

D. Employees must not refuse to take a required drug or alcohol test. Refusal to take a test will
be considered a positive test for purposes of this policy.

E. Employees must not be under the influence of or in possession of alcohol or drugs while on
duty (except authorized, duty-related possession) and must not carry/store drugs or alcohol
in any vehicle in which they are a passenger while on duty.

F.  The unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession or use of a controlled
substance is prohibited in the Clty of Huber Heights workplace. An employee convicted of
violating a criminal drug statute in the workplace must notify the Human Resources Director no
later than five (5) working days after such conviction. The Human Resources Director will notify
the U.S. Department of Commerce of the criminal violation within ten (10) working days.

Section 14.4. L.egal Drugs. The appropriate use of legally prescribed medications and non-
prescription medications is not prohibited. Employees are required to notify their supervisor
prior to the use of any medication which may adversely affect their ability to perform their job.
In such case, the employee may be assigned to perform work that can be safely performed while
using such medication or placed on paid sick or other paid or unpaid leave. If reasonable
suspicion exists that an employee is under the influence of an illegal substance or alcohol, a
reasonable suspicion test will be conducted. This information should be handled in a confidential
manner, the same as any other medical information.

Section 14.5. Drug/Alcohol Testing. Drug/alcohol testing shall be conducted solely for
administrative purposes and the results obtained shall not be used in criminal proceedings. Under
no circumstances may the results of drug/alcohol screening or testing be released to a third party
for use in a criminal prosecution against the affected employee. The City conducts the following
types of drug/alcohol testing to determine if employees are in compliance with this policy and
associated rules of conduct: pre-employment, reasonable suspicion, and post-accident. In
addition, employees are tested prior to returning to duty after a positive drug or alcohol test and
subject to follow-up testing conducted during the course of a rehabilitation program
recommended by a substance abuse professional. A Medical Review Officer (MRO) reviews test
results and determines which tests are positive and which are negative.

The City shall test for the following drugs: marijuana, amphetamines, opiates, phencyclidine
(PCP), cocaine, barbiturates, benzodiazepines, methadone, methaqualone, and propoxyphene.
An initial drug screen is conducted on each specimen. For those specimens that are not negative,
a confirmatory gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) test is performed. The test is
considered positive if the amounts present are above the minimum thresholds established in 49
CFR Part 40.

19

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



An alcohol concentration of .04 percent or greater is considered a positive alcohol test, and in
violation of this policy.

If a drug or alcohol test produces a positive result, the City may take such actions as authorized
in Section 14.6 herein. Sick leave and/or other paid leave may be used while participating in a
rehabilitation program. Otherwise, the employee will be placed on leave without pay until return
to work following a negative alcohol/ drug test and authorization by the SAP.

A. Pre-Emplovment Testing. The City of Huber Heights performs drug and alcohol testing
on potential employees after a conditional offer of employment.

B. Reasonable Suspicion Testing. Reasonable suspicion that an employee used or is using a
controlled substance or alcohol in an unlawful or abusive manner may be based upon, but
not limited to:

1.  Observable phenomena, such as direct observation of drug or alcohol use or possession
and/or the physical symptoms of being under the influence of a drug or alcohol;

2. A pattern of abnormal conduct or erratic behavior;

3. Conviction for a drug or alcohol-related offense, or the identification of an employee as the
focus of a criminal investigation into illegal drug or alcohol possession, use, or trafficking.
The employee is responsible for notifying the City, within five (5) working days, of any
drug-related conviction;

4.  Information provided by reliable and/or credible sources or independently corroborated
regarding an employee’s substance abuse;

5. Evidence that an employee had tampered with a previous drug test, and

6.  Facts or circumstances developed in the course of an authorized investigation of an accident
or unsafe working practice.

The City representative must make a written record of the observations leading to a drug or
alcohol test within twenty-four (24) hours of the observed behavior or before the test results are
reported, whichever is earlier.

Any employee who demonstrates job performance impairments consistent with reasonable
suspicion characteristics shall be relieved of duty with pay pending an investigation and testing
of condition. In such case the employee shall be transported by City personnel to the sample
collection location and to his/her home. Employees with a negative drug test and/or alcohol test
below 0.04 will be returned to duty if not otherwise in violation of this policy.

Testing under this section may be for drugs or alcohol or both.

C. Post-Accident Testing. Post-accident testing will be conducted on employees whenever an
accident occurs, regardless of whether there is an injury. An “accident” is an

20

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



unplanned, unexpected or unintended event that occurs on City property, during the conduct of
City business, during work hours, or which involves a City motor vehicle or motor vehicles used
in conducting City business, or is within the scope of employment, and which results in any of
the following:

1.

2.

3.

4.

A fatality of anyone involved in the accident; or

Bodily injury to the employee and/or another person that requires off-site medical attention
away from the City’s place of employment; or

Vehicular damage in apparent excess of $2,000, or

Non-vehicular damage in apparent excess of $2,000.

When such an accident results in one of the situations above, any employee who may have
contributed to the accident will be tested for drugs or alcohol use or both.

D.

Drug/Alcohol Testing After an Accident. Urine specimen collection (for drugs) or
breath/saliva collection (for alcohol) is to occur as quickly as possible after a need to test
has been determined. At no time will a urine specimen be collected after sixteen (16) hours
from the time of an employment-related accident. Breath or saliva alcohol testing will be
performed as quickly as possible, but no later than four (4) hours after the accident, or it
will be documented but not performed. If the employee responsible for an employment-
related accident is injured, it is a condition of employment that the employee grant the City
the right to request that attending medical personnel obtain appropriate specimens (breath
or urine) for the purpose of conducting alcohol and/or drug testing. Further, all employees
grant the City access to any and all other medical information that may be relevant in
conducting a complete and thorough investigation of the employment- related accident
including a full medical report from the examining physician(s) or other health care
providers. A signed consent to testing form is considered a condition of employment. Any
employee involved in an accident must refrain from alcohol use for four (4) hours
following the accident, or until he/she undergoes a post accident alcohol test. Any
employee who leaves the scene of an accident without justifiable explanation prior to
submission to drug and alcohol testing is considered to have refused the test. The City
reserves the right to determine who may have caused or contributed to an employment-
related accident and may choose not to test after minor accidents if there is no violation of a
safety or work rule, minor damage and/or injuries and no reasonable suspicion.

Return-To-Duty Testing. Any employee who has tested positive on a drug and/or alcohol
test, and who was afforded the opportunity to return to work, must test negative for drugs
and/or alcohol and be evaluated and released to duty by the Substance Abuse Professional
before returning to work.

Follow-Up Testing. Any employee who has tested negative on a return-to-duty drug
and/or alcohol test and been returned to duty shall be required to undergo frequent
unannounced drug and alcohol testing during the period of time recommended by the
Substance Abuse Professional. A maximugy of four (4) follow-up tests shall be conducted

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



within the twelve (12) months following the violation, which period may be extended up to one
(1) additional year. Employees subject to follow-up testing will continue to perform their duties
if not otherwise in violation of this policy.

G. Who Pays for Testing. The City shall pay for all reasonable suspicion, post-accident,
return-to-duty, and follow-up drug and alcohol tests for employees. Employees shall
reimburse the City through payroll deduction for all employee-requested confirmatory tests.

H. Refusal to Submit to Testing. A refusal to comply with a request for testing, submission
of false information in connection with a test, or any attempt to falsify test results through
tampering, contamination, adulteration, or substitution, shall be considered a refusal to
submit to testing and will be treated the same as a positive test result. Refusal shall include
an inability to provide a specimen or breath sample without a valid medical explanation, as
well as a verbal declaration, obstructive behavior, or physical absence resulting in the
inability to conduct the test.

Section 14.6. Drug/Alcohol Treatment. Employees who have completed probation and who
test positive for the presence of illegal drugs or alcohol will be referred to a Substance Abuse
Professional (SAP) for evaluation. An SAP is a licensed or certified physician, psychologist,
social worker, employee assistance professional, or addiction counselor with knowledge of, and
clinical experience in, the diagnosis and treatment of drug and alcohol-related disorders. The
SAP will evaluate the employee to determine what assistance, if any, the employee needs to
resolve problems associated with prohibited substance abuse or misuse of alcohol.

Under certain circumstances, including a positive drug and/or alcohol test, an employee may be
required to undergo treatment for substance abuse. After the employee’s return to duty after such
evaluation and/or treatment, he/she must follow the rehabilitation program prescribed by the
SAP, pass a return-to-duty drug and alcohol test(s), and be subject to unannounced follow-up
tests for a period of at least one (1) year as determined by the SAP or as required by applicable
law. Any employee who refuses treatment when required, or fails to comply with the regimen
prescribed by the SAP for treatment, aftercare, or return-to-duty, shall be subject to disciplinary
action, up to and including termination of employment.

Section 14.7. Employee-Requested Confirmation Testing. An employee who questions the
results of a required drug test may request that an additional test be conducted at a different
USDHHS-certified laboratory. The test must be conducted on the split sample that was provided
at the same time as the original sample. The cost of the second test will be borne by the
employee, unless the second test invalidates the first.

The method of collecting, storing, and testing the split sample will follow Department of
Transportation guidelines. The employee's request for a split sample test must be made to the
Medical Review Officer (MRO) within seventy-two (72) hours of notice of the initial test result.
Requests after seventy-two (72) hours will be accepted only if the delay was due to document
able facts that were beyond the control of the employee.

Section 14.8. Confidentiality. Positive and confirmed laboratory reports or test results shall not

appear in an employee's general personnel foldey, Information of this nature will be secured

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



in a separate confidential medical folder in the Department of Human Resources. The reports or
test results may be disclosed to the City Manager and Chief of Police and shall be disclosed to
the tested employee.

The City may disclose information required to be maintained pertaining to an employee to the
employee or to the decision maker in a lawsuit, grievance, or other proceeding initiated by or on
behalf of the individual and arising from the results of an alcohol and/ or controlled substance
test administered under this part, or from the employer's determination that the employee
engaged in prohibited conduct (including, but not limited to, a worker's compensation,
unemployment compensation, or other proceeding relating to a benefit sought by the employee).

ARTICLE 15
LAYOFF AND RECALL

Section 15.1.Layvoff Notification. When the City determines that a long term layoff or job
abolishment is necessary, they shall notify the affected employees thirty (30) calendar days in
advance of the effective date of the layoff or job abolishment. Employees will be notified of the
Employer's decision to implement any short-term layoff, lasting seventy-two (72) hours or less,
as soon as possible.

Section 15.2.Layvoff. The City shall determine in which classifications layoffs will occur and
layoffs of bargaining unit members will be by classification. Within the police division,
provisional employees shall be laid off first followed by part-time employees and then
probationary employees. Bargaining unit members shall be laid off within each classification in
order of divisional seniority, beginning with the least senior and progressing to the most senior
up to the number of bargaining unit members that are to be laid off. When an employee is
removed from a classification within the Division as a result of a layoff, the employee may be
allowed to bump the least senior employee in the next lowest-payment classification as provided
by rank seniority, providing the employee can perform the available work.

Section 15.3. Recall. The City shall create a recall list for each classification with layoffs for a
period of twenty-four (24) months or for the bargaining unit member's length of seniority,
whichever is less. The City shall recall bargaining unit members according to seniority,
beginning with the most senior employee in the classification and progressing to the least senior
employee up to the number of employees to be recalled.

Section 15.4. Recall Notification. Notice of recall shall be sent to the bargaining unit member
by certified mail. The City shall be deemed to have fulfilled its obligation by mailing the recall
notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the last address provided by the bargaining
unit member.

Section 15.5.Time Limits. The recalled bargaining unit member shall have fourteen (14)
calendar days following the date of mailing of the recall notice to notify the City of the member's
intention to return to work, and shall have twenty-one (21) calendar days following the mailing
date of the recall notice in which to report for duty, unless a later date for returning to work is
otherwise specified in the notice.

23

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



Section 15.6. Recall Probationary Period. Recalled bargaining unit members shall not serve
a probationary period upon reinstatement, except that employees serving a probationary period at
layoff shall be required to finish such probationary period.

ARTICLE 16
RULES AND REGULATIONS

Section 16.1. Rules. Regulations. Policies and Procedures. The City agrees that Rules,
Regulations, Policies and Procedures of the Police Division shall be furnished to all members of
the bargaining unit in written form.

The Chief of Police agrees under normal circumstances to notify the Labor Council of any new
or amended rules and regulations or general orders prior to their general issuance and upon
request to discuss the matter with the Labor Council prior to general issuance thereof.

The Rules, Regulations, Policies and Procedures shall be applied and interpreted consistently by
the City, taking into consideration the facts and circumstances of each situation in which they are
applied and interpreted.

The City shall retain the sole right to establish, change, amend, and enforce rules for employees
to follow; and the right to warn, reprimand, discharge, demote, suspend, or transfer any and all
employees who violate these rules. The Labor Council retains the right to grieve the
reasonableness of the City’s action. The City also may issue or establish reasonable regulations
or general orders not in conflict with this Agreement.

ARTICLE 17
PROMOTIONS

Section 17.1. Intent. This Article is intended to apply to any promotional process for the
position of Lieutenant within the Huber Heights Police Division.

Section 17.2. Eligibility. To be eligible for a promotional examination for the position of
Lieutenant the applicant must have had at least one (1) year of full-time law enforcement service
as a Sergeant with the Huber Heights Division of Police at the time of position posting, and had
no lost time discipline within the previous twelve (12) months. The applicant must have a rating
acceptable or above on all evaluations in the prior twelve (12) months.

Section 17.3. Examinations. The examination announcement shall provide a complete list of
study materials and be posted at least forty-five (45) days prior to the examination. The City will
administer a multi-part promotional examination, including written and oral components with
command input. The weights of the various components will be determined by the City and
disclosed to the Labor Council in advance of the examination. A portion of the written
component may be purchased from a recognized testing agency. An employee shall be entitled to
receive a report on that employee's individual performance. At no time will any member of the
bargaining unit receive any test questions or content of answers in advance of the promotional
test.

24

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



Section 17.4 Promotional Lists. Promotion to position of Lieutenant shall be filled from
eligibility lists established by promotional examinations given to members of the Huber Heights
Division of Police. Lost time discipline imposed after the testing phase shall remove a candidate
from the promotional list. Promotional eligibility lists shall be in effect for one (1) year and may
be extended by the City Manager to two (2) years from the certification date of the list.

ARTICLE 18
HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

Section 18.1. Intent. This Article is intended to define the hours of a workday, hours of a
workweek, and to define the basis for the calculation of overtime.

Section 18.2. Work Day. Work Week. Work Year and Overtime. Bargaining unit
members working an eight (8) hour per day or eight and one-half (8 1/2) per day schedule shall

be paid for all time worked in excess of the scheduled work day in any twenty-four (24) hour
period computed on the basis of time and one-half (1-1/2) their regular hourly rate of pay. The
term "hours worked" for overtime purposes shall include all hours during which the Bargaining
Unit Member is in paid status. When an employee works more than twelve (12) consecutive
hours, all hours over twelve (12) hours shall be paid at double the employee’s regular hourly rate
of pay.

For purposes of compliance with the Fair Labor Standards Act, the City shall pay overtime for
all hours actually worked over one hundred seventy-six (176) in any twenty-eight (28) day
period in accordance with the Act. For purposes of compliance with the Article, the City shall
comply with this Article.

The work year for non-investigative personnel covered by this agreement is hereby defined as
being two hundred and fifty-three (253) workdays.

Section 18.3. Compensatory Time. In lieu of receiving overtime premium pay, an employee
may elect to receive compensatory time off in lieu of the overtime payment. An employee shall
elect to be paid the overtime premium or receive compensatory time off at the time the overtime
hours are actually worked. Compensatory time off will be scheduled with the approval of the
Chief or designee. Compensatory time off shall be granted on the basis of the overtime rate
applicable for each overtime hour actually worked. Compensatory time off will be granted in
half hour (1/2) hour increments or more. Partial increments will be “rounded up” to the next
complete half hour. (For example, forty-five minutes will be “rounded” to one hour and twenty
minutes will be “rounded” to one half-hour). Compensatory time off may be accumulated to a
maximum of eighty (80) hours.

Upon separation from service for any reason, members shall be paid at their current rate of pay
for accumulated hours of compensatory time. When a member dies while in paid status in the
City service, any unused compensatory time to the member's credit shall be paid in a lump sum
to the surviving spouse or the estate of the deceased.

Employees in the bargaining unit may cash-out or receive pay in lieu of time off for accumulated
compensatory time. Employees must cash-out time in increments of 8 hours, and may only cash

25

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



out compensatory time one time each calendar year during the first pay period in November of
each year. Employees in the unit may cash out up to six (6) days (48 hours).

Section 18.4. Schedules. A work schedule shall be posted at least two (2) weeks in advance of
its effective date covering a minimum of thirty (30) calendar days indicating the normal
workdays of every member of the bargaining unit.

Changes may be made in the posted shift schedule by the Chief of Police as may be required to
meet the needs of the Police Division. The City agrees to schedule the changing of shifts in such
a manner so that an officer will not be required to work two (2) consecutive eight (8) hour shifts.

Section 18.5. Temporary Transfers. The City shall have the right to temporarily transfer
employees within the Bargaining Unit, irrespective of their seniority status, from one job
classification to another to cover the employees who are absent from work due to illness,
accident, vacations, or leaves of absence for the period of such absences. The City shall also
have the right to temporarily transfer employees from one classification to another within the
Bargaining Unit, irrespective of their seniority status, to fill job or temporary vacancies and to
take care of unusual conditions or situations, which may arise for a period not to exceed ninety
(90) days in any calendar year. It is understood and agreed that any employee within the unit
temporarily transferred in accordance with the provisions of this section shall not acquire any
permanent title or right to the job to which the employee is temporarily transferred, but shall
retain seniority in the permanent classification from which the employee was transferred. A
temporarily transferred employee shall receive the higher classification rate of pay for each full
day the employee performs the function of the higher classification.

Section 18.6. Shift Bidding.

A. Shift bidding is limited to Patrol Sergeants assigned as Watch Commanders, except that
in the event Lieutenants are returned to watch duty assignments, they shall be permitted
to bid.

B. Officers permitted to bid shall submit their first and second choices of shift assignment
by August 1 of each year. By August 30, the Employer will post the shift assignment for
the following 12-month period running from October 1 through September 30. Shift
assignment shall be awarded based upon the rank seniority of the employees.

C. Temporary shift reassignments may be made by the Employer due to operational needs
(e.g., seasonal requirements, special events, injury leaves, training, training period for
newly promoted employees, etc.). Such reassignments will not necessarily be made on
the basis of seniority. Once the need is over, the reassigned employee will be returned to
his regular shift. It is specifically understood that these reassignments are not grievable.

D.  Patrol Sergeants will be given the opportunity to re-bid their work shifts if any
permanent change is made to their work week or shift rotation.

26

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



Section 18.7. Supervisor Overtime When the City decides to offer supervisory overtime it will
first be offered to all sergeants (with the right of first refusal for all sergeants), then to the
lieutenants. If the overtime is declined and the overtime is still being offered, an OIC from the
Patrol Section will assume the supervision and the resulting overtime opportunity will be offered
to the Patrol Officer(s).

ARTICLE 19
TIME OFF RULES

Section 19.1. Flex Time. Flex time is the practice of changing an employee’s scheduled days
off to accommodate other division and/or employee needs. Flex time scheduled by the City, with
less than two weeks’ notice, must be agreed to by the employee. Flex time scheduled by the City
with more than two weeks’ notice, does not require mutual agreement with the employee.

Section 19.2. Flex Time Staffing. For the purpose of granting time off and determining the
number of employees off on a given day/shift, if more than one employee is on a scheduled flex

day on the same day/shift, only one of the flexed employees will count toward minimum staffing.

Section 19.3. Training Time Staffing. For the purpose of granting time off and determining the
number of employees off on a given day/shift, employees scheduled to attend training sessions
lasting more than one week shall not count toward minimum staffing.

ARTICLE 20
COMPENSATION

Section 20.1.Wages. Bargaining Unit Members shall be paid per hour according to the
following:

a. Police Sergeant. The pay of members in the classification of Police Sergeant shall be 16%
higher than the top pay step for the classification of Police Officer.

Wage Scale

A. Effective at the beginning of the first pay period after January 1, 2023:

Hourly Bi- weekly Annually
Sergeant $46.60 $3,728.00 $96,928.00
B. Effective at the beginning of the first pay period after July 1, 2023:
Hourly Bi- weekly Annually
Sergeant $47.76 $3,820.80 $$99,340.80
C. Effective at the beginning of the first pay period after January 1, 2024:
Hourly Bi- weekly Annually
Sergeant $49.07 _ $3,925.60 $102,065.60
FOP/OLC Sergeants

January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025




D. Effective at the beginning of the first pay period after January 1, 2025:

Hourly Bi- weekly Annually
Sergeant $50.42 $4,033.60 $104,873.60

a. Annual salaries shown above are for informational purposes only. All bargaining unit
employees are hourly employees.

Section 20.2. Call-In Pay. The City agrees to pay employees for a minimum of four (4) hours at
one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee’s rate of pay if the officer is called-out for duty, as
determined by a supervisor, at a time other than that for which the employee has been scheduled,
thus necessitating additional travel to and from work. If the employee is notified that the call-in
is cancelled before arriving at the location, the employee shall be paid for a minimum of two (2)
hours at one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee’s rate of pay.

Section 20.3. Court Time/Overtime. In instances where an officer is required to work
scheduled overtime, including court time, the City agrees to pay employees for a minimum of
three and one-half (3 '2) hours at one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee’s hourly rate of
pay. Court time on an employee’s scheduled day off shall be a minimum of four (4) hours at one
and one half (1-1/2) times the employee’s hourly rate of pay. If the scheduled overtime, as
outlined above, overlaps the officer’s regularly scheduled duty time, the employee will only be
eligible for overtime compensation for that time not on duty. If the scheduled overtime, as
outlined above, begins one-half (1/2) hour or less after the officer’s regular shift, the officer shall
only be paid for the actual time worked. A Divisional vehicle will be provided for employee’s
attending out of town training sessions. If no vehicle is available, employees will be reimbursed
in accordance with the City’s travel policy.

Section 20.4. Supervisor —In- Charge. A bargaining unit member who has been temporarily
assigned to perform the duties and assume the responsibilities of a higher classification by the
Chief of Police (or designee) shall receive the rate of pay of that classification for all such hours.

Section 20.5. Pension Pick-up. Effective throughout the life of this Agreement, the City shall
pay one percentage (1%) point of the employee's state-mandated contribution to the Police and
Fireman's Pension Fund. The remaining portion of the employee's contribution shall be paid by
the employee. However, the City shall "shelter" members pension contribution for personal
income tax purposes.

Section 20.6. Pyramiding. There shall be no pyramiding of premium pay for the same hours
worked.

Section 20.7. Sick Leave Incentive

A. Employees who have not used more than two (2) instances of sick leave,
excluding leave which has been approved for FMLA, during the periods of January 1 through
June 30 and July 1 through December 31 of each calendar year shall receive at their option either

12 hours of time off or twelve hours of pay for each period of compliance.
28

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



B. The time off or bonus pay shall be credited or paid to the employee the month after the
period ends. Employees electing to take the time off credit must use the time within six
(6) months of earning it or it shall be forfeited.

ARTICLE 21
HOLIDAYS AND PERSONAL LEAVE DAYS

Section 21.1. Holidays. The employees shall receive holiday pay as defined below for the
following holidays, which shall be observed on the days indicated:

New Year's Day January 1%

Martin Luther King Day Third Monday in January
President's Day Third Monday in February
Memorial Day Last Monday in May
Juneteenth June 19th

Independence Day July 40

Labor Day First Monday in September
Veteran's Day November 11"
Thanksgiving Day Fourth Thursday in November
Friday after Thanksgiving Day  Fourth Friday in November
Christmas Eve December 24

Christmas Day December 25™

Any Special holiday, as designated by the City, when the City offices are closed for the entire
day, will also be observed as a holiday under this Article.

Section 21.2. Holiday Payment.

A. For each holiday listed above, employees shall receive their regular daily rate as holiday pay,
regardless of whether they work the holiday or not, provided they were employed during the
holiday. Employees are paid at their normal hourly rate for holidays, and time and a half their
hourly rate for working overtime. In addition, employees who work on a holiday will receive
holiday premium pay in an amount equal to one half their regular hourly rate for all hours
worked on the holiday. For clarification, a continuous shift beginning or ending on a holiday
shall qualify for holiday pay as defined in this section

B. Ninety-six (96) hours of holiday pay, at the then-current rate of pay, shall be paid once per year by
separate check payable with the last paycheck issued in October for the Veteran’s Day through Labor
Day prior to payment for which the employee was employed on the workday before and after the
holiday.

C. In In regard to shifts that straddle midnight, only one working day will be counted as a
holiday for which this benefit is intended.

Section 21.3. Personal Leave. All bargaining unit employees shall receive twenty-eight (28)
hours of personal leave annually. An employee may elect to use the personal days as leave days
from work in half hour (1/2) increments or more. Partial increments will be “rounded up” to the
next complete half hour. (For example, forty-fiyg minutes will be “rounded” to one hour and

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



twenty minutes will be “rounded” to one-half hour.)

ARTICLE 22
VACATION

Section 22.1. Vacation Accrual. Bargaining unit employees shall earn vacation leave, on a pay
period by pay period basis, according to their number of years of continuous service with the City
as a member of the Police Division. Accrual rates will be based on the table below:

YEARS OF SERVICE

UAL PERPAY
PERIOD

APPROXIMATE NUMBER OF
VACATION DAYS ANNUALLY

Less than 5 years of service

3.0769 hours

10-vacation days

S years of service but less than 10

4.9231 hours

16-vacation days

10 years of service but less than 15

6.1538 hours

20-vacation days

15 years of service but less than 20

7.3846 hours

24-vacation days

20 years of service but less than 25

8.6154 hours

28-vacation days

25 or more years of service

9.8461 hours

32-vacation days

Vacation time shall be accrued on the basis of complete pay periods of employment, and shall
begin on the date of hire for each employee. No employee will be permitted to use vacation time
that has not been accrued. It is the employee's responsibility to complete a standard leave request
and submit the request to the Chief of Police.

Section 22.2. Vacation Carry Over. Year-to-year carry-over allowed is equal to the total hours
accrued in a calendar year. Vacation amounts in excess of the above to an employee’s credit as

of December 31 shall be automatically carried over to the following calendar year, but such
excess vacation is to be used by March 31 of the following year. Any excess not used by March
31 shall be forfeited, unless the employee is eligible to convert vacation to pay as described in
Section 21.5. In such cases, all excess vacation as of March 31 shall be converted to cash up to
the conversion limits described in Section 21.5. Any amounts as of March 31 that are over the
conversion limits shall be forfeited.

Section 22.3. Vacation Scheduling. Vacations leave shall be granted by the Chief or designee
at such times as they least interfere with the efficient operation of the Police Division. Vacation
requests must be made two (2) weeks prior to the beginning of the Patrol Officer’s vacation
request scheduling period. Sergeants who make the request within the Sergeants’ vacation
request scheduling period shall be granted vacation preference in accordance with rank seniority.
Sergeants in the Detective Section, Public Affairs Section, and any other specialized assignment,
shall select vacation time off on a schedule that is separate from all other Sergeants in the
Division. Should two (2) or more Sergeants request the same vacation time off for the same day,
vacation shall be granted by seniority. After the seniority vacation picks listed above are over,
all other casual vacation requests, on a first come first serve basis, shall only require a 48-hour
notice.

Vacation leave shall be used in minimum increments of one-half (1/2) hour or more. Partial
increments will be “rounded up” to the next complete half hour. (For example, forty-five
minutes will be “rounded” to one hour and twenty minutes will be “rounded” to one-half hour.)

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



Section 22.4. Prior Public Service Credit. Employees shall be credited with prior service credit
for time worked fulltime with other Ohio political subdivisions for the purpose of determining
vacation entitlement.

Section 22.5. Annual Vacation Cash-Out. Employees in the bargaining unit may receive pay
in lieu of time off for accumulated vacation leave. Employees with five (5) or more years of
service may cash-out up to six (6) vacation days in a calendar year. Employees with ten (10) or
more years of service may cash-out up to twelve (12) vacation days in a calendar year.

Section 22.6. Substitution of Other Discretionary Paid L.eave. An employee whose use of
vacation leave, compensatory time, or personal leave has been approved, but who has an

insufficient balance of such leave available for leave taken, shall be paid for the time used from
accrued vacation, compensatory time, or personal leave, in that order, up to the accrued leave
available.

Section 22.7. Terminal (Separation) Pay. Accrued but unused vacation hours shall be paid as

terminal (separation) pay if an employee leaves employment in good status and has completed
six (6) months of continuous service with the City; provided the employee gives not less than
fourteen (14) calendar days’ advance notice of such action to the Chief. An employee who is
laid off shall be paid for accrued vacation. The employee shall be remunerated for all accrued
vacation at their last rate of pay with the City at the time the employee leaves employment. In
the event of the death of an employee, such compensation shall be paid to the surviving spouse
or the employee’s estate.

ARTICLE 23
MEDICAL INSURANCE COVERAGE

Section 23.1. The Employer shall provide to all bargaining unit employees who elect coverage,
health care through a qualified High Deductible Health Plan (“HDHP”) in conjunction with a
Health Savings Account (“HSA”) or a Health Reimbursement Account (“HRA”). Dental and
vision insurance coverage shall be the same coverage provided to other groups of Huber Heights
City Employees.

Section 23.2. Through December 31, 2022, the Employer will pay 100% of the premium cost
and will contribute 80% of the deductible for the HDHP for those bargaining unit employees
who elect coverage and are enrolled in a HRA. The participating employees shall be responsible
for the remaining 0% of the premium cost and 20% of the deductible. Through December 31,
2022, the Employer will contribute 60% of the deductible for the HDHP for those bargaining
unit employees who elect coverage and are enrolled in a HSA. The participating Union member
shall be responsible for the remaining 40% of the deductible.

Effective January 1, 2020, the Employer will pay 100% of the premium cost and will contribute
80% of the deductible for in-network providers within the HDHP for those bargaining unit

employees who elect coverage and are enrolled in a HRA. The participating employees shall be
responsible for the remaining 0% of the premium cost and 20% of the deductible for in-network
providers. Effective January 1, 2020, the Emplo3§1/er will contribute 60% of the deductible for in-

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



network providers within the HDHP for those bargaining unit employees who elect coverage and
are enrolled in a HSA. The participating Union member shall be responsible for the remaining
40% of the deductible for in-network providers.

Effective January 1, 2020, participating employees shall be responsible for 100% of the deductible
for costs incurred for services provided by out-of-network providers and the Employer shall not
be required to contribute toward such deductibles.

Effective January 1, 2020, participating employees shall be responsible for all “Co-Pays” under
the HDHP for in-network and out-of-network services.

(For information purposes, during 2020 the Co-Pays shall apply after the

$2,500 Single or $5,000 Family Deductible is met for In-Network Services. Employees shall be
obligated to pay the following Co-Pays up to a maximum of $1,000 Single or $1,850 Family for
In-Network Services:

Office Visit - $30.00

Specialist - $60.00

Urgent Care - $100.00

Emergency Room - $250.00

Prescription Drugs - $10 - $35 - $60 depending upon Tier.

Employees shall be obligated to pay Co-Pays of 30% up to a maximum of
$5,000 Single or $10,000 Family for Out-Of-Network Services.

Effective January 1, 2020 the City shall continue to pay 100% of the premium.

Section 23.3. The Employer shall tender payments of its share of the deductibles to the Health
Savings Accounts (“HSA”) and the Health Reimbursement Accounts (“HRA”) of Union
members who chose to participate in the HDHP, then in effect, on or before the first banking day
following January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1 for each year of the Agreement.

Section 23.4. In the event that a Union member or a member of his or her family who is enrolled
in and covered by the HDHP suffers an illness or injury for which the cost of medical attention
exceeds the Employee contribution and the annual Employer contribution paid to date, the
Employer shall accelerate payments of the remaining deductible contributions for that calendar
year to assist the Union member in paying health care related expenses.

The Union member must submit to the Employer an Advance Request Form for acceleration and
provide deductible documentation showing the costs of the illness or injury. Acceleration of the
Employer’s payment of its portion of the deductible shall not be available for elective
procedures, including surgery and/or outpatient treatments.

Section 23.5. The HSA accounts shall be set up with a bank selected by the Employee with
Employer’s approval. The Union members are solely responsible for any and all charges or fees
assessed by the bank for the administration of and/or transactions involving each Union

32

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



member’s HSA. The Employer shall be responsible for any fess or costs associated with its
decision to change insurance carriers.

Section 23.6. The Employer agrees to deduct from each participating Union member’s biweekly
paycheck the amount designated by that individual Union member through an authorization form
to be provided by the Employer. These amounts shall be paid into the participating Union
member’s HSA.

Section 23.7. The Union member is solely responsible for the management of the members own
HSA. The Employer makes no representations or promises regarding the operation of the HSA,
the tax implications of the HSA or the maximum a Union member may contribute to the HSA.

Section 23.8. Except for paragraphs 22.5 and 22.7, all matters relating to the rights and obligations
of the Employer and Union member as set forth herein shall be subject to the grievance procedures
set forth in Article 9 of this Agreement. Matters regarding occurrences which follows the
Employer’s deposit of its portion of the deductible and deposit of the Union member’s authorized
pay deductions, if any, are beyond the control of the Employer, and therefore are not amenable to
the grievance procedure.

Section 23.9. The Employer and representatives of its bargaining unit employees, including the
Union, shall form a committee to meet and confer regarding health care coverage during the term
of this Agreement. The committee will evaluate and agree upon recommended changes to the
health care coverage of the bargaining unit. In the event that the committee is unable to reach an
agreement on a recommendation for health care coverage, either the employer or the Union may
immediately file a request for arbitration pursuant to the American Arbitration Association’s
Expedited Labor Arbitrations rules to determine if coverage under the HDHP selected by the
City is substantially equivalent to the plan then in effect.

Section 23.10. Union members shall be responsible for five (5%) percent of the premiums for
the plans providing vision and dental coverage.

Section 23.11. The insurance carriers and/or method of providing the benefits referred to in this
Article shall be solely at the discretion of the Employer.

Section 23.12. The Employer shall continue to offer an Employee Assistance Program designed
to assist employees with personal problems that often interfere with their work.

Section 23.13. In the event that a Union member declines coverage under the HDHP then in
effect, the Employer agrees that it will pay the non-participating employee two-thousand five
hundred dollars ($2500.00), in lieu of providing health care coverage. Payments of six hundred
twenty five dollars ($625.00) shall be made to the employee quarterly, on the dates set forth in
Section 22.3. Union members will not receive compensation should they choose not to
participate in the City’s vision or dental plan.

In order to qualify for this benefit, the employee must present proof satisfactory to the Employer
that he or she is covered under a health care plan other than the HDHP provided by the

33

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



Employer.

Section 23.14. Life Insurance. The Employer shall provide for each bargaining unit employee
term life insurance and double indemnity coverage in the amount of fifty thousand dollars
($50,000.00). The costs of said term life insurance shall be at the expense of the City. The
choice of insurance carriers shall be solely within the discretion of the City. A copy of the
insurance policy shall be provided to the Labor Council by the City.

The City agrees to provide its employees the opportunity to purchase (at the employee’s cost)
voluntary group term life insurance for themselves and/or their dependents. The plan will
attempt to provide flexibility that allows for various coverage options and choices for the
employee. The provider selection process will allow the City to “shop” for affordable group
rates, minimum/maximum levels of life insurance, as well as guaranteed issue provisions.

Section 23.15. Liability Insurance The City shall maintain professional liability insurance for
employees of the bargaining unit for the duration of this Agreement provided such insurance is
reasonably available to the City. The costs of said liability insurance shall be at the expense of
the City. The choice of insurance carriers shall be solely within the discretion of the City. A
copy of the insurance policy shall be provided to the Labor Council by the City.

Section 23.16. Health Reimbursement Accounts Employees who are participants of the HRA
may use their HRA funds to purchase all qualified medical expenses, as permitted in section 213
(d) of the Internal Revenue Code and the HRA Plan Document. The maximum HRA benefit will
be the maximum HRA benefit prorated on a quarterly basis based on the employee HRA
eligibility date.

Reimbursements under the HRA can be made for the expenses of employee, spouse and
dependent of the employee. HRA participants may access their entire HRA benefit anytime
during the year. The unused HRA accounts at the end of the coverage year will not be carried
forward to the next calendar period. Upon separation of employment during the plan year,
participation in the plan will cease and any unused amounts are forfeited. These amounts may
never be used for anything but reimbursements for qualified medical expenses.

ARTICLE 24
UNIFORMS

Section 24.1.Uniforms. Employees will receive uniforms and equipment paid for by the City,
and updated within the City’s discretion, as described in Appendix B attached hereto. The lists
of items in Appendix B are initial issue items and amounts. All items damaged in the line of duty
or worn out from normal wear shall be replaced as needed. These lists shall be reviewed as
needed (at least annually) for the purpose of adding, deleting, or changing items and amounts.
Should the City during the life of this Agreement, change its uniforms or accessories the City
will supply each covered employee with the changed items. No employee is authorized to wear or
use divisional clothing and equipment except in the official performance of their duty, except as
otherwise approved by the Chief of Police.

34

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



Section 24.2.Investigative Section. One employee from the Unit assigned to the investigative
section at the discretion of the Chief shall receive an annual clothing allowance of two thousand
dollars ($2,000) to paid semi-annually based on a prorated basis of service in the investigative
section for the preceding six (6) months. From this allowance, investigative section employees
shall purchase all necessary clothing as per division policy, and maintain at least one

(1) complete set of uniform garments as described in Appendix B herein at a minimum.

Upon initial assignment to the investigative section in other than a temporary capacity, an
employee shall be provided with one-half (1/2) of the annual entitlement.

Section 24.3 .Personal Items If, in the course of performing work related activities for the
Employer, an employee loses or damages personal items, (eg. Watches, cell phones, sunglasses,
contact lenses, eyeglasses, hearing aids, and dentures) the items will be replaced by the
Employer. The total replacement cost in one (1) calendar year per employee shall not exceed
five hundred dollars ($500.00). Damages to eyeglasses, contact lenses, hearing aide, and
dentures is subject to reimbursement by Workers” Compensation. In the event Workers
Compensation does not cover full replacement cost, the employee is eligible for replacement cost
reimbursement as outlined above. Pagers, and other such personal equipment owned and used by
the employee are not subject to replacement or reimbursement.

Section 24.4. Footwear and Miscellaneous Equipment Maintenance Allowance. The City
will, after initial issuance, provide an allowance of six hundred seventy-five dollars ($675.00)

annually, with the second check in January, for the officer’s footwear, duty bag, flashlight, and
flashlight batteries, which the City will no longer purchase as part of the provided uniform.

Section 24.5 Footwear and Miscellaneous Equipment Maintenance Allowance Pay
During Absence. No Bargaining Unit Member shall receive Footwear and Miscellaneous
Equipment Maintenance Allowance Pay under this Article during periods of time when the
member is on leave status for twelve (12) consecutive months. Such members shall have
their educational payment suspended until they return to work, at which time they will
receive the education pay on a pro-rata basis. If a member does not return to work for any
reason, the member shall not receive any education pay accrued during the member’s
absence from work.

Section 24.6. Purchase of Weapon. Upon retirement from the Police Division (with ten (10)
years or more of service), each Bargaining Unit Member shall have the right to purchase their
service weapon and related magazines. The price of the weapon will be based on a depreciation
schedule of twenty percent (20%) per service year, with a minimum value of one dollar ($1.00).
The Chief shall maintain a record of make, model and serial number of said weapon in the name
of the retired officer.

35

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



ARTICLE 25
SICK LEAVE

Section 25.1. Rate of Accrual. All full-time employees shall be credited with
five (5) hours of paid sick leave per pay period.

Section 25.2.Permissible Uses. Sick leave may be granted to an employee, upon approval by
the Employer, for the following reasons:

A. Tllness, injury or pregnancy related condition of the employee.

B. Exposure of an employee to a contagious disease which could be communicated to and
jeopardize the health of other employees or the public.

C. Examination of the employee, including medical, psychological, dental or optical
examination, by an approved practitioner, which cannot be scheduled during non-work time.

D. Illness, injury or pregnancy related condition of a member of the employee's immediate
family where the employee's presence is reasonably necessary for the health and welfare of
the employee or affected family member.

E. Examination, including medical, psychological, dental or optical examination, of a member of
the employee's immediate family by an appropriate practitioner where the employee's presence
is reasonably necessary.

For the purpose of this Article, the definition of immediate family shall be: spouse, child, step- child,
parents, step-parents, parent-in-law, siblings, significant other (as determined by the City Manager) or
dependents residing full-time in the employee's household.

Section 25.3.Notification. For sick leave use, each bargaining unit member shall notify the
Chief or the Chief’s designee as early as possible, but no later than two (2) hours prior to the
employee's shift starting except day shift, which shall be one (1) hour before the beginning of the
shift on the day of absence from work. Failure to promptly notify the City may result in denial
of sick leave pay. All sick leave to be so classified shall be subject to approval by the Chief of
Police. Employees shall follow proper procedures in filing sick leave forms upon return to work.

Section 25.4.Doctor's Certificate. The Chief or designee may require a physician’s certificate
to be provided to the City’s Human Resources Director to confirm the reasons for an absence due
to illness or injury or for verification of the fact that the employee is able to return to work.
Failure to present any required or requested physician’s certificate, employee’s written

statement, or other required or requested medical verification, to the Employer (or designee) may
result in loss of pay for the time absent, and/or disciplinary action.

Section 25.5.Medical Appointments. To the extent possible, employees should schedule
dental, optical or medical appointments during off duty hours. However, when this is not
possible and in the judgment of the Chief an employee can be spared from work, the employee
shall be given the time off and, at the employee's discretion, either from accumulated

36

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



compensatory time off or sick leave credits charged therefore.

Section 25.6.0ther Considerations. During the first day and any second consecutive day of
absence, an employee utilizing sick leave shall be available for contact during the employee’s
regular shift hours unless otherwise authorized by the Chief in writing. After a second
consecutive day of sick leave, during continued absence utilizing sick leave, the employee must
be at home so that the employee may be contacted during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.
Monday through Friday unless hospitalized, receiving out-patient medical treatment outside the
employee’s residence, purchasing required medication, or as authorized in writing by the Chief.

Section 25.7.Accrual Limits At the commencement of this Agreement, the City will calculate
and “bank” any sick leave hours accrued by an employee in excess of one thousand two hundred
eighty five (1285) hours. Those hours will become payable to the employee when that employee
retires. That employee will then be paid a sum equal to one (1) hour worked, at the employee’s
regular straight time rate in the pay period prior to the pay period containing the date of August
15, 2003, for every three (3) hours banked by the City at the commencement of the Agreement.

The City shall provide a document detailing the amount of hours banked, the rate of pay they will
be reimbursed at, and the total they will be reimbursed, immediately after the hours have been
deducted from the employee’s sick leave bank. A copy of this documentation is to be provided
to each affected employee, and a duplicate copy is to be placed in each affected employee’s
personnel file.

Section 25.8.Sick Leave Compensation If, at the end of the last pay period of any calendar year,
an employee has a balance of more than one thousand two hundred and eighty five (1285) hours

of accrued but unused sick leave, the hours in excess of one thousand two hundred eighty

five (1285) will be converted into a cash payment. Each employee who has accumulated more
than one thousand two hundred eighty five (1285) hours and has no more than four occurrences
of sick leave, will be paid a sum equal to one hour worked, at the employee’s regular straight
time rate, for every two (2) hours accumulated in excess of one thousand two hundred eighty-
five (1285) hours. Each employee who has accumulated more than one thousand two hundred
eighty-five (1285) hours, and has more than four occurrences of sick leave, will be paid a sum
equal to one hour worked, at the employee’s regular straight time rate, for every three (3) hours
accumulated in excess of one thousand two hundred eighty-five (1285) hours.

Upon retirement, an employee’s sick leave balance will be converted into cash payment. Each
employee will be paid according to the following schedule:

A. For accumulated sick leave hours one (1) through three hundred fifty seven (357), the
employee will be paid a sum equal to one (1) hour worked, at the employee’s regular straight
time rate, for every four (4) hours of accumulated sick leave.

B. For accumulated sick leave hours three hundred fifty eight (358) through seven hundred
fourteen (714), the employee will be paid a sum equal to one (1) hour worked, at the
employee’s regular straight time rate, for every three (3) hours of accumulated sick leave.

C. For accumulated sick leave hours seven hupdred fifteen (715) through one thousand

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



seventy one (1071), the employee will be paid a sum equal to one (1) hour worked, at the
employee’s regular straight time rate, for every two (2) hours of accumulated sick leave.

D. For accumulated sick leave hours in excess of one thousand seventy one (1071), the
employee will be paid a sum equal to one (1) hour worked, at the employee’s regular
straight time rate, for every one (1) hour of accumulated sick leave.

Upon an employee being granted a permanent and total disability from OP&F, that employee is

eligible to receive a cash payment for unused sick leave hours according to the following

schedule:

A. For accumulated sick leave hours one (1) through three hundred fifty seven (357), the
employee will be paid a sum equal to one (1) hour worked, at the employee’s regular
straight time rate, for every one (1) hour of accumulated sick leave.

B. For accumulated sick leave hours three hundred fifty eight (358) through seven hundred
fourteen (714), the employee will be paid a sum equal to one (1) hour worked, at the
employee’s regular straight time rate, for every three (3) hours of accumulated sick leave.

C. For accumulated sick leave hours seven hundred fifteen (715) through one thousand
seventy one (1071), the employee will be paid a sum equal to one (1) hour worked, at the
employee’s regular straight time rate, for every two (2) hours of accumulated sick leave.

D. For accumulated sick leave hours in excess of one thousand seventy one (1071), the
employee will be paid a sum equal to one (1) hour worked, at the employee’s regular
straight time rate, for every one (1) hour of accumulated sick leave.

Section 25.9.Active Duty Death Upon death of an employee, the spouse (if there is no spouse, then the
deceased employee's estate) will be paid in one lump sum for all accumulated but unused sick leave. Such

payment will be at the rate of one hundred percent (100%) at the employee's regular straight time hourly
rate at the time of death. Any “bank” established under Section 24.7. shall also be paid out under this
Section; per the formula contained in Section 24.7 above.

Section 25.10.Sick Leave Abuse. The City reserves the right to investigate all usage of sick
leave, and may hold full payment of sick leave until said investigation is completed. Should the
City determine that an employee has not used sick leave in accordance with the above rules and
regulations, payment may be denied and discipline may be meted out in accordance with the
severity of any abused sick leave benefits. After four (4) instances of sick leave during a
calendar year, the use of sick leave requires approval of the Chief of Police on a case-by-case
basis. Employees granted approval for sick leave in excess of this limit are not eligible for
voluntary overtime assignments during the pay period during which the sick leave was granted.

Section 25.11. Donated Sick Leave

A. Eligibility - Any eligible employee may apply to the City Manager to receive donated sick
leave, if the employee requesting such donated sick leave:

1. Has a non-work-related serious illness or injury, as documented in writing by a medical

38

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



doctor, which renders them unable to perform the essential functions of their position for a
minimum of four (4) consecutive weeks; and

Does not have a sufficient amount of accrued and unused paid leave to cover the estimated
period of absence;

Has not been offered non-work-related Transitional Duty; and

Has no disciplinary actions regarding sick leave abuse on record for progressive discipline
purposes.

. Procedure:

An employee qualifying for sick leave donation hereunder shall make a written request for
such leave by completing the necessary form and submitting same to the City Manager.
Written documentation from a medical doctor of the employee’s serious illness or injury
must be attached to the request. The City Manager shall have the discretion to approve or
deny such request. Copies shall be provided to the employee, Human Resources and the
Chief of Police.

. Upon approval of a request for sick leave donation, the City Manager shall complete the
necessary form and forward copies of same to each city division.

An employee wishing to donate sick leave to a fellow employee eligible for donation shall
complete the necessary form and forward same to their division head, who shall provide a copy
to Human Resources.

. Approval - Upon approval of an employee’s request for donated sick leave, the City
Manager shall:

. Notify all city employees of the employee’s need for donated sick leave, while respecting the
employee’s right of privacy;

Approve payment of any such donated sick leave to the requesting employee on a pay period
by pay period basis up to the amount of donated leave, or the hours necessary to provide the
employee with their regular, straight-time pay for such pay period, whichever is greater.

. Donating Sick L.eave - An employee may donate accrued and unused sick leave to their
credit to any other employee who has been approved to receive donated sick leave if the
donating employee:

Retains a sick leave balance of at least four hundred — eighty (480) hours after deduction of
the hours offered for donation; and

Voluntarily elects to donate sick leave to the employee approved for donation, understanding
that any such leave donated and used shall not be returned.

39

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



D. Terms and Conditions — The following additional terms and conditions shall apply to the
sick leave donation program:

1. All donation of sick leave shall be in eight (8) hour increments, with eight (8) hours being the
minimum donation;

2. An employee receiving donated sick leave shall be paid at their regular, straight- time rate of
pay, regardless of the rate of pay of the employee donating such leave;

3. Sick leave shall be deducted from donating employees proportionately from all donated
hours and credited to the receiving employee’s account on pay day up to the amount
necessary for the employee to be paid their regular two (2) weeks’ pay. No sick leave shall
accumulate in the account of a receiving employee or be converted to cash or compensatory
time. Any sick leave donated by an employee that is not used shall remain in the account of
the donating employee.

4. An employee using donated sick leave shall be in active pay status and shall accrue sick and
vacation leave, and be entitled to any benefits they would normally receive. All paid leave
provided to or accrued by an employee while using donated sick leave shall be used in the
following pay period before donated sick leave is used.

5. Employees receiving donated sick leave shall be eligible to receive such leave only until the
employee’s estimated date of return to duty, or until the first pay period during which the
receiving employee fails to receive enough donated leave to receive their full two (2) weeks
pay. Persons who have continued to receive full donations and whose physicians extend their
estimated date of return will be eligible for notification for the need for further donation.

6. No employee receiving donated sick leave will be permitted to be off work on such leave
more than twelve (12) consecutive calendar months. An employee may not apply for donated
leave more than once in any twelve (12) month period.

7. Donated sick leave shall not count for purposes of the donating employee’s sick leave
attendance bonus.

8. The City Manager shall ensure that no employee is forced or coerced into donating sick leave
for a fellow employee. Donation shall be strictly voluntary. No city employee shall directly
solicit donations of sick leave from another employee other than by the posting of an
approved form.

ARTICLE 26
WAGE CONTINUATION

Section 26.1.Reporting. Any bargaining unit member injured in the line of duty will file a
written accident or injury report with the Chief of Police or the Chief’s designee within twenty-
four (24) hours of the incident or as soon as the bargaining unit member is physically able to do
so. Failure, without good cause, of a bargaining unit member to comply with this section may be
grounds for the City to deny wage continuation ‘l‘gave or supplemental benefits. Any employee

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



claiming a service-connected illness or injury under this Article shall file an application with the
Ohio Bureau of Worker’s Compensation (BWC). In the event the claim is denied by Worker’s
Compensation, the employee shall be charged with sick leave and/or vacation for all time paid by
the City for the wage continuation claim. The parties agree that the employee’s pay status will
be controlled by the BWC’s original decision until all appeals are final.

Section 26.2.Wage Continuation. Any employee who becomes unable to perform duties as
assigned by the Employer due to a physical injury suffered in the discharge or performance of
official duties as an employee of the City shall be eligible for wage continuation. Wage
continuation shall be available for up to seven hundred twenty (720) work hours. These seven
hundred twenty (720) work hours are fully paid by the Employer, and are in lieu of workers'
compensation benefits. An employee who applies for wage continuation will apply to BWC for
medical benefits only and not lost income benefits. The employee may apply for lost income
benefits toward the end of the wage continuation if it is known that the absence will continue
beyond the paid wage continuation. Recurring injuries do not qualify employees to receive wage
continuation pay beyond the allowable seven hundred twenty (720) work hours provided at the
time of the initial work connected injury date. During the first twelve (12) weeks following the
conclusion of the paid leave, the employee may utilize sick or vacation time to supplement the
workers' compensation benefits.

Section 26.3. Medical Evidence.

A. Any employee making claim for such compensation as provided for in this Article shall, at the
request of the City, submit to a physical exam by a licensed physician of the City's choice. This
examination will be restricted to areas limited to or affected by the injury. In the event that the
physician finds that such employee is able to return to duty, the employee shall do so on the next
scheduled work day or at any other time as scheduled by the City. Physical examinations required
pursuant to this Article shall be at the City's expense.

B. For the best interest of both the employee and the Employer, an employee utilizing injury
leave shall remain at the employee’s residence Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.
unless hospitalized, receiving out-patient medical treatment outside the employee’s residence,
purchasing required medication, or as authorized in writing by the Chief.

C. A partially disabled employee who is eligible for wage continuation under this Article may
be required by the City to perform limited duty work, subject to the limitations set and
approved by the employee’s physician.

D. Should an employee covered by this Agreement become permanently disabled as a result of
an on-the-job injury to the extent that the employee cannot perform the regular job duties, the
City will attempt to place the employee in a position within the Division, in the judgment of
the City and/or the Chief of Police, the employee is physically and mentally able to perform,
provided that such a position is available. This Section shall not require the City to create a
position for any employee.

Section 26.4.Protection Insurance. The City may provide this benefit to the employee through
income protection insurance or by any other means available to the City. In the event this benefit
is provided through the purchase of income protglction insurance, the employee shall meet all the

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



requirements of such insurance policy to receive injury leave pay. The cost of such insurance
shall be at the City's expense.

ARTICLE 27
OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Section 27.1.Jury Duty. The City shall grant the required leave with full pay where a
bargaining unit member is summoned for any jury duty. All compensation received from the
summoning court for such duty shall be paid to the City unless such duty is performed totally
outside of the member's regularly scheduled duty hours. Bargaining unit members released from
jury duty prior to the end of their scheduled work period shall report to work for the remaining
hours of such work shift.

Section 27.2.Military Leave.

A. All bargaining unit members who are members of the Ohio National Guard, the Ohio
Organized Militia or members of other reserve components of the Armed Forces of the United
States are entitled to leave of absence from their respective duties-without loss of pay for such
time as they are in the military service on field training or active duty for periods of time not
to exceed twenty-two (22) eight (8) hour work days or one hundred seventy-six (176) hours in
any one (1) calendar year from January 1 through December 31. The member is required to
submit to the City an order or statement from the appropriate military commander as evidence
of such duty. There is no requirement that the service be in one (1) continuous period of time.
Bargaining unit members who are members of those components listed above will be granted
emergency leave from mob control, riot control, flood, civil defense or similar duties when so
ordered by the governor to assist civil authorities. Such leave will be paid provided it does not
exceed the maximum hours of military leave provided above. The leave will cover the official
period of the emergency.

B. Employees who are called or ordered to the uniformed services for longer than a month, for
each calendar year in which the employee performed service in the uniformed services,
because of an executive order issued by the President of the United States or an act of
congress is entitled, during the period designated in the order or act, to a leave of absence and
to be paid, during each monthly pay period of that leave of absence, the lesser of the
following:

1. The difference between the permanent public employee's gross monthly wage or salary as an
officer or permanent public employee and the sum of the permanent public employee's gross
uniformed pay and allowances received that month;

2. Five hundred dollars.

No permanent public employee shall receive payments under division (B) of this section if the
sum of the permanent public employee's gross u‘giformed pay and allowances received in a pay

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



period exceeds the employee's gross wage or salary as a permanent public employee for that
period or if the permanent public employee is receiving pay under (A) of this section.

C. Employees who are drafted or called for active duty with the Armed Forces of the United
States or one of its reserve components shall in accordance with existing laws be entitled to
re-employment after separation or discharge under honorable conditions from such service.

The employee must be physically and mentally able to do the work required and must report

for work within ninety (90) days of discharge. The Employee shall be re-employed in the same

position or a similar position to the one held at the time of entry into the Armed Forces. The employee

will enjoy seniority and benefits of that seniority that would be due as though he had been actively on the
payroll. However, while on extended leave the employee shall not be entitled to benefits of employment,
such as, sick, vacation, personal leave days or group health and life insurance and other such coverages.

D. An employee shall be granted permission to be absent from work in order to receive a
physical examinations for compulsory military service in the Armed Forces in the United
States. The employee shall be entitled to use paid sick leave for that purpose during such
absence for a period not to exceed three (3) days.

Employees wishing to enlist shall be permitted to take one (1) enlistment physical and shall
receive no more than one (1) day paid sick leave for that physical.

Section 27.3.Funeral Leave. At the time of a death in an employee’s immediate family, an
employee shall be granted time off for a period which is appropriate for the circumstances
presented, and the employee shall be paid for up to three (3) days of missed work days in that
period. Immediate family shall be defined as current spouse; natural, adopted, foster, in-law and
step child, natural, adoptive, foster, in-law, and step parent, sibling, step-sibling, sibling-in-law,
grandparent, grandparent-in-law, grandchild, aunt, aunt-in-law, uncle, uncle-in-law, person in
loco parentis or legal guardian, other family member residing in the employees household and
claimed as a tax exemption by the employee in the most recent tax year, and one (1) significant
other residing in the employee’s household as approved by the City Manager.

If additional time is necessary for an employee to attend the funeral of a member of the
employee’s family as defined above, an employee shall be entitled to use up to three (3) days of
sick leave in conjunction with funeral leave.

Section 27.4.Family and Medical Leave. Family and Medical Leave will be granted to an
employee who has been employed for at least twelve (12) months by the Employer and who has
provided at least twelve hundred and fifty (1250) hours of work during the previous twelve (12)
months. The leave will be granted for a period of up to twelve (12) weeks for the following
reasons:

A. To care for the employee’s own serious health condition;

B. To care for the employee’s spouse, child or parent who has a serious health condition; or
C. Because of the birth, adoption, or foster placement of a child.

D. Care for spouse, son, daughter, parent or next of kin who has suffered serious illness or injury
43

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



while on active military duty; or

E. A qualified exigency for a spouse, son, daughter, or parent of a member of the Armed Forces
called to active duty.

The employee’s paid leave must be used up and is included in the twelve (12) week total, as
follows:

1. Awvailable sick leave (if the absent qualifies for sick leave)

2. Accrued vacation

3. Accrued personal leave

The employee may use compensatory time during the twelve (12) weeks.

The employee must provide the Employer with thirty (30) days advance notice of the leave or
such notice as is practicable if thirty (30) days notice is not possible. The employee shall
provide the Employer with certification of the condition from a health care provider or from the
adoption or placement agency, whichever is applicable.

If the City employs a married couple and one or both request leave for a birth, adoption, foster
care placement of a child, or to care for a new child, the total annual FML leave available to
them as a couple for those purposes is twelve (12) weeks.

It is intended that the application of this Section comply with the FMLA of 1993 (as amended)
and that the parties shall take such actions as to ensure compliance.

An employee who exhausts Family Medical Leave and/or injury leave shall be eligible for
continued sick leave or disability leave.

Section 27.5.Personal L.eave. An employee may be granted up to ninety (90) days of a
personal leave of absence without pay upon approval of the City Manager. A request for a
personal leave of absence shall be in writing; state the reasons for the requested leave, and be
signed by the employee. Approval from the City Manager shall be in writing and shall specify
the extent, if any, which seniority will accumulate during the period of the leave of absence and
the date upon which the leave of absence terminates.

44

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



ARTICLE 28
TUITION REIMBURSEMENT AND EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE

Section 28.1 Reimbursement Program. Each full-time non-probationary employee who is
subject to the provisions of this Agreement shall be eligible for a reimbursement of tuition only
in courses of instruction voluntarily undertaken and subject to the following conditions:

A. Provided financial resources are available, each employee of the unit may be
provided not more than $2,000 per fiscal year for tuition reimbursement. Said funds shall
only be provided under the following conditions:

e An employee must submit a letter of intent for utilization of this benefit no later than
September 1 of the year preceding the year in which the benefit will be used. This letter
must be submitted to the employee's division head, or their designee.

e For the fiscal year in which the benefit is to be utilized, the adopted city's budget must
demonstrate a General Fund that is both legally and structurally balanced.

B. Only courses that directly related to the employee's current employment position are
eligible for reimbursement hereunder. To claim reimbursement the employee must
complete an application on a form provide by the City and receive approval from the City
Manager for the course of study in advance. Each class taken must also be approved in
advance. All courses must be taken during non- work hours. The Employer shall not
reimburse fees for any course for which the employee received a scholarship, grant or
subsidy to the extent of such aid.

C. All courses must be taken at an accredited college or university pursuant to and part of an
established program leading to a degree.

D. Upon completion of an eligible course the employee shall promptly submit to the
Employer a copy of the course grade report and a receipt issued by the college or
university setting forth the cost of tuition.

E. Reimbursement shall be at the following rates:
a. One hundred percent (100%) for an "A" or equivalent;
b. Ninety percent (90%) for a "B" or equivalent; and
c. Eighty percent (80%) for a "C" or equivalent.

F. No reimbursement will be granted for books, papers, supplies, transportation, meals or
any other expense connected with any course except the cost of tuition.

G. Utilization of the Tuition Reimbursement Program shall not preclude any unit member
from receiving that Educational or Military Experience Incentive Pay for which they

qualify.

H. Employees shall repay the Employer any tuition reimbursement received in the prior year
if they voluntarily leave employment.

45

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



I. In the event of a permanent lay-off, disability retirement or death the employee
will not be quired to reimburse the Employer for tuition assistance.

Section 28.2 Educational & Military Experience Incentive. Employees with military
experience prior to their employment with the city, or who possess an Associate's degree,
a Bachelor's degree, and/or a Master's Degree shall be paid the following amounts during
the first pay period of each December:

Military Experience $ 400.00
Associate's Degree  $ 400.00
Bachelor's Degree  $ 700.00
Master's Degree $1000.00

To qualify for the Military Experience Incentive, the unit member must provide
documentation of an Honorable Discharge or a General Discharge Under Honorable
Conditions.

These incentives are not subject to pyramiding and unit members shall only be paid to the
highest rate of incentive for which they are qualified.

Section 28.3 Educational Pay During Absence. No Bargaining Unit Member shall
receive Educational Pay under this Article during periods of time when the member is on
leave status for twelve (12) consecutive months. Such members shall have their
educational payment suspended until they return to work, at which time they will receive
the education pay on a pro-rata basis. If a member does not return to work for any reason,

the member shall not receive any education pay accrued during the member’s absence
from work.

46

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



ARTICLE 29
FITNESS FORDUTY

Section 29.1. Fitness for Duty. The City may, at its discretion, require employees to submit to a
physical or psychiatric/psychological examination in order to determine whether or not an
employee remains capable of performing the essential functions of the position. All such
examinations shall be conducted by licensed practitioners appointed and paid for by the City.

Section 29.2. Medical Evidence. The City may, at its discretion, require employees to provide
specific medical data from the employee's doctor, the City's doctor, and/or a personal affidavit
stating the cause of the absence, for any illness or injury which resulted in lost work time.

ARTICLE 30
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 30.1. Training. All officers are required to meet all mandatory certification
requirements of the State of Ohio. Officers failing to maintain their certification of failing to
pass any mandatory standard that compromises the certification shall not be allowed to work.
The initial cost for any such mandatory requirements shall rest with the City. Non-probationary
officers who fail to qualify and/or meet any mandatory certification standards shall be allowed an

opportunity to retrain at their expense. Said retraining must be completed within a period of six
(6) months.

Section 30.2. Outside Activity. No employee may directly or indirectly maintain or engage in
any outside business, financial interest or employment activity which in the opinion of the Chief

of Police conflicts with the interest of Division or which interferes with the employees’ ability to
discharge their duties fully. Such conflict of interest shall be grounds for discipline, up to and
including discharge.

Section 30.3. Copies of Agreement. The Labor Council will provide each covered employee, at
no cost to the employee, a copy of this Agreement within thirty (30) days from the date this
Agreement is ratified by both parties.

ARTICLE 31
DURATION OF AGREEMENT

Section 31.1. Duration. The provisions of this Agreement shall be effective as of January 1,
2023 and shall continue and remain in full force and effect to and including December 31, 2025,
and thereafter for successive periods of one (1) year, unless either party shall at least sixty (60)
days prior to December 31, 2025, (or sixty (60) days prior to any one (1) year extension) serve
written notice on the other party of a desire to terminate, modify, alter, renegotiate, change, or
amend this Agreement. Such notice shall be sent by a method approved by the State
Employment Relations Board.

47

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



In Witness Whereof the parties have hereunto signed by their authorized representatives this

day of , 2023.

FOR THE CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS: FOR THE FOP/OLC:

Bryan Chodkowski, Richard Paquette,

Interim City Manager FOP/OLC Staff Representative
Mark Lightner, John Kissee,

Chief of Police Bargaining Committee Member
Kathryn Knisley, Cory Siegrist,

HR Director Bargaining Committee Member

Dorian Ringer,
Bargaining Committee Member

Approved to as Form:

David H. Montgomery, Law Director
Pickerel, Schaeffer & Ebeling

Approved and ratified by the Council of the City of Huber Heights, Ohio on this
, 2023.

Resolution No. -R-

48

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025

day of



FOP/OLC Sergeants

APPENDIX A

AUTHORIZATION FOR DUES DEDUCIION
FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE, OHIO LABOR COUNCIL, INC.
222 E. Town St., Columbus, Ohio 43215
1-800-FOP-OLCI

I, the undersigned, hereby authorize my Employer to check off and deduct from
my payroll an amount equal to dues, remitting directly to the F.O.P. Ohio Labor

Council, Inc.
(PLEASE PRINT)

Place of Employment_
Name of Employee:
Home Address

City Zip Code

Phone

Classification —
Department__

Signature Date

Mail white copy to FOP-OLC at above address
Present card to your Auditor

=2

49

January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025



The following items of uniform clothing, accessories and equipment will be furnished by the

Department:

Jacket, light weight

Jacket, winter

APPENDIX B
UNIFORMS

Rain Coat

Shirts, long sleeve

‘Shirts, short sleeve

Neckwear

Trousers

Shoes

Qty_. bescription/ Item

1 Badge, shoothig

&
1

Description/ Item

Holster

Badge, breast

Pouch, ammunition

Badge, jacket

Bar, name

Key strap, clip (optional)

Badge, cap

Bar, tie

Belt, gun

Case, handcuff

Locker, personal

Descripﬁon/ Item

Hand gun

Keys, department

Asp and Holder

Handcuffs

Patches (shirts & jackets)

Keys, handcuffs

FOP/OLC Sergeants
January 1, 2023 — December 31, 2025

50

Ballistic Vest




Al-9452 New Business E.

City Council Meeting City Manager
Meeting Date: 08/28/2023
Collective Bargaining Agreement - FOP, OLC, Inc. - Lieutenants - Police Division
Submitted By: Katie Knisley
Department: Human Resources
Council Committee Review?: Council Date(s) of Committee Review: 08/22/2023
Work
Session
Audio-Visual Needs: None Emergency Legislation?: No

Motion/Ordinance/
Resolution No.:

Agenda Item Description or Legislation Title

A Resolution Approving The Collective Bargaining Agreement With The Fraternal Order Of Police, Ohio
Labor Council, Inc. Representing Lieutenants In The Police Division For The Time Period January 1,
2023 Through December 31, 2025.

(first reading)

Purpose and Background

The City and the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc. have been in negotiations and
have agreed upon a new three-year contract. This legislation will approve the contract as negotiated
and authorize the City Manager to sign the Collective Bargaining Agreement with the FOP, OLC, Inc.
representing the Lieutenants in the Police Division.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funds: N/A
Cost: N/A
Recurring Cost? (Yes/No): N/A

Funds Available in Current Budget? (Yes/No): N/A
Financial Implications:

Attachments
Resolution
Exhibit A




CITY OF HUBER HEIGHTS
STATE OF OHIO

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-R-

APPROVING THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT WITH THE FRATERNAL
ORDER OF POLICE, OHIO LABOR COUNCIL, INC. REPRESENTING LIEUTENANTS IN
THE POLICE DIVISION FOR THE TIME PERIOD JANUARY 1, 2023 THROUGH DECEMBER
31, 2025.

WHEREAS, representatives of the City of Huber Heights and the Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio
Labor Council, Inc, representing Lieutenants in the Police Division, have been involved in active
collective bargaining; and

WHEREAS, those negotiations have resulted in a new Collective Bargaining Agreement with this
bargaining unit, which agreement commences on January 1, 2023, and expires on December 31,
2025.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Huber Heights, Ohio that:

Section 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute on behalf of the City of Huber
Heights the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the City of Huber Heights and the Fraternal
Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc, referred to above and is appended hereto as Exhibit A and
made a part hereof.

Section 2. The wages as set forth in the respective Collective Bargaining Agreement shall be
effective retroactively in accordance with Article 19 of the attached agreement.

Section 3. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning
and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and
that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its Committees that resulted in such formal action
were in meetings open to the public and in compliance with all legal requirements including Section
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 4. This Resolution shall go into effect upon its passage as provided by law and the
Charter of the City of Huber Heights.

Passed by Council on the day of ,2023;
Yeas; Nays.

Effective Date:

AUTHENTICATION:

Clerk of Council Mayor

Date Date



Exhibit A
AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

HUBER HEIGHTS

AND

THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE,
OHIO LABOR COUNCIL, INC.

LIEUTENANTS

January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2025



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 AGREEMENT ...
ARTICLE 2 RECOGNITION ...
ARTICLE 3 LODGE/LABOR COUNCIL SECURITY ......cooiiiiiiiiiiiiinnes
ARTICLE 4 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS ...
ARTICLE 5 NON-DISCRIMINATION .....cooiiiiiiiiiiiie
ARTICLE 6 LODGE/LABOR COUNCIL BUSINESS ..o,
ARTICLE 7 NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT ..ot
ARTICLE 8 LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE ..............ocoiian.
ARTICLE 9 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ...
ARTICLE 10 INVESTIGATIONS, INTERVIEWS AND DISCIPLINE ............
ARTICLE 11 PERSONNEL RECORDS ..o
ARTICLE 12 SENIORITY ..o
ARTICLE 13 PROBATIONARY PERIOD .......coooiiiiiiiiii
ARTICLE 14 SUBSTANCE TESTING ...c.oiiiiiiiii e
ARTICLE 15 LAYOFF AND RECALL ...
ARTICLE 16 RULES AND REGULATIONS .. ..o
ARTICLE 17 PROMOTIONS ...,
ARTICLE 18 HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME ...
ARTICLE 19 COMPENSATION ...t
ARTICLE 20 HOLIDAYS AND PERSONAL LEAVE DAYS ........cooiiini.
ARTICLE 21 VACATION L.
ARTICLE 22 MEDICAL INSURANCE COVERAGE ...,
ARTICLE 23 UNIFORMS ..,
ARTICLE 24 SICK LEAVE ...
ARTICLE 25 WAGE CONTINUATION ....coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee
ARTICLE 26 OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE ...,
ARTICLE 27 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT.........cooiii i
ARTICLE 28 FITNESS FOR DUTY .ot
ARTICLE 29 MISCELLANEOUS ...,
ARTICLE 30 DURATION OF AGREEMENT ...
SIGNATURE PAGE ...
AP PEN DD X A
APPENDIX B ..



ARTICLE 1
AGREEMENT

Section 1.1. Agreement. This Agreement, is by and between the City of Huber Heights,
Ohio, hereinafter referred to as the "City" or "Employer" and the Fraternal Order of Police, Gary
Sherman Lodge 161, The Fraternal Order of Police, Ohio Labor Council, Inc., hereinafter
referred to as the "Lodge" or "Labor Council".

This Agreement shall replace any existing Collective Bargaining Agreement between the parties.

Section 1.2. Purpose. The purpose of this Agreement is:

A. To comply with the requirements of Chapter 4117 of the Ohio Revised Code and to set
forth the full and complete understandings and agreements between the parties.

B. To prevent interruptions of work and delivery of service to the citizens of Huber Heights.
C. To establish a procedure for the resolution of grievances.
Section 1.3. Modification of Agreement. The express provisions of this Agreement may be

changed only by mutual agreement between the parties, reduced to writing, dated, and signed by
the parties to this Agreement.

Section 1.4. Savings Clause. This Agreement supersedes and replaces all pertinent statutes,
ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations over which it has authority to supersede and
replace. Where this Agreement is silent, the provisions of applicable law shall prevail. Should
any portion of this Agreement contained herein be declared invalid by operation of law or by a
court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidation of said part or provision shall not invalidate the
remaining portions hereof and they shall remain in full force and effect. In addition, within thirty
(30) calendar days following the effective date of such declaration of invalidity, the parties shall
meet in good faith negotiations to attempt to modify such provision to comply with applicable
law.

Section 1.5. Waiver in Case of Emergency. In cases of emergency declared by the President
of the United States, the Governor of the state of Ohio, the Montgomery County Sheriff, the City
Manager of Huber Heights, or any other authorized governmental official, for acts of God or
civil disorder, the following conditions of this Agreement may be temporarily suspended by the
Employer

A. Time limits for the processing of grievances; and

B. Selected work rules and/or agreements and practices relating to the assignment of
employees.

Section 1.6. Waiver of Bargaining. The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations
which resulted in this agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands
and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of
collective bargaining, and that the understanding and agreement arrived at by the parties after the
exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the parties agree
that for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and

3



agrees that the other shall not be obliged, to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or
matter referred to or covered in this Agreement. With respect to any subject or matter not
referred to or covered in this Agreement, the provisions of applicable law shall apply.

ARTICLE 2
RECOGNITION

Section 2.1. Recognition. The City recognizes the Labor Council, as identified in Section 1.1
of this agreement, as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative with respect to wages,
hours, and other terms and conditions of employment for all full-time employees that were
certified by the State Employment Relations Board in Case Number 84-RC-07-1635, as amended
on October 9, 1985 in case numbers 85-AC-06-3881 and 85-AC-06-3882 and on May 1, 2014 in
Case No0.2014-REP-04-0050 , in the following unit:

Included: All Full-time Lieutenants employed by the Police Division, City of Huber
Heights, Ohio.

Excluded: Chief of Police, Sergeants, Patrol Officers, Detectives, Corporals,
Dispatchers, Clerks/Secretaries, Chiefs Secretary, and all other
employees.

Section 2.2. Other Positions. Any new, full-time sworn positions within the Division shall
be subject to challenge by the Labor Council to the State Employment Relations Board, for
inclusion or exclusion as bargaining unit members, pursuant to Chapter 4117 of the Ohio
Revised Code and the SERB Rules and Regulations.

ARTICLE 3
LODGE/LABOR COUNCIL SECURITY

Section 3.1. Dues Deductions. The Lodge and Labor Council will notify the City in writing
of the dues it charges and its current membership, and will update this information as needed to
be accurate. The Labor Council shall provide at least thirty (30) days written notice to the
Director of Finance of the amount of Labor Council dues and /or representation fee to be
deducted from the wage of employees in accordance with this section. Any change in the
amount determined will be provided to the Director of Finance at least thirty (30) days prior to
its implementation. Said change is to be made only by proper written notice from the Labor
Council and shall not be made more than twice a calendar year. Exceptions may be made upon
written requests from the Labor Council and the written approval by the City Manager.

The Lodge/Labor Council shall obtain from the employee a completed check-off authorization
form which shall conform to the respective state and federal laws concerning that subject, or any
interpretation made thereof. The City’s Director of Finance may return an incomplete or
incorrectly completed form to the Labor Council and no check-off shall be made until such
deficiency is corrected.

The Director of Finance will withhold the Labor Council membership dues of any Labor Council
member from the available wages earned by such Labor Council member bi-monthly, and
transmit the same to the Labor Council, via ACH or USPS t0,222 East Town Street, Columbus,
Ohio, 43215-4611, within thirty (30) days after the last deduction for the month, upon



presentation of written authorization from the Labor Council member (Appendix "A" is a current
example).

The Director of Finance will withhold the Lodge membership dues of any Lodge member from
the available wages earned by such Lodge member bi-monthly, and transmit the same to the
designated lodge official within thirty (30) days after the last deduction for the month, upon
presentation of written authorization from the lodge member.

The City shall check off only obligations which become due at the time of check-off and will
make check-off deductions only if the employee has enough pay due to cover such obligation,
and will not be responsible to the employee if the employee has duplicated a check-off deduction
by direct payment to the Labor Council.

The City's remittance will be deemed correct if the Lodge/Labor Council does not give notice, in
writing, to the Director of Finance within four (4) weeks after a remittance is sent, with reasons
stated therefore, that the remittance is incorrect.

No other employee organization's dues shall be deducted from the pay of any bargaining unit
member during the life of this Agreement.

Section 3.2. Indemnification. The Lodge and Labor Council shall indemnify and save the
City harmless against any and all claims that shall arise out of or by reason of action taken by the
City in reliance upon the Authorization for Dues Deduction. The Lodge/Labor Council assumes
full responsibility for the disposition of the deductions so made, once they have been sent to the
Lodge/Labor Council.

Section 3.3. Lodge/Labor Council Membership. It shall not be a condition of employment
for any employee to either acquire or maintain membership in the Lodge or the Labor Council.
Any employee who is a member of the Lodge or Labor Council may withdraw authorization for
dues deduction by the City by directing a request thirty (30) days in advance, in writing to the
City Finance Director with a copy to the Lodge or Labor Council.

During the first pay period in January and July of each year, the employer shall provide the
FOP/OLC a roster of all bargaining unit members. Should the Employer receive notice from a
bargaining unit member of the revocation of the dues deduction authorization and withdrawal
from FOP/OLC membership, the Employer shall notify the FOP/OLC, in writing, within seven
(7) days of the notice of revocation. Additionally, the Employer shall notify the FOP/OLC of
any new hires within the bargaining unit. Such notification shall be in writing to the FOP/OLC
within 30 days of their hire date.

Dues deductions shall cease upon the happening of any of the following events:
A. Resignation or discharge of the employee;
B. Transfer of the employee from the bargaining unit; or

C. Revocation of the dues deduction authorization.



Section 3.4. Bulletin Boards.

A. Bulletin boards as presently provided, and as may be installed in the future by the City,
may be used by the Lodge and Labor Council for posting notices of the following types:

Recreational and social events.

Elections and election results.

General membership meetings and other related business meetings.
General Lodge and Labor Council business of interest to members.

AW N —

B. The Lodge and Labor Council agree that no notices will be placed on the bulletin boards
which contain:

Personal attacks upon any City employee.

Scandalous, scurrilous or derogatory attacks upon management;
Attacks on any other employee organizations;

Any obscene or ethnic material;

Any political material containing partisan or non-partisan issues.

Nk W=

C. Notices may be reviewed by the Chief of Police and any bulletins or notices considered
inflammatory, political or devoted to Labor Council organizing and pending grievances
will not be permitted on any City bulletin boards, nor will they be permitted to be
displayed in City offices, facilities, equipment, etc. If such inflammatory, political or
organizing notices appear on said bulletin boards, they shall be removed by management.

Section 3.5. Use of Divisional Mail System. The Lodge and Labor Council will be permitted
to utilize, at no cost or loss of time to the City (including no use of City materials and
equipment), the Divisional Mail System for the purpose of providing information pertaining to
Lodge and Labor Council business to bargaining unit employees. The Lodge and Labor Council
agree that the use of the mail system will be reasonable and limited to providing information that
is necessary for the normal conduct of Lodge and Labor Council business or bargaining unit
representation.

Section 3.6. Place for Meetings. Meetings of the Committees of the Lodge and Labor
Council will be permitted on City property when and where work is not interrupted by such
meetings, and when such meetings are not held during the regularly scheduled duty hours of the
participants on the day in question. The Lodge and Labor Council will work with the City to
identify space in the Police Division for such meetings.

ARTICLE 4
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 4.1. Management Rights. The Lodge and Labor Council recognize that except as
specifically limited or abrogated by the terms and provisions of this Agreement, all rights to
manage, direct or supervise the operations of the Huber Heights Police Division and its
employees are vested solely and exclusively in the Employer.




Nothing contained herein shall be considered to deny or restrict the City of its rights,
responsibilities, and authority under the laws of the State of Ohio or any other national, state
county, district, or local laws or regulations as they pertain to conducting the affairs of the City.
Those rights include, but are not limited to the following:

A.

™

G.
H

L.

To determine matters of inherent managerial policy which include but are not limited
to areas of discretion or policy such as functions and programs of the Employer,
standards of services, its overall budget, utilization of technology, and organizational
structure;

To direct, supervise, evaluate, or hire employees;

. To maintain and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of operations and

programs;

To determine the overall methods, process, means or personnel by which operations
are to be conducted;

To discipline, suspend, demote or discharge for just cause, or layoff, transfer, assign,
schedule, promote or retain employees;

To determine the adequacy of the work force;

To determine the mission of the Division as a unit of City government;

. To effectively manage the work force;

To take action to carry out the mission of the Employer as a governmental unit.

Except as expressly provided otherwise by the terms of this Agreement, the determination
and administration of City policy, the operation of the City and the direction of the
employees are vested ultimately in the City Manager and delegated exclusively to the Chief
of Police.

ARTICLE 5§
NON-DISCRIMINATION

Section 5.1. Equal Application. The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to

employees without discrimination, which would violate applicable laws because of age, sex,
race, color, national origin, religion, or disability. The Labor Council and the City shall share the
responsibility for implementing this section of the Agreement.

Section 5.2. Union Membership Non-Discrimination. There shall be no discrimination by

the City, the Lodge or the Labor Council against any employee on the basis of such employee's
membership or non-membership in, the Lodge or the Labor Council.

Section 5.3. Gender. All references to employees in this Agreement designate both sexes,

and wherever either gender is used, it shall be construed to include male and female employees.



ARTICLE 6
LODGE/LABOR COUNCIL BUSINESS

Section 6.1. Lodge/Labor Council Business. The Lodge/Labor Council agree that except as
specifically provided by the terms and provisions of this Agreement, employees shall not be
permitted to engage in union activity during working hours. The City, the Lodge and the Labor
Council agree to work toward the goal of scheduling meetings at a date and time which minimize
the loss of manpower to the Division.

Section 6.2. Representation. The Labor Council may select one (1) Representative and
one (1) alternate Representative to act in the absence of the Representative, for this bargaining
unit. The Labor Council shall notify the City in writing of the names of the Representatives and
will promptly update such names as necessary to be accurate. Only those Representatives listed
by the Labor Council in writing will be permitted to conduct business on behalf of the Labor
Council.

Section 6.3. Grievance Investigations. A Labor Council Representative may investigate
grievances as defined herein and formal disciplinary action, once it has been issued by the City.
To the extent practicable, such investigation will be conducted so as not to interfere with normal
duty hours of the Labor Council Representative or any other Bargaining Unit Member. With the
prior permission of the Chief of Police or designee, the Labor Council Representative may be
allowed reasonable time without loss of pay for such investigation. Permission will not be
unreasonably denied.

Section 6.4. Labor Council Release Time. The City will make provisions for a total of
twenty-four (24) hours authorized leave annually for Labor Council Officials (or designees) and
twenty-four (24) hours authorized leave annually for Lodge officials (or designees) to attend
conventions or other major business meetings. An employee may use such leave in half-hour
(1/2) increments or more. Partial increments will be “rounded up” to the next complete half
hour. (For example, forty-five (45) minutes will be “rounded” to one (1) hour and twenty
minutes (20) will be “rounded” to one-half (1/2) hour.) The above time off for such officials (or
designees) shall be time off with full pay at no expense to the employee's accrued leave time.

Officials of the Lodge/Labor Council shall, at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of the
function submit notice to the Chief of Police identifying the function, certify the member
attending, and indicate the starting and ending date and applicable scheduled hours for each
employee. The Chief will approve the request within three (3) working days after receipt,
provided Division Operations will not be unreasonably affected on the scheduled days in
question.

Section 6.5. Negotiations. The Labor Council will identify the members of its negotiating
team at the time it provides the City with written notice of a desire to renegotiate terms of this
Agreement. No more than three (3) Officers shall be included on the Labor Council negotiating
team. The City will transfer any member working shifts other than day shifts to day shifts on the
days negotiations take place and allow members of the Labor Council negotiating team time
without loss of pay to participate in negotiation meetings with the City. If an agreement is not
reached through negotiations, including mediation, the City will allow time without loss of pay
for meetings called by the Fact Finder or Conciliator for only the Labor Council’s Chief
Negotiator (or designee) and the other members of the Labor Council’s negotiating team.

8



Section 6.6. Labor Council Staff Representative. The Business Staff Representative may
consult with employees before the start of or at the completion of the day's work. Such
representative shall be permitted in the assembly area at all reasonable times only for the purpose
of adjusting grievances, assisting in the settlement of disputes, and for the purpose of carrying
into effect the provisions and aims of this Agreement. However, the Representative must notify
management when such representative will be present in the assembly area. The staff
representative shall not disrupt the normal operation of the Police Division.

ARTICLE 7
NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT

Section 7.1. No Strike. During the life of this Agreement, the Labor Council shall not cause,
authorize, sanction or condone, nor shall any member of the Labor Council take part in any
strike, sit-down, stay-in, slow-down, work stoppage, curtailment of work, concerted use of paid
leave time, restriction of work, or interference with the operations of the Police Division or City
of any kind for any reason, including a labor dispute between the City and any other labor
organization.

The Labor Council agrees that it (and its officers) will take prompt affirmative action to prevent
or stop unauthorized strikes, sit-downs, slow-downs, work stoppages, curtailment of work,
concerted use of paid leave time, restrictions of work or interference with the operation of the
Police Division or City by notifying the Employees and the public in writing that it disavows
these acts. The Labor Council further agrees that the Chief of Police and the City have the right
to discipline (including discharge) any or all employees who violate this Article, except that the
Grievance Procedure shall be available to such employees only to contend that they had not
participated or engaged in such prohibited conduct.

Section 7.2. No Lockout. During the life of this Agreement, the Employer shall not cause,
permit, or engage in any lockout of the bargaining unit employees.

ARTICLE 8
LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Section 8.1. Committee. In the interest of sound Labor/Management relations, the City and
the Labor Council shall establish a Labor-Management Committee, which shall normally consist
of up to three (3) members from the bargaining unit and up to three (3) members appointed by
the City. Each member shall serve at the pleasure of the appointing party, and may be replaced
from time to time. The Committee shall establish its own rules of procedure and shall meet from
time to time to discuss and investigate issues of mutual concern. Additionally, one (1)
non-employee representative of the Labor Council and/or the City shall be permitted to attend
such meetings with prior notification to the other party.

Section 8.2. Agenda. The party requesting the meeting shall furnish an agenda with the
request for the meeting. The Labor Council will furnish the names of the employees who will be
attending.

Section 8.3. Meetings /Attendance. The time, date and location of meetings shall be
mutually agreed upon by the City and the Labor Council. Employee representatives attending
Labor/Management meetings shall not suffer a loss in pay for hours spent in such meetings, if

9



held during the employee's regular scheduled hours of work. Meetings may be rescheduled to
avoid shift coverage on an overtime basis.

ARTICLE 9
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Section 9.1. Grievance Defined.

A. A grievance is defined as being any dispute or controversy between an employee or the
Labor Council and the City involving:

1. The interpretation, application, or claimed violation of any of the
provisions of this Agreement.

2. The discipline of any Bargaining Unit Member; or

3. The reasonableness of application of any work rule established and
enforced by the City.

B. A group grievance is a grievance as defined in Paragraph A above, which uniformly
affects a group of employees. The group will be comprised of only those bargaining unit
members who sign the grievance when it is first presented in writing.

C. Grievances involving the equivalent of verbal and written reprimands may be grieved up
to the City Manager, but are not subject to the arbitration procedure.

D. Grievances involving lost time, lost pay or demotion shall be submitted directly to Step
Three.

Section 9.2. Jurisdiction. Nothing in this section is intended to deny a Bargaining Unit
Member or the Labor Council any rights available at law to achieve redress of their legal rights.
However, suspensions, reductions in rank, and discharges are subject to this Grievance and
Arbitration Procedure and may not be the subject of a civil service appeal. Once the bargaining
unit member or the Labor Council elects a remedy through some other official body (and that
body takes jurisdiction), they are thereafter denied the remedy of the Grievance Procedure
provided herein. However, to the extent a grievable grievance matter is or can be made the
subject of a related SERB unfair labor practice charge, the parties agree that deferral to
arbitration will in all cases be the preferred remedy in that the resolution of the matter through
arbitration will serve as the sole exclusive remedy.

Section 9.3. Procedure. All employees will make an earnest and honest effort to settle
differences and disputes with their immediate supervisor without filing a grievance. In the event
that an agreement cannot be reached, then the following steps shall be taken with respect to any
grievance. Grievances will be settled at the earliest possible step of the procedure. Any grievance
not initiated or taken to the next step within the time limits specified herein will be considered to
be resolved. Any answer to a grievance that has not been timely filed shall permit the Labor
Council to appeal the grievance to the next higher step in the grievance process. Time limits for
invoking the next higher step in the grievance procedure shall commence on the date the
grievance answer is due. The Bargaining Unit Member must proceed through all steps of the
grievance procedure in a proper order and within the prescribed time limits, except as otherwise

10



provided in this procedure. A grievant may have a Labor Council representative, or may waive
the right to have one present at any step of the procedure.

Step One: An employee having an individual grievance will first attempt to resolve it
informally with the supervisor whose actions gave rise to the incident. Such
attempt at informal resolution shall be made by the employee with or without
Labor Council representation, within seven (7) days following the events or
circumstances giving rise to the grievance having occurred, or within seven (7)
days of when the events or circumstances should have become known to the
employee. At this step, there is no requirement that the grievance be submitted in
writing. If a supervisor grants a grievance at verbal levels, written
acknowledgment of granting such grievance must be furnished. If the employee is
not satisfied with the oral response from the supervisor, which shall be given
within three (3) days of the submission of the grievance at this step. The
grievance may be referred to Step Two of the grievance procedure within five (5)
days after receipt of the decision rendered in Step One.

Step Two: The grievance shall be referred in writing to the Chief of Police, or the Chief's
designee who will hold a grievance hearing and reply in writing within seven (7)
days after the hearing. If the Bargaining Unit Member is not satisfied with the
written answer of the Chief of Police, the grievance may be referred to Step
Three of the grievance procedure within five (5) days after receipt of the decision
rendered in Step Two.

Step Three: If the grievance is not resolved in Step Two, it may then be appealed by the
employee to the City Manager. Within seven (7) days, a mutually agreeable date
shall be scheduled for said hearing. Each party may have a representative and any
necessary witness present for the hearing. The City Manager (or designated
representative) will answer the grievance within seven (7) days after the hearing
has concluded. If the City fails to reply within the above time limit, the grievance
may be referred to the next step by the Labor Council within seven (7) days.

Step Four: If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step Three, the grievance may be appealed
by the Labor Council to arbitration pursuant to the terms of this Step Four.

A. Notice of the appeal to arbitration must be served on the City Manager in
writing within twenty-one (21) calendar days after the written answer was
given at Step Three. Either party, within ten (10) calendar days thereafter,
may request a panel of nine (9) arbitrators from the Federal Mediation
and Conciliation Service (FMCS), or other similar service. The parties
shall alternately strike the names of arbitrators until only one (1) name
remains. Each party has the right to reject one submitted panel and
request another. The parties may, by mutual agreement, select an
arbitrator without requesting a panel from the FMCS or other similar
service. A date for arbitration shall be set in accordance with the wishes
of the parties and the availability of the arbitrator.

B. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, modify or
amend any of the terms of this Agreement or addendum to this
Agreement. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to rule on anything that

11



happened before the effective date of this Agreement, or after the
expiration of this Agreement. The Arbitrator shall promptly hear the
matter and shall issue a decision within sixty (60) calendar days from the
close of the hearing or the submission of post-hearing briefs; whichever is
later, unless the parties grant additional time.

C. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on the City, the
Labor Council, and all persons, subject to appeal as provided by law.

D. The City and the Labor Council shall each bear its own expenses in any
arbitration. The expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the
parties.

Section 9.4. Extensions of Time. Upon the mutual agreement of the parties expressed in
writing, the time limits set forth in this Article may be extended or the steps herein waived. All
time periods cited in this article shall be interpreted to exclude Saturdays, Sundays, and legal
holidays. Except as otherwise expressly provided "days" as listed in this procedure shall be
working days for the moving person at each step.

Section 9.5. Content of Grievances. All written grievances must contain the following
information on a Labor Council Grievance Form to be considered.

A. Aggrieved employee's name and signature.

B. Date grievance was first discussed and name of the supervisor with whom the grievance
was discussed.

C. Date grievance was filed in writing.

D. Date and time grievance occurred.

E. Location where the grievance occurred.

F. A brief description of the incident, giving rise to the grievance.

G. The specific sections of this Agreement which are alleged to have been violated,
misinterpreted or misapplied.

H. Desired remedy to resolve the grievance.

ARTICLE 10
INVESTIGATIONS, INTERVIEWS AND DISCIPLINE

Section 10.1. Purpose. The purpose of this procedure is to outline the process to be followed
in the handling of an investigation dealing with complaints or misconduct by employees of the
Police Division.

Section 10.2. Police Investigations Procedures. The City will use the existing chain of
command structure to clarify complaints or allegations regarding members of the Police
Division. In general, unless a special Grand Jury has been convened, the Police Division will be

12



used to investigate complaints or allegations against employees unless the Chief of Police defers
to other qualified law enforcement agencies. Any criminal investigation will first be prefaced by
a review of the complaint or allegation by the Chief of Police.

Section 10.3. Internal Investigations.

A.

Employees shall be notified in writing at the beginning of a formal internal investigation
unless such notification would jeopardize such investigation.

Employees will be paid for the time during which they are being interviewed. The
interviews will be held at the Police Division, or at a location designated by the Chief of
Police. An employee will be permitted to have a Labor Council representative and/or legal
counsel present during an interview, should the employee feel such interview could lead to
discipline.

The employee shall be informed of the nature of the investigation prior to questioning and
shall be informed to the extent known at that time, whether the investigation is focused on
the member for potential disciplinary charges.

The Chief of Police shall be updated in writing every forty-five (45) days an investigation
is still open. The Chief of Police shall report the status of such investigations to the Labor
Council within three (3) days.

When the City orders an employee to provide information in an investigation, such
information may not be used in any criminal proceedings against the employee. Such
information may be used by the City in taking action and in defending such action with
respect to discharge or discipline of the employee. Before an employee may be charged
for refusal to answer questions or participate in an investigation, the employee shall be
advised that refusal to answer such questions or participate in such investigation may be
the basis of such a charge, in itself.

An employee may be required, at City expense, to undergo alcohol and/or substance abuse
testing in accordance with Article 14 of this Agreement, and/or a fitness for duty
evaluation, which may include both physical and mental fitness.

. The accused employee being interviewed shall not be subject to offensive language or

threatened with transfer, dismissal or disciplinary action. No promise or reward shall be
made as an inducement to answer any questions.

An employee may be given a polygraph examination or a voice stress examination if the
Chief of Police has reason to believe the employee is a witness to an incident or
occurrence being investigated; at the employee’s written request directly to the Chief of
Police; or if the employee is a focus of an investigation specifically related to the
performance of the employee’s official duties. An employee shall not be disciplined
based solely on the results of such examination.

An employee, who has been under investigation, will be informed of the outcome of the

case within seven (7) days following the conclusion of the investigation, culminating with
the concurrence of the Chief of Police.

13



Section 10.4. Discipline.

A. No employee shall be disciplined, reduced in pay or position, suspended, or discharged,

F.

without just cause. The City agrees to begin the disciplinary process within ten (10)
calendar days of receipt of knowledge of any act requiring discipline or within ten (10)
calendar days of the conclusion of an investigation that results in discipline. The time
limits for commencing discipline shall be extended in cases of pre-approved vacation and
leave days. Documented warnings and reprimands that do not involve a reduction in pay
or position, suspension, or discharge are not appealable to binding arbitration.

The principles of progressive disciplinary action normally shall be followed with respect
to minor offenses. It shall be corrective in nature, and applied in a uniform manner.
Normal progressive discipline shall consist of, but not be limited to, a documented verbal
warning, written warning, written reprimand, short-term unpaid suspension [one (1) to
ten (10) days], a long-term unpaid suspension, (more than ten (10) days), reduction in
rank and discharge. A letter of counseling will be considered pre-disciplinary in nature,
and will not be subject to the grievance procedure.

The City may take disciplinary action deemed necessary by the circumstances on a
case-by-case basis.

The City agrees not to suspend without pay, demote or discharge an employee without
first conducting a hearing. The hearing will be held among the City, the employee, and a
Labor Council representative if the employee so desires. A copy of the charges will be
sent to the employee not less than three (3) working days prior to the date of the hearing.

In cases where a suspension of ten (10) days or less has been imposed on a bargaining
unit member, the City may offer the member the option to forfeit accrued compensatory
time or vacation leave. If such an offer is made and accepted, the forfeiture shall be one
(1) hour of accrued compensatory time or vacation leave, for each hour of proposed
suspension. The forfeiture of leave shall constitute disciplinary action of record the same
as though the suspension had been served and shall be placed in the employee's personnel
file. The forfeiture of leave shall constitute the final resolution of the divisional charges,
and once accepted by the bargaining unit member, forfeiture of accrued leave is not
subject to further appeal through the grievance procedure or otherwise.

No public disclosure shall be initiated by the City of any disciplinary action taken or
proposed against a Bargaining Unit Employee unless and until criminal charges have also
been filed. Nothing in this section shall preempt and/or violate State or Federal law.

The Labor Council recognizes that the Employer may take disciplinary action for actions
occurring while the employee is working off-duty details, while wearing the uniform of
the Employer, or while off duty representing themselves as an employee of the Employer.

Section 10.5. Effect of Disciplinary Action.

1) Oral Reprimands. Records of oral reprimands shall cease to have force and effect or be

considered in future discipline matters nine (9) months after their effective date,
providing there are no intervening disciplinary actions taken during that time period.

14



2) Written Reprimand. Records of written reprimands shall cease to have force and effect
or be considered in future disciplinary matters fifteen (15) months after their effective
date, providing there are no intervening disciplinary actions taken during that time period.

3) Suspensions/ Other Discipline. Records of suspension or any other discipline shall
cease to have force and effect or be considered in future discipline matters thirty-six (36)
months after their effective date, providing there are no intervening disciplinary actions
taken during that time period.

ARTICLE 11
PERSONNEL RECORDS

Section 11.1. Access to Personnel Records. Upon written request to the Chief of Police, an
employee shall have access to the employee's records during normal office hours of the records
custodian. Such access to personnel records shall be within a reasonable time of said request.
Such request shall not interfere with the employee's regularly scheduled working hours. Review
of the records shall be made in the presence of the Chief of Police or the designated
representative.

Section 11.2. Copies of Personnel Records. An employee may copy documents in that
employee's personnel records. The City may, at its discretion, charge reasonable copying cost to
the employee for requested copies furnished to the employee.

Section 11.3. Clarification/ Explanation of Material in Personnel Records. An employee
shall be permitted to insert written clarifications or explanatory memorandums of material found
in the employee's personnel file, within five (5) days of the employee's knowledge of such
material in the file.

Section 11.4. Requests for Release of Personnel Records. To the extent allowed by State or
Federal Law and by State or Federal Court Decisions, personnel records shall be considered as
public records. Whenever a request for disclosure of a personnel record is made by a member of
the public, notice of such request and the identity of the requestor, will be given to the affected
employee(s). The employee may request a meeting with the keeper of the records to discuss any
appropriate reason some records should not be released. In the event that the employee believes
that some of the records should not be released, it shall be the responsibility of the employee to
notify the Chief of Police or the City Manager of the concern. No personal family information
shall be released to anyone except as may be required by law or ordered by a court.

ARTICLE 12
SENIORITY

Section 12.1. Definition.

A. City Seniority. City seniority shall mean an employee's length of continuous service
with the City, based on the employee's most recent date of hire with the City. City
seniority shall be the basis for such benefits as accumulation of sick leave, vacation
accrual, and/or other cumulative monetary fringe benefits based on length of service.

15



B.

Bargaining Unit Seniority. Bargaining Unit seniority shall mean an employee's length
of continuous service in the Bargaining Unit classification based on the original date of
appointment in the division or transfer into the division.

Rank Seniority. Rank seniority shall mean the length of continuous service in a rank
commencing form the date of the employee's service in each rank and shall include the
period of time occupying an equal or higher rank.

Seniority shall not be broken by approved leaves of absence or suspensions. Employees who
are employed on the same date shall be placed on a seniority roster in alphabetical order of
surnames.

Section 12.2. Seniority List. The Employer will maintain an up-to-date seniority list. A copy

of the seniority list will be posted on the appropriate bulletin board each year or when updated
whichever is less. The names of all employees shall be listed on the seniority list in order of their
last hiring date, and the date of entry into the division, starting with the senior employee at the
top of the list. The City shall furnish a copy of the seniority list to the Labor Council when it is
published.

Section 12.3. Termination of Seniority. The following situations constitute breaks in

continuous service for which seniority is lost:

A.

B.

C.

D.

Discharge;
Resignation;
Retirement;

Layoff for more than twenty-four (24) months or the length of the employee's seniority,
whichever is less;

Failure to return to work at the expiration of a leave of absence;
Failure to return to work when recalled from layoff.

Absent without leave for three (3) consecutive working days unless later excused by the
Chief of Police.

New full-time employment elsewhere without written permission.

ARTICLE 13
PROBATIONARY PERIOD

Section 13.1. Probationary Period Newly promoted bargaining unit employees are required

to successfully complete a probationary period as follows:

A.

The employee shall be on job probation in the promoted rank for a period of six (6)
months. The purpose of the job probation is to give the City an opportunity to observe the
employee at work in such classification and to form an opinion as to whether the
employee has the ability, knowledge and skills required to satisfactorily perform the job
duties. During the job probation, the employee may be demoted at any time the

16



employee demonstrates the inability to satisfactorily perform the requirements of the job,
or at the employee’s request. If so demoted, the employee shall be returned to the last
previous rank the employee permanently occupied. Such demotion is specifically
excluded from the grievance procedure.

If an employee is not in active pay status during any period of time during the
probationary period, then the time of such leave or inactive status is not counted as part
of the probationary period. For the purpose of extending the probationary period, any
leave of less than six (6) workdays will not be considered.

ARTICLE 14
SUBSTANCE TESTING

Section 14.1. Purpose of Policy. The purpose of this policy is to assure employees are fit for

duty and to protect our employees and the public from the risks posed by the use of drugs and
alcohol.

The presence of drugs and alcohol on the job, and the influence of these substances on
employees during working hours, are inconsistent with the objective to maintain a drug and
alcohol-free workplace. To further our commitment of maintaining a drug and alcohol-free
workplace in order to provide a safe work environment for employees and safe service delivery
to the public, it is our policy to:

A.

Ensure that employees are not impaired in their ability to perform their work in a safe,
productive manner,

Conduct pre-employment, reasonable suspicion, and post-accident drug and alcohol
testing, and

Encourage employees to seek professional assistance any time alcohol or drug use
adversely affect their ability to perform their work assignments.

Section 14.2. Employees Covered. This policy applies to all employees covered by this

agreement.

Section 14.3. Prohibited Conduct.

A.

“Alcohol” means the intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl alcohol, or other low
molecular weight alcohols including methyl and isopropyl (rubbing) alcohol. Employees
must not consume alcohol:

1. On the job, during hours of work, during city meal periods (paid or unpaid),
or during city rest periods, or

2. Up to four (4) hours following an accident or until the employee undergoes
a post-accident test, whichever occurs first.

Alcoholic beverages may be served at City-organized and hosted functions only with the

express written consent of the City Manager (or designee). Employees working at the
function are not to consume alcoholic beverages while on duty. Employees in approved

17



social attendance at functions where alcohol is served may consume alcoholic beverages
so long as this is done in proper moderation and with decorum.

C. “Controlled substance” means those substances identified as such in Schedules I through
V of Section 202 of the Controlled Substance Act (21 U.S.C. 812) and as further defined
by 21 CFR 1300.11 through 1300.15. Employees must not consume any controlled
substance without a prescription from a licensed doctor of medicine or osteopathy. This
includes: marijuana, amphetamines, opiates, phencyclidine (PCP), and cocaine.

D. Employees must not refuse to take a required drug or alcohol test. Refusal to take a test
will be considered a positive test for purposes of this policy.

E. Employees must not be under the influence of or in possession of alcohol or drugs while
on duty (except authorized, duty-related possession) and must not carry/store drugs or
alcohol in any vehicle in which they are a passenger while on duty.

F.  The unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession or use of a controlled
substance is prohibited in the City of Huber Heights workplace. An employee convicted
of violating a criminal drug statute in the workplace must notify the Human Resources
Director no later than five (5) days after such conviction. The Human Resources Director
will notify the U.S. Division of Commerce of the criminal violation within ten (10) days.

Section 14.4. Legal Drugs. The appropriate use of legally prescribed medications and non-
prescription medications is not prohibited. Employees are required to notify their supervisor
prior to the use of any medication which may adversely affect their ability to perform their job.
In such case, the employee may be assigned to perform work that can be safely performed while
using such medication or placed on paid sick or other paid or unpaid leave. If reasonable
suspicion exists that an employee is under the influence of an illegal substance or alcohol, a
reasonable suspicion test will be conducted. This information should be handled in a confidential
manner, the same as any other medical information.

Section 14.5. Drug/Alcohol Testing. Drug/alcohol testing shall be conducted solely for
administrative purposes and the results obtained shall not be used in criminal proceedings. Under
no circumstances may the results of drug/alcohol screening or testing be released to a third party
for use in a criminal prosecution against the affected employee. The City conducts the following
types of drug/alcohol testing to determine if employees are in compliance with this policy and
associated rules of conduct: pre-employment, reasonable suspicion, and post-accident. In
addition, employees are tested prior to returning to duty after a positive drug or alcohol test and
subject to follow-up testing conducted during the course of a rehabilitation program
recommended by a substance abuse professional. A Medical Review Officer (MRO) reviews test
results and determines which tests are positive and which are negative.

The City shall test for the following drugs: marijuana, amphetamines, opiates, phencyclidine
(PCP), cocaine, barbiturates, benzodiazepines, methadone, methaqualone, and propoxyphene.
An initial drug screen is conducted on each specimen. For those specimens that are not negative,
a confirmatory gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) test is performed. The test is
considered positive if the amounts present are above the minimum thresholds established in 49
CFR Part 40.

18



An alcohol concentration of .03 percent or greater is considered a positive alcohol test, and in
violation of this policy.

If a drug or alcohol test produces a positive result, the City may take such actions as authorized
in Section 14.6 herein. Sick leave and/or other paid leave may be used while participating in a
rehabilitation program. Otherwise, the employee will be placed on leave without pay until return
to work following a negative alcohol/ drug test and authorization by the SAP.

A. Pre-Employment Testing. The City of Huber Heights performs drug and alcohol testing
on potential employees after a conditional offer of employment.

B. Reasonable Suspicion Testing. Reasonable suspicion that an employee used or is using
a controlled substance or alcohol in an unlawful or abusive manner may be based upon,
but not limited to:

1. Observable phenomena, such as direct observation of drug or alcohol use or
possession and/or the physical symptoms of being under the influence of a
drug or alcohol;

2. A pattern of abnormal conduct or erratic behavior;

3. Conviction for a drug or alcohol-related offense, or the identification of an
employee as the focus of a criminal investigation into illegal drug or alcohol
possession, use, or trafficking. The employee is responsible for notifying
the City, within five (5) days, of any drug-related conviction;

4.  Information provided by reliable and/or credible sources or independently
corroborated regarding an employee’s substance abuse;

5. Evidence that an employee had tampered with a previous drug test, and

6.  Facts or circumstances developed in the course of an authorized
investigation of an accident or unsafe working practice.

The City representative must make a written record of the observations leading to a drug
or alcohol test within twenty-four (24) hours of the observed behavior or before the test
results are reported, whichever is earlier.

Any employee who demonstrates job performance impairments consistent with
reasonable suspicion characteristics shall be relieved of duty with pay pending an
investigation and testing of condition. In such case the employee shall be transported by
City personnel to the sample collection location and to the employees’ home. Employees
with a negative drug test and/or alcohol test below .03 will be returned to duty if not
otherwise in violation of this policy. Testing under this section may be for drugs or
alcohol or both.

C. Post-Accident Testing. Post-accident testing will be conducted on employees whenever
an accident occurs, regardless of whether there is an injury. An “accident” i